

MALACOCOENOSES OF LARGE LOWLAND DAM RESERVOIRS OF THE VISTULA RIVER BASIN AND SELECTED ASPECTS OF THEIR FUNCTION

EWA JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA

Department of Ecology and Environment Protection, Academy of Podlasie, Prusa 12, 08-110 Siedlce, Poland (e-mail: phkarnk@astercity.net)

ABSTRACT: Spatio-temporal variation in qualitative and quantitative occurrence of malacofauna was analysed in three large lowland dam reservoirs. Differences between the malacofauna of flooded land areas and former river beds persist even in middle-aged reservoirs. Quick turnover of water has a positive effect on mollusc abundance and species richness of the whole reservoir, and on the frequency of occurrence in the former river bed. Considerable dynamics of the malacocoenoses and a possibility to revert to earlier development stages, as a result of considerable disturbance, were observed at an advanced stage of biocoenosis development. Besides water dynamics and composition and distribution of bottom deposits, a significant effect on the malacocoenoses is exerted by dominant species, especially *D. polymorpha*. Abundance and dominance structure of malacocoenoses determine their role in the ecosystem, including accumulation of phosphorus and heavy metals, and their cycling as a result of filtration activity, faeces production, excretion and trophic transfer. Generally, the quantities of elements, especially heavy metals, accumulated in molluscs, are much smaller than the quantities which flow through the malacocoenoses. A large part of the pool of these elements contained in the shells is excluded from circulation for many years. Food chains seem to have relatively little effect on the transfer of heavy metals in the reservoir.

KEY WORDS: aquatic molluscs, dam reservoirs, spatio-temporal changes, heavy metals, phosphorus, trophic transfer, ecology

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	. 3
STUDY AREA	. 7
MATERIAL AND METHODS	. 9
RESULTS	12
1. Malacocoenoses of the studied reservoirs	
– occurrence and spatio-temporal changes	12
1.1. Qualitative and quantitative occurrence of molluscs, spatial diversity	12
1.1.1. Species composition	12
1.1.2. Dominance structure	14
1.1.3. Density and biomass	16
1.2. Long-term changes in malacocoenoses	
based on the Zegrzyński Reservoir	18
1.3. Effect of the main dominants on the malacocoenoses	21
2. Role of molluscs in heavy metals and phosphorus accumulation	
in the reservoir ecosystem	22
2.1. Concentration of phosphorus and heavy metals in molluscs	
and their accumulation in the reservoir malacocoenoses	22
2.2. Role of molluscs in accumulation of phosphorus and heavy metals	
in the Zegrzyński Reservoir	24
3. Selected aspects of the role of molluscs in matter circulation,	
based on the Zegrzyński Reservoir	27
3.1. Effect of filtration activity on the circulation of phosphorus	
and heavy metals	27
3.2. Phosphorus and heavy metals in short food chains	29
	29
1 Malacacaanasas of lowland dam reservoirs accurrence temporal	34
and spatial changes	29
1 1 Similian on of mollyans in the structure of bottom magnetories	92 99
1.1. Significance of molluses in the structure of bottom macrorauna	3Z
1.2. Qualitative occurrence of moliuses	3Z
1.5. Dominance structure of malacocoenoses	3Z
1.4. Defisitly and Diolitiass	33
1.5. Changes in malacocoenoses on the background	99
of macrozoodentinos succession	33
1.0. Effect of <i>D. polymorpha</i> off other monuses	91
and the whole macrozoobenthos	34
2. Selected aspects of monuscience on the functioning	26
9.1 Filtration activity of mollyage	20 26
2.1. Fill autori activity of monuses	20 26
2.1.1. Conditions and consequencies	27
2.1.2. Fill allon activity of monuses in the Legizynski Reservoir	57
2.2. Kole of blodeposition in circulation of phosphorus	20
and neavy metals	39
2.3. Kole of monuses in accumulation of phosphorus and neavy metals	40
111 the reservoir	40
2.5.1. Concentrations of phosphorus and neavy metals in monuses	40
- Intra- and Inter-specific differences	40
2.5.2. Role of monuses in accumulation of phospholus	40
24. Dolo of mollusors in trophic trophic of phoenhome	40
2.4. Kole of monuses in dopine transfer of phosphorus	11
	41
CONCLUDING REMARKS	43
Acknowledgements	43
REFERENCES	44



INTRODUCTION

Small water resources of Poland, widely varying water flow in rivers, and increasing water deficit make it necessary to construct dam reservoirs in order to increase retention and improve water balance. A project of constructing a cascade of dam reservoirs on the Vistula River was prepared in 1956 (the concept arose as early as the 1930s) (TUSZKO 1967, GLAZIK 1976, GŁODEK 1985), and later much modified. The cascade of the lower Vistula was to consist of nine reservoirs, but till now only one - the Włocławek Reservoir - has been built. Dams were to be constructed also on larger tributaries to the Vistula (e.g. MIKULSKI 2001). Large objects built on tributaries to the middle and lower Vistula are the reservoirs Zegrzyński and Siemianówka on the Narew River, Sulejów Reservoir on the Pilica River and Koronowo Reservoir on the Brda River. Constructing dam reservoirs disturbs the continuity of river environment and leads to changes in communities of living organisms; the changes may affect the functioning of the reservoir ecosystem and, indirectly, also water quality.

Tracing the development of bottom malacocoenoses of lowland dam reservoirs and their succession make it possible to distinguish characteristic phases of the process (among others SOKOLOVA 1971, KRZY-ŻANEK et al. 1986, MORDUKHAY-BOLTOVSKOY 1961, KAJAK 1962, BUTORIN 1978b). These are associated with environmental changes caused by the decrease in water flow speed and flooding of adjacent land. The resulting new hydrological regime affects development and transformation of bottom deposits and bottom morphology (e.g. MCLAHLAN & MCLAHLAN 1971, GERASIMOV & PODDUBNYI 1999, ZAKONNOV & PODDUBNYI 2002). Especially great changes occur in the zone of extensive shallows which are subject to strong wave action, wind-induced water currents and water table changes. Because of the more intense transformation of habitat conditions in flooded land areas, compared to river beds which were incorporated into the reservoir, changes in communities of the bottom macrofauna are much greater in the former kind of habitat.

In the intial stage, in most cases including the first year of the reservoir's existence, dynamic transformations of macrobenthic communities take place in the flooded areas. The soil fauna dies out, most often (in conditions of a high proportion of flooded land in the total area of the reservoir) a mass development of chironomid larvae takes place, favoured by increased trophic level and large food resources resulting from decomposition of flooded terrestrial vegetation and soil organic matter; oligochaets are few and molluscs may appear (ARMITAGE 1977, MORDUKHAY-BOLTOV-SKOY 1961, BUTORIN 1978b, VOROPAEV & VENDROV 1979). In the second year of the reservoir's existence the proportion of oligochaetes and molluscs increases, as well as species diversity. The bottom fauna is rather randomly distributed, but gradual dispersal of particular species leads to their increased frequency. The fauna of flooded floodplain water bodies colonises the flooded land. At that time, in the former river beds the abundance of bottom macrofauna increases. Simultaneously, in that zone the species diversity decreases, since rheophilic and oxygen-loving species recede as a result of decreased flow. During a certain period, in most cases of a few years duration, macrozoobenthos is characterised by a dynamic development, high species diversity and high density (ZAĆWILICHOWSKA 1965a, b, PATERSON & FERNANDO 1969, Krzyżanek 1970, Petr 1972, Butorin 1978b, VOSHELL & SIMMONS 1984), then its abundance stabilises at a certain value, mainly dependent on the trophic level (BAXTER 1977, STAŃCZYKOWSKA & JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1983). In conditions of limited influx of nutrients from the outside, an impoverishment of the benthos occurs (e.g. MURDUKHAY-BOL-TOVSKOY 1961, 1971, SOKOLOVA 1971, PODDUBNAYA 1966, HRUŠKA 1973, ARMITAGE 1977, KRZYŻANEK 1986, KRZYŻANEK et al. 1986, KRZYŻANEK & KASZA 1995). At present, however, the phenomenon is usually only temporary because of anthropogenically--enhanced eutrophication. The increased trophic level stimulates development of bottom fauna whose abundance may stabilise at a higher level (e.g. KRZYŻANEK et al. 1986, KRZYŻANEK & KASZA 1995, DUSOGE et al. 1990, 1999, PEROVA & SHCHERBINA 1998). In reservoirs where low abundance of bottom fauna is maintained for a long time, following a brief peak observed in the first years of the reservoir's existence, e.g. in the Rybinsk, Gorki or Iwankovo Reservoirs, an increase in abundance and stabilisation at a higher level were observed after about a dozen years or even later (e.g. SMERNOY & MITROPOLSKIY 1978, BAKANOV & MITROPOLSKIY 1982, BUTORIN 1978a, b, ABAKUMOV et al. 2000, SHCHERBINA 2000). This was associated on the one hand with the gradual increase in the trophy level of the reservoir, on the other with the development of bottom deposits. Formation of bottom deposits, consisting in transformations of the flooded substratum, development of proper bottom deposits distributed in accordance with hydrodynamic conditions of the reservoir and being in dynamic equilibrium, was in such cases a long-lasting process, of even dozens of years (e.g. KURDIN 1976). Generally, in conditions of a greater influence of the river on the reservoir (higher proportion of river bed in the reservoir's total area), the bottom deposits are quicker to develop (e.g. in the Kuybyshev Reservoir of greater flow compared to the Rybinsk Reservoir), which favours earlier stabilisation of zoobenthos and higher levels of abundance (e.g. MITROPOLSKIY &

BISEROV 1982, BORODICH & LYAKHOV 1983). The environmental conditions change through time, to a large extent in accordance with the ageing of the reservoir. The changes are manifested, among others, as an increase in the layer of bottom deposits, and a considerable unification of environment conditions. This in turn contributes to a decrease in species diversity and a shift of dominance structure toward a clear dominance of oligochaetes (COOPER & KNIGHT 1985, PEROVA & SHCHERBINA 1998). The first symptoms of the reservoir's ageing are seen in the shallows (ZIMBALEVSKAYA et al. 1984). In areas of the slowest current, a thick layer of fine-particle deposits of high organic content develops, oxygen conditions deteriorate, and the quantity of nutrients from surface runoff increases (e.g. DENISOVA et al. 1985).

The excessive eutrophication observed in the last decades of the 20th c., as well as pollution load, lead to a reduction of abundance of some components of the bottom fauna, at maintained high values of total benthos abundance and biomass, to a limitation of species diversity and to changes in the dominance structure (e.g. BUTORIN 1978b, BORODICH & LYAKHOV 1983, KRZYŻANEK et al. 1986, KRZYŻANEK 1994, KRZYŻANEK & KASZA 1995, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1998a). Similar changes were observed in lakes (e.g. HARMAN & FORNEY 1970, MORGAN 1970, STAŃCZY-KOWSKA et al. 1983, HARMAN 1997, KANGUR et al. 1998, PIECZYŃSKA et al. 1999, GONG & XIE 2001). In the 1990s, some reservoirs started to show symptoms of a change of the above tendency, which was associated with an improvement in their water quality (e.g. PEROVA 1998, PEROVA & SHCHERBINA 1998, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1998a). A similar phenomenon was observed in lakes and rivers (e.g. DAUBA et al. 1997, KILGOUR et al. 2000). Such tendencies of changes in the communities of the bottom malacofauna can be seriously disturbed by physical (e.g. hydrological or climatic) factors. In such cases abundance and species diversity of the bottom malacofauna increase (e.g. GIZIŃSKI & WOLNOMIEJSKI 1982, DUSOGE et al. 1985, 1990, 1999, DUSOGE 1989, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1986, 1989a, KRZYŻANEK et al. 1986, PODDUBNAYA 1988), indicating a reversal to earlier stages of succession. The described changes in abundance and diversity of the bottom fauna are more dynamic in areas of flooded land, which is associated with larger fluctuations of habitat conditions compared to the zone of the former river beds.

Hydrological regime and kind of substratum are crucial factors in the development of macrozoobenthos. Hydrology of dam reservoirs, especially rheolimnic, is much variable. In reservoirs of short retention time, and especially in those which are channellike, the conditions are similar to those found in rivers. When the proportion of flooded land in the whole area of the reservoir is high, the conditions over large areas are similar to those in lakes. In the littoral zone water dynamics is mostly associated with wave action, wind-induced water currents and changes in water table (among others DUSSART et al. 1972, DUBNYAK 1997, GERASIMOV & PODDUBNYI 1999, ZAKONNOV & PODDUBNYI 2002). The character of the substratum depends both on the type of flooded soil, especially in the first years of the reservoir's existence, and on the properties of the developing bottom deposits, rate of their deposition and changes in time. Hydrological factors determine the development of bottom organisms, affecting formation and stability of the deposits (e.g. MITROPOLSKIY & BISEROV 1982, PODDUBNAYA 1988, GERASIMOV & PODDUBNYI 1999, ZAKONNOV & PODDUBNYI 2002).

It follows from the above that the trophic status of the reservoir is an important factor determining the course of macrobenthos development through its effect on food resources, as well as chemistry of water and of the surface layer of bottom deposits, including oxygen concentration. In eutrophic reservoirs of high content of organic matter in bottom deposits, oxygen concentration may be the factor limiting development and production of bottom malacofauna (e.g. MCLACHLAN & MCLACHLAN 1971, FERRARIS & WHILM 1977, KAJAK & PRUS 2001). In rheolimnic reservoirs negative effects of the high trophic level, including oxygen deficit, are smaller. In conditions of large instability of bottom deposits, associated with intense mixing and resuspension, the development and production of macrozoobenthos may be clearly limited in spite of good food and oxygen conditions (e.g. GERASIMOV & PODDUBNYI 1999). In littoral habitats, little exposed to the wind, higher aquatic vegetation develops rather well, thus favouring diversity and abundance of the bottom fauna through stabilisation of bottom deposits and increased spatial diversity (among others COOPER & KNIGHT 1985, PIP 1987, PODDUBNAYA 1988).

Macrozoobenthos communities may undergo a clear effect of single animal species. The zebra mussel can affect various components of aquatic ecosystems and their functioning to a considerable extent. The effect of the mussel on the structure and abundance of the benthic communities was studied by many authors (among others DERMOTT et al. 1993, GRIFFITHS 1993, STEWART & HAYNES 1994, HOWELL et al. 1996, NALEPA et al. 1996, STEWART et al. 1998, SHCHERBINA 2000, PEROVA & SHCHERBINA 2001); most of the papers pertained to lake ecosystems.

Molluscs are important components of the bottom macrofauna of lowland dam reservoirs, especially because of their high proportion in the total biomass (e.g. DUSOGE et al. 1990, 1999, JURKIEWICZ-KARN-KOWSKA & ŻBIKOWSKI in press). The abundance of malacocoenoses, their dominance structure and size structure of populations of the dominant species have an effect on the significance of malacofauna in the ecosystem. Studies on the role of molluscs in freshwater ecosystems, including dam reservoirs, focused mainly on bivalves, especially their filtration activity (for a review see STAŃCZYKOWSKA & LEWANDOWSKI 1997). The most numerous papers dealt with *D. polymorpha*, an invasive species which can reach high densities of several dozen or even hundreds thousands individuals per m².

Much work has been devoted to the possibility of using freshwater molluscs in biomonitoring of quality of aquatic habitats, especially pollution with toxic substances, including heavy metals (e.g. IMLAY 1982, BALOGH 1988, BUSCH 1991, KRAAK et al. 1991, KRAAK 1992, PEROVA 1996, OERTEL 1998, JAMIL et al. 1999, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1999b, 2000, GRUNDACKER 2000), though such studies are much less numerous compared to papers on marine habitats and only rarely pertain to dam reservoirs (e.g. JURKIEWICZ-KARN-KOWSKA 1999b, 2000, 2003, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA & KRÓLAK 2003). It is believed that molluscs meet requirements of good indicator organisms (e.g. PHIL-LIPS 1977, ROSENBERG & RESH 1993). The important feature determining their suitability as indicators is their ability to accumulate large quantities of metals (and other toxic substances), associated with their limited capability of regulating the level of metals in the organism (e.g. NAIMO 1995, LANGSTON et al. 1998). Many studies deal with mollusc mechanisms of uptake and excretion of heavy metals, their accumulation and distribution in tissues, and responses to increased metal concentrations in the environment (for review see JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1994, 1998b).

Heavy metals and phosphorus, penetrating to inland waters with sewage, surface runoff and atmospheric precipitation, accumulate in various components of aquatic ecosystems. They are intensively accumulated in bottom deposits (among others KAJAK 1995, TANG & XIE 2000, WOJTKOWSKA 2000). However, under certain conditions phosphorus can be rather rapidly released from the deposits (e.g. KAJAK 1991, RAMM 1997, NOGES et al. 1998, PENN et al. 2000, SELIG & SCHLUNGBAUM 2002). Contrary to phosphorus, the quantity of heavy metals released from the bottom deposits is fairly small (WIECHUŁA et al. 1997, VAN DEN BERG et al. 1999). A part of heavy metals is immobilised in the bottom deposits as insoluble compounds. The remaining part, bound in less durable compounds, adsorbed on particles of bottom deposits and triptone (i.e. mineral particles and dead organic matter being a part of seston), or bound in living components of the ecosystem, undergoes constant transformations. A real decrease in the quantity of phosphorus and heavy metals in the ecosystem is possible mainly through their export. The most effective export of elements associated with the deposits and suspension may take place during increased flow (e.g. KENNEDY 1999, TANG & XIE 2000). Dynamic flow changes affect the variability of element retention in reservoirs (e.g. TURNER et al. 1983, JURKIEWICZ-KARN-KOWSKA 2001b). A rather intense export of elements

from reservoirs (poorer retention) occurs through outflow via bottom outlets (e.g. DURAS & HEJZLAR 2001). Heavy metal concentration in the deposits may be high in relation to that found in biota, but only a part of them is available to organisms. The level of metal accumulation in living organisms, e.g. molluscs, reflects the concentration of biologically available metal fraction in the environment.

Phosphorus concentration in freshwater habitats is the main factor determining their trophic status. Molluscs can play a significant part in both accumulation and cycling of phosphorus, especially in habitats where they are numerous (STAŃCZYKOWSKA et al. 1976, STAŃCZYKOWSKA 1983, 1984, 1997, STAŃCZYKOWSKA & PLANTER 1985, KASPRZAK 1986, KRZYŻANEK 1989, NALEPA et al. 1991, STAŃCZYKOWSKA & LEWANDOWSKI 1993, 1997). The papers mentioned deal with lake ecosystems; only KRZYŻANEK (1989) attempted an estimate of the role of unionids in phosphorus circulation in a dam reservoir. Studies on various aspects of the role of molluscs in cycling of heavy metals or other toxic substances in freshwater habitats are very few (e.g. BRUNER et al. 1994, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2001c); there are no data on the significance of malacofauna in accumulation of these elements in ecosystems.

Ecotoxicological effect of metals once introduced in aquatic ecosystems can be very long-lasting, especially when the chemistry of the environment (e.g. pH, oxygen conditions, redox potential) favours maintaining biologically available forms of metals in the water. These forms can be assimilated and accumulated by various organisms and transferred along the food chains. Autotrophic organisms (producers) accumulate metals from water solution; in the case of heterotrophic organisms (consumers) two ways of metal uptake are possible: from water and from food. Significance of the metal sources varies between animals, even for the same metal. The quantity of heavy metals assimilated with food depends on the feeding mode, size and composition of food rations, form in which the metal occurs (e.g. BAUDO 1985, CHAPMAN et al. 1998).

Molluscs are parts of an array of trophic chains, feeding on diverse food and providing food for numerous other organisms. The basic bivalve food is particulate organic matter obtained from filtered suspension. Sphaeriids may supplement their food requirements through feeding on bottom deposits with foot ciliary mechanism, or absorbing dissolved organic matter from the water (MITROPOLSKIY 1966a, b, MONAKOV 1972, EFFORD & TSUMURA 1973, HORNBACH et al. 1983). PARDY (1980) found that Anodonta sp. assimilated certain quantities of organic matter as a result of symbiosis with Zoochlorellae. Snails feed mainly on dead and live plant matter (algae, tissues of higher plants, debris), and can supplement their diet through filtration (prosobranchs) or consuming some animal matter (CIKHON-LUKANINA 1961a, b, FRETTER & GRAHAM 1962, FRETTER & PEAKE 1978, PIECHOCKI 1979, TASHIRO & COLMAN 1982, ALDRIDGE 1983, HÖCKELMANN & PUSCH 2000, and others).

Molluscs are important components in the diet of some fishes (e.g. FRENCH III & MORGAN 1995, FRENCH III & BUR 1996, STAŃCZYKOWSKA 1977, 1987). They may constitute the main food of roach (BUDZYŃSKA et al. 1956, PREJS 1973, 1976, OLSZEWSKI 1978, PREJS et al. 1990, TERLECKI et al. 1990), an important component of bream (BUDZYŃSKA et al. 1956, PLISZKA 1956, MARTYNIAK et al. 1987), carp (STEIN et al. 1975, TUCKER et al. 1996), and white bream food (TERLECKI et al. 1990, TADAJEWSKA 1993) - fish species which dominate in the ichthyofauna of the Zegrzyński Reservoir and many other lowland dam lakes (WAJDOWICZ 1964, KAKAREKO & GIZIŃSKI 2001, SZLAKOWSKI & WIŚNIEWOLSKI 2001). Molluscs are also consumed by benthophagous birds (e.g. STEMPNIEWICZ 1974, MIKULSKI et al. 1975, STAŃCZYKOWSKA 1977, SUTER 1982, KUĆ & STAŃCZYKOWSKA 1990, STAŃCZYKOWSKA et al. 1990, CLEVEN & FRENZEL 1993, HAMILTON et al. 1994, STOCZKOWSKI & STAŃCZYKOWSKA 1995) and crayfish (PIESIK 1974, LOVE & SAVINO 1993), leeches (SMIT et al. 1993, MOLLOY et al. 1997), turtles (SERROUYA et al. 1995) and small mammals (BEDULLI & FRANCHINI 1978, WOŁK 1979). Mollusc faeces, enriching the debris pool of the bottom deposits, may constitute an important food source for various bottom invertebrates, e.g. chironomid larvae (IZVEKOVA & LVOVA-KATCHANOVA 1972), Gammaridae and other detritivores (GRIFFITHS 1993, BRUNER et al. 1994). Elements contained in faeces of molluscs included in food chains return to circulation in ecosystems.

Studies on trophic transfer of heavy metals in freshwater environments are few (e.g. BLANCHARD et al. 1999, CHEN et al. 2000) and only rarely pertain to molluscs (e.g. BLANCHARD et al. 1999, JURKIE-WICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2001c). Fairly much attention has been devoted to the analysis of heavy metal uptake by representatives of various species (and trophic levels) or dependences between metal concentration in fragments (two consecutive links) of food chains.

It follows from the above that studies on the occurrence and succession of the bottom macrofauna of lowland dam reservoirs have focused on formation and initial development of macrozoobenthos, while much less attention has been given to long-term changes, including the stage of stabilised biocoenosis. Later periods of existence of the bottom macrofauna were of less interest because of the common opinion about a short time of succession leading to a unification of the communities, especially in flooded floodplain water bodies and land areas, followed by stabilisation which is characterised by the absence of greater qualitative and quantitative changes. Generalisations on the development of macrozoobenthos of dam reservoirs, found in literature, are mainly based on analyses of basic components of soft benthos. Molluscs are important components of the bottom macrofauna of lowland dam reservoirs, but data on formation of malacocoenoses and their further development, as well as on spatial diversity of these processes, are fragmentary. Many studies do not consider participation of large molluscs in the bottom macrofauna communities, and data on qualitative occurrence, dominance structure and spatial distribution of malacoenoses are scanty and often incomplete (e.g. they pertain only to small molluscs or the most abundant species). Data on abundance of malacoenoses, dominance structure and also size structure of populations of dominant species are important for estimates of the role of malacofauna in the functioning of dam reservoir ecosystems.

Many studies on the role of molluscs in freshwater ecosystems deal with the effects of filtration activity of bivalves, especially D. polymorpha. The main issues are filtration potential expressed as the quantity of filtered suspension, volume of water filtered by a population, while the quantity of produced faeces and pseudofaeces is less often discussed. The studies focus on lakes, while data on dam reservoirs are scanty. Likewise, papers on the role of the zebra mussel or other bivalves in nutrient cycling are few; studies on the role of freshwater molluscs in circulation of heavy metals and various toxic substances are very few. There is no information on the role of malacofauna in accumulation of metals in the ecosystem. Few papers analyse transfer of these elements in freshwater food chains, and studies on such transfer in which molluscs take part are very rare.

The objective of this paper was a description of temporal and spatial changes of malacocoenoses of large lowland dam reservoirs of the mid Vistula River basin, and an analysis of selected aspects of the role of molluscs in the functioning of these ecosystems.

In order to analyse the spatial variation of the malacofauna, I compared the composition, species diversity, dominance structure and abundance of molluscs in three reservoirs (Zegrzyński, Sulejów, Siemianówka), considering differences between flooded land areas (shallow habitats) and former river beds (habitats of greater depth and faster water exchange). An attempt was also made at presenting the development of malacocoenoses with special emphasis on the stage of stabilised biocoenosis, based on long-term changes in the Zegrzyński Reservoir and on literature data. To determine the effect of particular mollusc species on malacocoenoses, the effect of the main dominants on the number of species, and the abundance of the remaining components of these communities were analysed in the Zegrzyński and Sulejów Reservoirs.

Within studies on selected aspects of the role of molluscs in the functioning of dam reservoir ecosys-

tems, an attempt was made at an estimate of the significance of molluscs for accumulation of phosphorus and heavy metals, compared to the quantities of these elements contained in the water and bottom deposits, and their load and retention, based on the Zegrzyński Reservoir. The estimated values of accumulation of the studied elements by molluscs were compared for four reservoirs of different structure and abundance of malacocoenoses (Zegrzyński, Sulejów, Siemianówka, Włocławek). One of the aims of the study was

STUDY AREA

The studies included three large lowland dam reservoirs: Zegrzyński (lower Narew River), Siemianówka (upper Narew River) and Sulejów (Pilica River), located in the mid Vistula River basin (Fig. 1). Additionally, the Włocławek Reservoir located in the lower section of the Vistula River was included in comparative studies on phosphorus and heavy metal concentration in molluscs. The reservoirs are rather shallow (Table 1), but based on decreasing proportion of shallow habitats in the whole area of the reservoir they can be ranked as follows: Siemianówka, Sulejów, Zegrzyński, Włocławek. The water column in the shallow zone is intensely mixed by the wind, while bottom deposits undergo constant resuspension. Decrease in water level causes periodical uncovering of considerable parts of the bottom, especially in the Siemianówka Reservoir.

Though comparable in terms of their surface area (especially the first three), the reservoirs are fed by rivers of different size (Table 1), hence different mean discharge (SSQ). The Włocławek and Zegrzyński Reservoirs are rheolimnic, the remaining two are limnic. The water retention time determines the intensity of the effect of intra-reservoir processes on chemical properties of water. The flow in the rivers feeding the reservoirs differs considerably, which results in a varied significance of hydrology in the formation, development and functioning of the resercalculation of clearance rate of molluscs and biodeposition of phosphorus and heavy metals with faeces (and pseudofaeces), which made it possible to assess the effect of the malacofauna on the cycling of these elements in the dam reservoir ecosystem (Zegrzyński Reservoir). Another objective was an analysis of transfer of phosphorus and heavy metals in short food chains with molluscs as one of the links, based on selected examples from the Zegrzyński Reservoir.

voir biocoenoses. The proportion of river bed in the total area of the reservoirs increases in the following order: Siemianówka, Sulejów, Zegrzyński, Włocławek. In the last case it is over 70% (over 50% excluding floodplains), in the remaining ones the majority of the area is flooded land.

All four reservoirs are characterised by a high trophic level (Table 2), and concentrations of suspension and chlorophyll a exceed the standards during some periods. The bottom deposits are most often sandy, muddy or sandy-muddy; near shores sandy deposits often occur, sometimes with an admixture of coarser mineral fractions or debris. In the Siemianówka Reservoir, a considerable part of the bottom is covered by peat. Bottom deposits of the reservoirs have a high phosphorus content (from ca. 0.20 to 0.57%). Macrophytes are rather poorly developed, among others because of the negative effect of waves and water table fluctuations (the smallest in the Zegrzyński Reservoir). A general environmental characteristics of the Zegrzyński Reservoir was presented by KAJAK (1990, 1991), KAJAK & DUSOGE (1989) and others (OLSZEWSKI & MÓWIŃSKA 1985, WOJTKOWSKA 1997). Data on the Sulejów Reservoir are contained in GALICKA & PENCZAK (1989), GALICKA (1990, 1999), GIERCUSZKIEWICZ-BAJTLIK (1992), GALICKA & DROŻDŻYK (1996), on the Siemianówka Reservoir - in

Table 1. General charactersitics of the studied reservoirs (after GIZIŃSKI et al. 1989, KAJAK 1990, 1991, GALICKA 1990, 1999,GÓRNIAK & JEKATIERYNCZUK-RUDCZYK 1995a); dates of reservoir construction given in parentheses

	Reservoir				
	Włocławek (1969/1970)	Zegrzyński (1962)	Sulejów (1973)	Siemianówka (1990)	
Area [km ²]	75	33	22	23	
Max. volume $[10^6 \text{ m}^3]$	408	100	75	79.5	
Catchment area [km ²]	171,000	103,600	4,860	1,050	
Depth [m]: mean	5.5	3.5	3.3	2.5	
max.	15	9	15,5	9	
Length [km]	57	55 (42+13)	15.5	13.5	
Mean discharge (SSQ) $[m^3 s^{-1}]$	900	312	29.8	~6	
Mean retention time [days]	4–5	4–5	15-40	120	
Water level fluctuations [m]	0.8	~0.5	2-2.5	1–3	



Fig. 1. Study area and location of sampling sites; river beds marked with grey; I–VIII – sampling areas within the Zegrzyński Reservoir; hms – sites in the Włocławek Reservoir where molluscs were sampled for phosphorus and heavy metal analyses; A – location of the Vistula River bed within the Włocławek Reservoir

Tal	ble 2	2. C	Chemical	characteri	stics o	of the	studied	reservoirs	(according	to 1	KAJAK	1990,	GÓRNIAK	&	JEKATIERYNC	ZUK-
	-RU	DCZ	yk 19951	b, GÓRNIAK	1996,	GALIC	CKA & DI	rożdżyk 19	996, Kentze	R et a	al. 199	9, KEN	TZER 2000), E	nvironmenta	l Re-
	por	ts –	REPORT	2000a, b, c	:)											

Reservoir						
łocławek	Zegrzyński	Sulejów	Siemianówka			
8.1	7.9	8.1	7.4			
.3–11.2	7.1-8.8	10.7-11.9	8.7-9.3			
.3–73.1	76.6-81.8	_	44.5-53.2			
47-0.79	0.21-0.29	0.26-0.50	0.16-0.49			
02-0.03	0.014-0.016	0.012-0.035	_			
35-1.40	0.57 - 0.67	0.32-0.85	0.28-0.49			
09-0.14	0.189-0.217	0.150-0.320	0.069-0.100			
26-0.28	0.100-0.270	0.610 - 0.780	0.142-0.218			
).8–16.8	18.3 (13.9-30.4)	25 (2.0-31.8)	29.8 (22.2-41.1)			
2–221.7	27	3–58	53.2-62.6			
	tocławek 8.1 .3–11.2 .3–73.1 47–0.79 02–0.03 35–1.40 09–0.14 26–0.28 0.8–16.8 2–221.7	keservor tocławek Zegrzyński 8.1 7.9 .3–11.2 7.1–8.8 1.3–73.1 76.6–81.8 47–0.79 0.21–0.29 02–0.03 0.014–0.016 35–1.40 0.57–0.67 09–0.14 0.189–0.217 26–0.28 0.100–0.270 0.8–16.8 18.3 (13.9–30.4) 2–221.7 27	Reservoir tocławek Zegrzyński Sulejów 8.1 7.9 8.1 .3–11.2 7.1–8.8 10.7–11.9 .3–73.1 76.6–81.8 – 47–0.79 0.21–0.29 0.26–0.50 02–0.03 0.014–0.016 0.012–0.035 35–1.40 0.57–0.67 0.32–0.85 09–0.14 0.189–0.217 0.150–0.320 26–0.28 0.100–0.270 0.610–0.780 0.8–16.8 18.3 (13.9–30.4) 25 (2.0–31.8) 2–221.7 27 3–58			

GÓRNIAK & JEKATIERYNCZUK-RUDCZYK (1995a, b), GÓRNIAK (1996), GÓRNIAK & GRABOWSKA (1996), GÓRNIAK & PIEKARSKI (1999), GÓRNIAK et al. (1999), JEKATIERYNCZUK-RUDCZYK et al. (2002), on the Włocławek Reservoir – in GIZIŃSKI et al. (1989), ŻYTKOWICZ et al. (1990), KENTZER & GIZIŃSKI (1995), ŻBIKOWSKI 1995, 2000, KENTZER et al. (1999), KENTZER (2000). Information on physico-chemical

Podlaskie and Kujawsko-Pomorski provinces (RE-PORT 2000a, b, c), hydrological data – among others in the monthly bulletin of IMGW [Institute of Meteorology and Water Management] in Warsaw – "Zasoby Wodne Kraju" [State Water Resources].

parameters of water in the reservoirs is also pub-

lished in Environment Reports of Mazovian,

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Malacofauna of the Zegrzyński Reservoir was studied in 1980-1981, 1995 and 1997-2000. Molluscs were usually sampled three times during the season (May, July, September). Most of the 47 sampling sites were situated in eight sampling areas (I-VIII), located in various parts of the reservoir (Fig. 1). In the Siemianówka Reservoir molluscs were sampled from 28 sites in 1996, 1997, 1999 and 2000, once or twice during the season (June, September). In the Sulejów Reservoir molluscs were studied in 28 sites, once during each season (July) in 1999-2001. Two zones were distinguished in the studied reservoirs: former river beds and flooded land. The position of the river beds within the reservoirs was determined based on maps published prior to and after damming. Molluscs were sampled with Ekman-Birge's grab, of 225 cm² catching area and with a rectangular dredge, towed along a definite distance (semi-quantitative samples, especially useful when studying large molluscs). The samples were washed on a sieve of 0.5 mm mesh. Parallelly, qualitative search was made, especially for macrophyte-associated molluscs. Macrophytes were rather poorly developed and occupied small areas, besides - as shown by earlier observations (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1986 and unpublished) molluscs were not very abundant on plants compared to the bottom, and it was assumed that the vegetation had no significant effect on

the density of the malacofauna. Similar conclusions follow, for example, from studies in reservoirs of the upper Volga River (SOKOLOVA 1971). The molluscs were preserved with 4% formaldehyde and 75% ethyl alcohol. Species were identified using keys of PIECHOCKI (1979) and PIECHOCKI & DYDUCH--FALNIOWSKA (1993); molluscs were counted and, following drying to constant mass, weighed with laboratory scales to the nearest 0.01 g.

The data made it possible to analyse the spatial diversity of the malacocoenoses in the studied reservoirs, and in the Zegrzyński Reservoir also long-term changes were analysed, including data from the second half of the 80s (DUSOGE et al. 1990, 1999, GRUŻEWSki 1988, 2000). The frequency of individual species in the reservoir (%F) was expressed as percentage of samples containing the species to the total number of samples. The similarity of species composition (S) (MARCZEWSKI & STEINHAUS 1959) and the percentage similarity (Psc) (WHITTAKER & FAIRBANKS 1958) of the malacocoenoses were calculated from the following formulae:

S=w/(a+b-w), where a, b – number of species in sites A and B, w – number of species in common for A and B.

Psc = Σ min (a, b), where a, b – percentage of a given species in the total abundance in sites A and B.

The species diversity in the studied sites was estimated with Shannon-Weaver index (MARGALEF 1958), with the formula:

 H^{\prime} = $-\Sigma p_{i}\,lnp_{i},$ where p_{i} – relative abundance of ith species.

Molluscs for the analysis of phosphorus and heavy metal concentration (Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, Pb, Cd) were collected in May, July and September 1997, 1998 and 1999 in eight sampling plots located in various parts of the Zegrzyński Reservoir (I-VIII, Fig. 1). In the sites samples of water from above the bottom were also taken (3 times during the vegetation season 1998 - May, July and September and 10 times in the hydrological year 1998/1999), as well as samples of bottom deposits, periphyton, higher aquatic plants (Nuphar lutea (L.) Sibth. & Sm., Lemna spp., Potamogeton spp., Elodea canadensis Rich.) and detritus. Samples of newly deposited fine organic seston (floc) were also taken with the method of SMITH et al. (1996). The suspension above the bottom is similar in its composition to the most recent layer of the bottom deposits. This is associated on the one hand with increased triptone proportion and decrease of live plankton with settling of the suspension in the water column, on the other – with disturbing the deposits as a result of water mixing by wind (high proportion of shallow habitats in the reservoir), and flow-associated resuspension. In this study floc was assumed as bivalve food, instead of seston, since it seems to better correspond to chemical composition of the matter available to bivalves. The values of concentrations of the analysed elements in the seston samples were probably overestimated resulting from the small mass of the samples. The values of concentration of the elements in floc were comparable to data on suspension from relatively little polluted waters (e.g. BALOGH 1988, BREKHOVSKIKH et al. 1999).

Additionally, mollusc samples for the analysis of phosphorus and heavy metal content were taken from the reservoirs Siemianówka (June 1997 and 1999), Sulejów (July 2000 and 2001) and Włocławek (June 2001). Moreover chironomid larvae were sampled, and fish obtained in 1998–1999 (the fish were obtained from fishing cooperative exploiting the reservoir in July 1998 and October 1999).

Molluscs which were abundant and widely distributed in the reservoirs were selected for analyses of heavy metal (Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, Pb, Cd) and phosphorus content. In the Zegrzyński Reservoir they were three snail species (*Viviparus viviparus* (L.), *Lymnaea stagnalis* (L.) and *L. peregra* (O. F. Müll.) and five bivalves (*Dreissena polymorpha* (Pall.), *Anodonta anatina* (L.) *A. cygnea* (L.), *Unio pictorum* (L.), *Sphaerium rivicola* (Lamarck), in the Sulejów Reservoir – *D. polymorpha, A. cygnea* and *U. pictorum*, in the Siemianówka Reservoir – *L. stagnalis, L. peregra, A. anatina* and *A. cygnea*, in the Włocławek Reservoir – *V. viviparus, D. polymorpha, A. anatina, U. tumidus* (Philipsson) and Sphaerium corneum (L.). In order to avoid age (and weight)-related differences in concentration of the analysed elements, animals of standardised size were selected (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA & KRÓLAK 2000).

Samples of molluscs, bottom deposits, seston, floc, detritus, periphyton, macrophytes, chironomid larvae, fish, mollusc faeces and water were prepared and then mineralised in concentrated nitric acid and 30% perhydrol (Merck suprapur), according to the protocol described in earlier papers (JURKIEWICZ-KARN-KOWSKA & KRÓLAK 2000, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2001c). Heavy metal concentrations were determined with ASA technique: Cu, Zn, Mn and Fe with flame method, Pb and Cd in graphit tray (Carl Zeiss Jena, AAS 30). Certified reference material was used (prawn, GBW 08572). Comparative analyses with ICP-AES method were also made. Phosphorus content was determined with molybdate blue method, using Novaspec 2 (Pharmacia LKB) spectrophotometer.

In the Zegrzyński Reservoir concentration of phosphorus and heavy metals was estimated in the water column and bottom deposits (as total content and converted to 1 m² in the whole reservoir), as well as load of these elements introduced into the reservoir and their retention in the reservoir (based on the difference between the quantity of metals brought by the rivers and flowing out through the dam, multiplying values of mean flow in the Narew and Bug rivers and on the dam in Debe by mean concentration of the elements in the water obtained in this study). Likewise, an estimate was made of the quantity of heavy metals and phosphorus accumulated in molluscs living on 1 m² bottom and in the whole reservoir, based on data on their mean biomass, proportion of soft tissues and shell in the mass of dominant species and mean values of concentration of the analysed elements in the tissues and shells. The role of molluscs in retention of these elements in the reservoir was estimated.

Filtration activity of bivalves and filtration potential of V. viviparus were assessed based on literature data on clearance rate (Table 3), and on the density of species which were abundant in the Zegrzyński Reservoir, as estimated in this study. Adopting literature values of clearance rates of bivalves inhabiting the Zegrzyński Reservoir, the effect of several factors on filtration was considered (for more details see Discussion), as well as methods applied by various authors to estimate such values. For *D. polymorpha*, on which many literature data exist, results of studies in natural or close-to-natural conditions were adopted. Values reported by various authors varied widely (Table 3). It was assumed that water re-filtration in the conditions of the Zegrzyński Reservoir is rather small because of water mixing and exchange, while food supply is good which is indirectly supported by the good condition of *D. polymorpha* (DUSOGE et al. 1990). For this reason clearance rate values close to the so called effective values (ECR according to YU & CUL-

VER 1999) were adopted. Based on data on the concentration of phosphorus and heavy metals (Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, Pb, Cd) in floc (to avoid overestimation) and the suspension concentration in the water, the quantity of these elements cleared by molluscs was estimated. Rough values of snail consumption were calculated based on MONAKOV's (1972), KOŁODZIEJCZYK's (1983) and BRENDELBERGER's (1997) data. Quantities of phosphorus and heavy metals ingested with food were estimated from the mean concentration of particular elements in plant matter (periphyton, macrophytes, detritus).

The faeces (and pseudofaeces) production was assessed from the data on quantitative occurrence of molluscs in the reservoir and the mean quantity of faeces produced by a single specimen of each of the studied species. Data on the quantity of biodeposits were obtained based on the mass of faeces collected after bringing the molluscs in the laboratory and placing them in crystallizers with filtered water from the sites where the animals were collected. In one crystallizer of 500 cm³ most often 5–20 specimens were placed, depending on the species (size). After 12 hours the faeces-containing water was filtered through filters of pore diameter $0.45 \ \mu m$ and the samples were dried. The values were compared with the literature data on the studied species (Table 4). It was found that the estimated faeces production for the studied snail species was similar to that obtained experimentally, while for the bivalves (D. polymorpha, unionids) the estimated values were higher than in Mikołajskie Lake (LEWANDOWSKI & STAŃCZYKOWSKA 1975, STAŃCZYKOWSKA et al. 1976), which might result from higher biodeposits production in conditions of higher suspension content in the Zegrzyński Reservoir compared to the lake. Because of the method of faeces collecting, the proportion of pseudofaeces could be rather slight (most pseudofaeces rejected during filtration in the environment, while the time of passage through the alimentary tract is longer and thus mainly faeces were collected). Data of other authors (Table 4) indicate a possibility of producing higher quantities of faeces by bivalves (for more details see Discussion). It was assumed that in conditions of the Zegrzyński Reservoir (moderate flow, consider-

Source Taxa Filtration rate V. viviparus 141.7SCHAFER (1953) up to 141.7 HÖCKELMANN & PUSCH (2000) D. polymorpha 43 MIKHEYEV (1966b) 135ALIMOV (1969) 43.0-56.3 LVOVA-KATCHANOVA (1971) 13.0-70.7 HINZ & SCHEIL (1972) 35 (10-100) STAŃCZYKOWSKA (1968), STAŃCZYKOWSKA et al. (1976) 286.8 KRYGER & RIISGARD (1988) 123 (78-170) REEDERS et al. (1989) 260 WIŚNIEWSKI (1990) REEDERS & BIJ de VAATE (1990) 18 - 7533.3-79.2 REEDERS et al. (1993) 61 FISHER et al. (1993) 8.3-370 SPRUNG (1995) 74LEI et al. (1996) 114(97-133)RODITI et al. (1996) 41.7-62.5 JAMES et al. (1997) 40 - 80MADON et al. (1998) 15.3-68.6* *YU & CULVER (1999) 60 - 200ACKERMAN (1999) 18 - 402BALDWIN et al. (2002) Unionidae 300 (60-490) LEWANDOWSKI & STAŃCZYKOWSKA (1975) 389.5 LEWANDOWSKI & STAŃCZYKOWSKA (1975) recalculated after ALIMOV (1965) S. corneum HINZ & SCHEIL (1972) 0.16 - 5.71ALIMOV & BULON (1972) S. suecicum 5.462.2(0.6-8.3)STAŃCZYKOWSKA et al. (1976) basing on ALIMOV (1965) Sphaeriidae

Table 3. Filtration rates of the studied mollusc species or closely related taxa (cm³ indiv.⁻¹ h⁻¹)

*ECR (effective clearance rate)

Taxa	Faeces (and pseudofaeces)	Source				
V. viviparus	21.0	Kołodziejczyk (1983)				
	19.2	*Monakov (1972)				
	1-26.9	*SIEFERT (1996) after HÖCKELMANN & PUSCH (2000)				
	12.0	JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA (1986)				
	20.2±1.7	this work				
Lymnaea sp.	11.4-43.0	*Pieczyńska (1976)				
	11 (4.6–16.4)	Kołodziejczyk (1983)				
	14.0	ВІЈОК (1984)				
	4.3-15.5	*Brendelberger (1997)				
	5.2	JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA (1986)				
	10.4 ± 2.8	this work				
	10.0-12.0	* R ybak (2002)				
D. polymorpha	1.6	STAŃCZYKOWSKA et al. (1976)				
	5-60	*REEDERS et al. (1993)				
	15.2 (14.2–22)	*KLERKS et al. (1996)				
	55.0 (43-65)	*RODITI et al. (1997)				
	1.1-16.0	*DOBSON & MACKIE (1998)				
	$3.7{\pm}0.3$	this work				
Unionidae	4.2	LEWANDOWSKI & STAŃCZYKOWSKA (1975)				
	2.3-107.0	*SIEFERT (1996) after HÖCKELMANN & PUSCH (2000)				
	31.4±3.2	this work				

Table 4. Quantities of faeces produced by the studied mollusc species or closely related taxa (mg dry wt indiv.⁻¹ d⁻¹)

* values were recalculated based on data on consumption reported in the papers

able but not excessive concentration of suspension with a high proportion of organic matter) the data obtained by the author could be used for calculations. Based on the results of analyses of phosphorus and heavy metal concentration in the faeces, quantities of these elements contained in the faeces of molluscs inhabiting 1 m² bottom were estimated.

Based on data on the concentration of the studied elements in the molluscs, their potential food, faeces, mollusc-eating fish and predatory fish, chironomid larvae feeding on mollusc faeces, transfer of these elements in selected short trophic chains of which molluscs form a part, was analysed.

RESULTS

1. MALACOCOENOSES OF THE STUDIED RESERVOIRS – OCCURRENCE AND SPATIO-TEMPORAL CHANGES

1.1. Qualitative and quantitative occurrence of molluscs, spatial diversity

1.1.1. Species composition

The malacofauna of the studied reservoirs showed a considerable species richness. In 1996–2001, 18 species of molluscs were found in the Siemianówka ResAll the results were statistically analysed with Statistica (version 5, '97 edition). The data were logarithmically transformed when the distribution was not normal. Variance analysis and comparisons with T-tests were made, and dependence between the occurrence of molluscs and selected factors was analysed (Pearson correlation). In the case of small data series (concentrations of the elements in faces of particular mollusc species), significance of differences was tested with non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-test. The level of p<0.05 was adopted as statistically significant.

ervoir (13 snail and 5 bivalve species), 25 species in the Sulejów Reservoir (11 and 14, respectively), and 32 species in the Zegrzyński Reservoir (18 and 14) (Table 5). Besides, other species of molluscs were recorded in the particular reservoirs based on empty shells, such species being especially numerous (7) in the Siemianówka Reservoir. In all three reservoirs more species were found in the zone of flooded land compared to the former river beds (Fig. 2), but the comparison of the mean numbers of molluscs in the two habitats showed no significant differences

(ANOVA). The greatest species richness in the reservoirs Siemianówka and Sulejów in the study period was observed in the upper parts of the reservoirs (Fig. 3) which may be associated both with the heterogeneity of the habitats and with their ecotone character, representing intermediate conditions between a river and a reservoir. In the Zegrzyński Reservoir the highest species richness was observed in the mid part with its heterogeneous habitats, resulting on the one hand from a strong effect of the two main rivers which differ in many physico-chemical characters, and a more local effect of small tributaries (river Rządza, Żerański canal), on the other the presence of relatively large areas of stagnant character, extensive shallows of different development of macrophytes and different exposure to wind action. The mean numbers of species found in particular parts of the reservoirs did not differ significantly, except for the Sulejów Reservoir where that number in the mid part was significantly lower than in the lower part (NIR test, p=0.0024).



Fig. 2. Numbers of mollusc species in the investigated reservoirs and proportion of species with frequencies higher than 10% (grey parts of the bars); a – flooded land, b – former river beds; SQ – mean discharge in the late 1990s



Fig. 3. Numbers of mollusc species in the upper (u), mid (m) and lower (l) parts of the investigated reservoirs

Tabl	e 5. The occurrence of molluscs in the investigated res-
e	ervoirs (numbers in parentheses include species repre-
s	ented by empty shells); plus - present, minus - absent,
C	o – empty shells

	Reservoir			
Species	Zegrzyń- ski	Sule- jów	Siemia- nówka	
1. Theodoxus fluviatilis (L.)	+	_	_	
2. Viviparus viviparus (L.)	+	_	_	
3. V. contectus (Millet)	_	_	0	
4. Valvata cristata O. F. Müller	_	+	_	
5. Valvata pulchella Studer	_	_	0	
6. V. piscinalis (O. F. Müller)	+	+	0	
7. <i>V. naticina</i> Menke	0	_	_	
8. Potamopyrgus antipodarum (Gray)	_	+	_	
9. Lithoglyphus naticoides (C. Pfeifer)	0	_	_	
10. Bithynia tentaculata (L.)	+	+	+	
11. Physa fontinalis (L.)	+	_	0	
12. Lymnaea stagnalis (L.)	+	_	+	
13. L. (Radix) peregra (O. F. Müller)	+	+	+	
14. L. (Radix) auricularia (L.)	+	+	+	
15. L. (Galba) corvus (Gmelin)	+	_	0	
16. L. (Galba) turricula (Held)	+	_	0	
17. Planorbis planorbis (L.)	+	+	+	
18. <i>P. carinatus</i> O. F. Müller	_	0	+	
19. Anisus leucostomus (Millet)	+	0	+	
20. A. septemevratus (Rossmässler)	_	_	+	
21. A. vortex (L.)	+	+	_	
22. A. contortus (L.)	+	+	+	
23. <i>Gyraulus albus</i> (O. F. Müller)	+	+	+	
24. Armiger crista (L.)	_	+	+	
25. Hippeutis complanatus (L.)	_	_	+	
26. Segmenting nitida (O. F. Müller)	_	_	+	
27. Planorbarius corneus (L.)	+	_	0	
28. Ancylus fluviatilis O. F. Müller	+	_	_	
29. Acroloxus lacustris (L.)	+	0	_	
30. Unio tumidus Philipsson	+	+	_	
31. U. pictorum (L_{μ})	+	+	_	
32. Anodonta cygnea (L.)	+	+	+	
33. A. anatina (L.)	+	+	+	
34. Dreissena polymorpha (Pall.)	+	+	_	
35. Sphaerium corneum (L.)	+	+	+	
36 S. <i>rivicola</i> (Lamarck)	+	0	_	
37 S solidum (Normand)	+	_	_	
38. Musculium lacustre (O. F. Müll.)	+	+	_	
39 Pisidium amnicum (O F Müller)	+	_	_	
40 <i>P</i> casertanum (Poli)	+	+	+	
41 P crassum Stelfox	-	+	_	
49 P henslowanum (Sheppard)	+	+	_	
43 P moitessierianum Paladilhe	-	+	_	
44 P nitidum Ienvns	+	+	_	
45 P subtruncatum Malm	+	+	+	
46 P subinum Schmidt	-	- -	-	
Number of species	39 (34)	<u>-</u> 95 (90)	18 (95)	
in species	54 (51)	<u> – 5 (45)</u>	10 (40)	

The malacocoenoses of all three reservoirs showed a comparable species diversity (H=1.7 in the Zegrzyński Reservoir, 1.6 in the Sulejów and 2.3 in the Siemianówka Reservoirs), characteristic of moderate trophic level (TUDORANCEA et al. 1979, GONG & XIE 2001). A comparison of species diversity between the flooded land area and the zone of the former river bed revealed a higher value of Shannon-Weaver coefficient in the former zone in the reservoirs Zegrzyński and Siemianówka (1.6 and 1.2, 2.2 and 1.2, respectively), while in the Sulejów Reservoir the situation was reversed (1.4 and 2.2).

Only few among the recorded species showed a high frequency of occurrence (%F). In the Zegrzyński Reservoir frequency of at least 50% was reached by Viviparus viviparus, Dreissena polymorpha and Sphaerium rivicola, and in the Sulejów Reservoir by Valvata piscinalis, Dreissena polymorpha and Pisidium henslowanum (Fig. 4). In the Siemianówka Reservoir the occurrence of molluscs was to a large extent random, the highest frequency was that of Gyraulus albus and Lymnaea peregra (13.2% each). The proportion of species of frequency higher than 10% in the malacocoenoses of the flooded land zone and former river beds varied between the reservoirs. In the Zegrzyński Reservoir it was clearly higher in the river beds, in the Sulejów Reservoir the situation was similar in both zones, in the Siemianówka Reservoir species of frequencies of over 10% were noted only in the flooded land zone (Figs 2 and 4). The data indicate that in conditions of a greater influence of a river, associated with the flow value, the proportion of species of higher frequency of occurence in the former river bed increased. A reverse tendency was also observed (decrease in the number of species of higher frequency with increasing river size), involving the malacocoenoses of the flooded land. A comparison of the Sulejów and Zegrzyński Reservoirs indicates a larger effect of intra-reservoir processes on the molluscs of this zone in the former reservoir. The malacofauna of the Siemianówka Reservoir, characterised by a highly random character of occurrence, is not comparable with the malacocoenoses of the remaining two reservoirs.

1.1.2. Dominance structure

The dominance structure of the malacofauna of the Zegrzyński and Sulejów Reservoirs showed a high similarity (Fig. 5), resulting especially from the dominance of *D. polymorpha*. In the Zegrzyński Reservoir the co-dominant species was *Viviparus viviparus*. The porportion of other bivalve and prosobranch species was higher in the Sulejów than in the Zegrzyński Reservoir. In both reservoirs the proportion of prosobranchs, unionids and *Pisidium* spp. in the former river beds was fairly high, while in the zone of flooded land the proportion of *D. polymorpha* was the highest. Pulmonate snails constituted an insignificant component of the malacocoenoses, they occurred mainly in the zone of flooded land, and in the upper part of the



Fig. 4. Frequencies of mollusc species (%F) in the investigated reservoirs in 1997–2001; a – flooded land, b – former river beds. Species numbering as in Table 5

Sulejów Reservoir also in the former river bed. A considerable similarity in the structure of the malacocoenoses of these reservoirs is reflected in the percentage similarity values; the species composition similarity was not much lower. The dominance structure of the malacofauna of the Siemianówka Reservoir departed considerably from that observed in the other two reservoirs. Pulmonate snails dominated there, especially small planorbids (including species characteristic of small water bodies), and constituted 100% molluscs within the river bed. In the flooded land areas a significant proportion was constituted, besides planorbids, by lymnaeid snails which were the most numerous in the littoral. The distinct character of the malacofauna of this reservoir compared to the



other two was expressed, among others, as low coefficients of species similarity, especially percentage similarity (Fig. 6). Rather small or moderate (when comparing the Zegrzyński and Sulejów Reservoirs) species similarity (S) and percentage similarity (Psc) values of the malacofauna indicate an effect of individual characters of the studied reservoirs on the development of their malacocoenoses. The species composition similarity and percentage similarity of the malacocoenoses of the flooded land and former river beds within



Psc

B S I II II III I 0.43 0.00 II 0.24 0.00 III 0.00 0.00

Psc

- Fig. 5. Proportion (%) of abundant molluscs in the total density of the malacofauna in the investigated reservoirs; a flooded land, b former river beds, c whole reservoir
- Fig. 6. Species (S) and percentage (Psc) similarity of malacocoenoses in the flooded land areas (A) and former river beds (B) of the investigated reservoirs; I – Zegrzyński, II – Sulejów, III – Siemianówka

Table 6. Species (S) and percentage (Psc) similarity between malacofauna of flooded land and former river bed in three reservoirs

	Reservoir				
	Zegrzyński	Sulejów	Siemianówka		
Species similarity	0.67	0.64	0.22		
Percentage similarity	0.75	0.50	0.25		

each reservoir were generally higher than the similarity between the malacofaunas of corresponding zones of different reservois (Fig. 6, Table 6).

The main dominants in terms of abundance had also a high biomass proportion. In the dominance structure of the biomass, contrary to the abundance, there was a clear participation of large unionid bivalves, espec-



Fig. 7. Dominance relations in mollusc biomass in the investigated reservoirs; a – flooded land, b – former river beds, c – whole reservoir

ially in the Sulejów and Siemianowka Reservoirs (higher in the flooded land zone) (Fig. 7).

1.1.3. Density and biomass

The malacofaunas of the studied reservoirs differed in abundance. In the Zegrzyński Reservoir the mean density of molluscs was ca. 900 indiv. m⁻², in the Sulejów Reservoir ca. 320 indiv. m⁻², in the Siemianówka Reservoir ca. 95 indiv. m⁻² (Fig. 8A). Differences in the mean densities were more obvious in the case of malacocoenoses of the former river beds compared to flooded land (Table 7). Comparison of mean abundance of molluscs in the zones of flooded land and river beds in the studied reservoirs showed that, despite the higher values in the former zone in all three reservoirs, the difference was statistically significant only for the Sulejów Reservoir (NIR test, p=0.0320). The absence of significant differences in the remaining two reservoirs resulted mainly from a high variability of mollusc density in the studied habitats.

Large differences were found in the mean mollusc biomass between the reservoirs, the values being 291.4 g dry weight m⁻², 113.5 g dry weight m⁻² and only 0.32 g dry weight m⁻² for Zegrzyński, Sulejów and Siemianówka Reservoirs, respectively (Fig. 8B). Like with the density, larger biomass differences between the malacocoenoses were found when comparing the river beds, in relation to the flooded land (Table 7). No significant differences in the mean mollusc biomass in the zone of flooded land and former river beds were found in the studied reservoirs (ANOVA, p>0.05). In the compared reservoirs, there is a de-

Table 7. Differences in quantitative occurrence of molluscs in the studied reservoirs (Scheffe-test); A – abundance, B – biomass

		Reservoirs					
		Sulejów	Siemianówka				
		Whole reservoir					
Zegrzyński: A		p=0.022104	p=0.000004				
	В	p=0.029904	p=0.000000				
Sulejów:	А		p=0.000000				
	В		p=0.000000				
Flooded land							
Zegrzyński: A		ns	p=0.000000				
	В	ns	p=0.000000				
Sulejów:	А		p=0.000000				
	В		p=0.000000				
		Former river beds					
Zegrzyński	: A	p=0.009973	p=0.000000				
	В	p=0.013569	p=0.000000				
Sulejów:	А		p=0.000000				
	В		p=0.000000				



creasing tendency of mean density and biomass of molluscs with decreasing effect of the river on the reservoir ecosystem, and thus in the following order: Zegrzyński \rightarrow Sulejów \rightarrow Siemianówka Reservoirs (Fig. 8A, B). The described tendency seems to be confirmed by the mean density of molluscs in the Włocławek Reservoir (in the 1990s 2,537 indiv. m⁻², Fig. 8A) where the Vistula discharge is much greater (see Table 1) than that of the rivers feeding the other reservoirs. The mean biomass of moluscs in the Włocławek Reservoir was of the same order of magnitude, though lower than in the Zegrzyński Reservoir: 127 and 291 g dry weight m⁻² (Fig. 8B), respectively (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA & ŻBIKOWSKI in press), which was associated with the dominance of small bivalves of the family Sphaeriidae (mainly *Sphaerium corneum*). In the reservoirs Zegrzyński, Sulejów and Siemianówka a distinct correlation was found between the mollusc abundance and the biomass. For the whole reservoirs the correlation coefficient values were 0.71, 0.51 and 0.61, respectively; in the flooded land areas the values ranged from 0.48 for the Sulejów Reservoir to 0.60 for the Siemianówka Reservoir and 0.86 for the Włocławek Reservoir. For the former river beds the correlation coefficients were 0.65 in the Zegrzyński Reservoir and 1.00 in the Siemianówka Reservoir. Only in the Sulejów Reservoir, where the abundance was dependent on small molluscs



Fig. 8. Mean density (A) and biomass (B) of molluscs in the investigated reservoirs

(*Pisidium* spp., *Valvata piscinalis*), and the biomass – on large unionids in those sites where they occurred, the correlation of abundance and biomass within the river bed was not significant. In the other cases the dominant species differed much less in their size (and weight).

1.2. Long-term changes in malacocoenoses based on the Zegrzyński Reservoir

Studies including a twenty-year period of development of malacocoenoses of the Zegrzyński Reservoir made it possible to observe qualitative and quantitative changes of its malacofauna.

The number of mollusc species in the studied habitats varied widely during the analysed period, showing a general decreasing tendency (Fig. 9). At the beginning of the 1980s 49 mollusc species were found (8 species of prosobranchs, 19 pulmonates and 22 bivalves), in the second half of the 1980s the number decreased slightly (DUSOGE et al. 1990, GRUŻEWSKI 2000), while at half of the 1990s the number of species was reduced to 28 (6 prosobranchs, 9 pulmonates, 13 bivalves). At the end of the 1990s the species richness increased somewhat (32 species: 4 prosobranchs, 14 pulmonates, 14 bivalves). The tendency varied between the habitats, but on the whole the number of species at the end of the 1990s was much lower than several years earlier (Fig. 9). At the same time, there were significant changes in the dominance structure. Both these phenomena were re-



Fig. 9. Spatial and temporal changes in the number of mollusc species in the Zegrzyński Reservoir; A – 1980s, B – 1990s, I–VIII – sampling areas, see Fig. 1; species with frequencies exceeding 50% are shown as grey parts of the bars (after JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1986, 1998a, modified and supplemented)

flected in the dynamics of species diversity (Shannon-Weaver index, H'). In the 1990s the index decreased in a part of habitats (Table 8). The largest decrease in species diversity was observed in habitats of slow water exchange, i.e. in bays in the upper, mid and lower parts of the reservoir, and in the stagnant habitat in its southern part (areas I, III, VI and VII, Fig. 1). In two areas – mouth section of the Bug River and the western side in the mid part of the reservoir (areas II and IV) the species diversity increased, while on the eastern side the value of Shannon-Weaver index remained unchanged.

During the twenty-year period the frequency of occurrence of particular mollusc species underwent considerable changes, some species disappeared from the reservoir. At the beginning of the 1980s only three species (Lithoglyphus naticoides, Pisidium casertanum, P. henslowanum) showed a high frequency (F>50%), while the frequency of most of the remaining species was fairly equalised, and for only a few species it dropped below 10%. In the 1990s the frequency of most species changed. In 1995 its values decreased for most species, only in a few cases there was a reverse tendency (Table 9). Four species: V. viviparus, Bithynia tentaculata, Sphaerium rivicola and D. polymorpha, reached a frequency over 50%. Except for B. tentaculata, these molluscs showed the highest constancy also at the end of the 1990s. The total number of species and the proportion of absolutely constant species in the discussed period changed to various extent depending on the habitat; the changes were more distinct in the stagnant habitat close to the southern shore of the reservoir and in its lower part (areas VI and VII) (Fig. 9). Generally, there was a decrease in both the total number of species and in absolutely constant species (F>50%), except for the vicinity of the dam where the number of absolutely constant species increased.

During the twenty years the dominance structure underwent changes which are better documented for habitats located in the zone of flooded land (Fig. 10).

Table 8. Long-term changes in mollusc species diversity (Shannon-Weaver's index, H') in the sampling areas of the Zegrzyński Reservoir

Part of the	Sampling	Shannon-Weaver's index value				
reservoir	area	1981	1995	1997–1999		
upper	Ι	2.1	0.9	0.8		
	II	1.3	1.5	2.0		
mid	III	2.0	0.7	1.6		
	IV	1.4	0.4	2.0		
	V	1.9	0.8	1.8		
	VI	0.8	1.3	0.1		
lower	VII	1.7	1.0	0.8		
	VIII	_	0.7	0.6		

Table. 9. Changes in frequency (%F) of mollusc species which were the most widespread in the 1980, in the following years (till 1999); a – littoral zone, b – central zone; according to JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2001a, modified; * – from GRUŻEWSKI (1988); *Sphaerium* sp. and *Pisidium* sp. are included in the absence of data on the species identity from 1986–1987

Tayon	1980–1981	*1986–1987	1995		1997–1999	
Taxon	а	a+b	а	а	b	a+b
Vviparus viviparus	44.3	60.3	86.3	84.8	78.3	80.4
Lithoglyphus naticoides	51.7	21.8	11.1	0	0	0
Valvata piscinalis	42.5	37.8	19.4	17.6	21.7	19.3
Bithynia tentaculata	21.8	35.9	65.3	39.4	26.1	32.0
Anodonta anatina	22.4	27.6	41.8	38.2	47.8	42.1
Sphaerium rivicola	45.4	_	63.4	54.5	33.3	50.1
S. corneum	23.7	_	10.0	42.4	30.3	36.8
Sphaerium sp.	60.3	68.6	66.7	67.6	65.2	66.7
Pisidium henslowanum	50.8	_	12.6	5.4	15.8	8.9
P. casertanum	56.3	_	13.9	2.7	5.3	3.4
Pisidium sp.	70.1	50.6	16.7	23.5	30.4	26.3
Dreissena polymorpha	23.0	18.6	72.9	66.7	73.9	64.3

At the beginning of the 80s, the proportion of bivalves of the genus Pisidium in the total abundance of molluscs was high in that zone; this was also true of some prosobranch species (Lithoglyphus naticoides, Theodoxus fluviatilis, Valvata spp.). It was especially clear in the upper part of the reservoir and in the habitats of its mid part which were under the effect of the Bug River. In the remaining habitats there was a clear dominance of Viviparus viviparus (along the western shore of the mid part of the reservoir, and in the lower part) and D. polymorpha (mainly in the southern, stagnant and in the lower parts). In the second half of the 1980s, the proportion of V. viviparus in the studied malacocoenoses increased; likewise there was a certain increase in the porportion of D. polymorpha and Sphaerium spp., while the proportion of Pisidium spp. and of some prosobranchs decreased. The dominance of V. viviparus persisted till the half of the 1990s, though in some habitats of the discussed zone the species was partly replaced by the spreading zebra mussel. At that time *D. polymorpha* reached a high proportion in the dominance structure of the malacocoenoses of the mid and lower parts of the reservoir (except the western shore of its mid part). The dominance structure became even further simplified. At the end of the 1990s, the main dominants were still D. *polymorpha* and *V. viviparus*, but there was an increase in the proportion of sphaeriid bivalves in most of the studied habitats. Reclamation work carried out in 1997 at the eastern shore in the mid part of the reservoir (by the District Water Management) caused a distinct change in the dominance structure of the malacofauna of that area. After colonies of D. *polymorpha* had been covered with a thick layer of sand, V. viviparus and Sphaerium sp. became dominants. The changes in the dominance structure in the zone of former river beds were less marked than in the flooded land areas (Fig. 10). This could result partly from a shorter period of observations, but also from smaller habitat changes (especially bottom deposits) compared to the flooded land. In the mid part of the reservoir the proportion of sphaeriids increased, and in the lower part – that of *D. polymorpha* which became the main dominant there.

Long-term changes in the mollusc biomass and density are, like the qualitative occurrence, rather well documented for habitats located in the flooded land zone. A comparison of the density in the 1980s and 1990s showed a general decrease in its values (t test, p=0.0012), especially in the upper and mid parts of the reservoir (except area VI, t test, p>0.05). The differences were more obvious on the eastern side of the reservoir which was under the effect of the Bug River (area V), then on the western side where the Narew River enters (area IV). In the 1990s, in the lower part of the reservoir, and on the southern shore in its mid part, the density increased (area VIII) or the values remained roughly unchanged (areas VI, VII). On the whole, in the 1990s the highest densities were observed close to the dam (areas VI, VIII), while in the 1980s the density was the highest in the upper part of the reservoir and on the eastern side of its mid part (I, II, III) (Fig. 11A). In the analysed period the density fluctuations were rather large. During the 1980s its values increased (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1986, 1989a, GRUŻEWSKI 1988, DUSOGE et al. 1990, 1999), especially in the mouth section of the Bug River. In 1995 the density decreased significantly, while at the end of the 1990s it increased again (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2001a).



Fig. 10. Long-term changes in dominance structure of malacocoenoses in the investigated habitats of the Zegrzyński Reservoir; 1–4 – successive periods of investigations (1980–1981, 1986–1987, 1995, 1997–1999) (after JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1986, 1998a, modified, years 1986–1987 after GRUŻEWSKI 1988, modified)

A similar shift in the maximum density of the malacofauna toward the lower parts of the reservoir, like in the zone of flooded land, was observed in habitats of the former river beds (Fig. 11B). In such habitats, however, there were no significant differences in the mollusc density between the 1980s and 1990s.

A comparison of the mollusc biomass in the flooded land zone in the 1980s and 1990s indicates its increase (t test, p=0.0343). In the 1990s the biomass

in most habitats was higher, but the differences were significant only in the case of the mouth section of the Narew River (I) and in the lower part of the reservoir (Fig. 12). The increase in biomass was associated with the increase in abundance in the 1980s and with the higher proportion of large molluscs in the total density in the 1990s. In the 1980s the maximum biomass was observed in the mid part of the reservoir, while in the 1990s it was the highest near the dam and in three



Fig. 11. Long-term changes in mollusc density in the investigated habitats within the flooded land areas (A) and former river beds (B) of the Zegrzyński Reservoir; I–VIII – see Fig. 1



Fig. 12. Long-term changes in mollusc biomass in the investigated habitats within the flooded land areas of the Zegrzyński Reservoir; I–VIII – see Fig. 1

different habitats with strong dominance of *D. polymorpha* and *V. viviparus* (areas I, VI, VII, VIII). Only a rough comparison of biomass changes in the zone of former river beds was possible, because of the absence of data from the end of the 1980s for the habitats studied in this paper. Mean biomass values reported for the reservoir malacofauna of that period (1987) by DUSOGE et al. (1990), characterised by a strong increase in abundance of the malacofauna, were of similar order of magnitude as those obtained by the author at the end of the 1990s.

1.3. Effect of the main dominants on the malacocoenoses

In the Sulejów Reservoir, where *D. polymorpha* dominated in the malacocoenoses, and in the Zegrzyński Reservoir, with *D. polymorpha* and *V. viviparus* as co-dominants, these molluscs were observed to affect the number of species and density of other molluscs in habitats where one or both of them were abundant. The limiting effect of *D. polymorpha* on the species richness of malacocoenoses of the Sulejów Reservoir was especially marked. In habitats where the density of the zebra mussel exceeded 500 indiv. m⁻², only eight species of other molluscs were found, while where Dreissena was scarce or absent, 24 species were present. A similar limiting effect of the dominants could be observed in the Zegrzyński Reservoir, the effect of D. polymorpha being more distinct there, compared to *V. viviparus*. The fewest mollusc species (8) were found in habitats in which both dominants were abundant (>500 and >200 indiv. m⁻², respectively), a richer malacofauna was found in sites with high abundance of only D. polymorpha (13 species) and still richer in habitats with high densities of V. viviparus (15 species). In habitats where both species were scarce or absent, the number of other mollusc species was the highest (26). The dominants were also found to have an effect on the density of other components of malacocoenoses (Fig. 13). In the presence of D. polymorpha and V. viviparus at fairly high densities (>500 and >200 indiv. m⁻², respectively), the density of the remaining molluscs was lower compared to situations where the dominants were absent or sparse. The negative effect on the number of species and density of the remaining molluscs was always statistically significant in the case of high abundance of D. polymorpha (Table 10), and statistically insignificant in the case of V. viviparus. High positive values of correlation coefficients between the density of D. polymorpha and the density and biomass of malacocoenoses of the studied habitats of the Zegrzyński and Sulejów Reservoirs confirm the dominant position of the species. High abundance of V. viviparus had a significant effect on the biomass of the malacocoenoses (Table 10). No negative dependence, which might indicate a competition between the two co-dominants, was found between the abundace of *D. polymorpha* and *V.* viviparus in the Zegrzyński Reservoir. In the lower part of the reservoir both species reached high densities, but fragments of bottom occupied by them overlapped only to a slight extent, which may result from competition-induced habitat partitioning. In the mid

Characteristics	Whole mala	acocoenosis	Malacocoenosis with exclusion of <i>D. polymorpha</i> and <i>V. viviparus</i>			
of dominants	Density	Biomass	Number of species	Density	Biomass	
		Zegrzyński Re	servoir (N=49)			
Abundant/scarce:						
D. polymorpha	0.69*	0.66*	-0.32*	-0.35*	-0.04	
V. viviparus	0.22	0.38*	0.01	0.16	0.03	
together	0.60*	0.53^{*}	-0,18	-0.26	-0.10	
Density:						
D. polymorpha	0.99*	0.72^{*}	-0.17	-0.20	0.06	
V. viviparus	0.25	0.42*	0.07	0.19	0.03	
together	1.00*	0.77*	-0.15	-0.16	0.06	
		Sulejów Rese	ervoir (N=35)			
D. polymorpha:						
Abundant/scarce	0.90*	0.63*	-0.34*	-0.32	-0.16	
Density	0.93*	0.61*	-0.34*	-0.29	-0.17	

Table 10. The influence of dominant species on the occurrence of other molluscs and whole malacocoenoses (Pearson's correlation indices – r) in the Zegrzyński and Sulejów Reservoirs; * – statistically significant correlations

part of the reservoir, at the eastern shore, an increase in abundance of *V. viviparus* was observed following recultivation measures which eliminated *D. polymorpha* as a result of covering it with a thick layer of sand. The phenomenon might suggest that *V. viviparus* is a weaker competitor compared to *D. poly-*



Fig. 13. Impact of *D. polymorpha* and *V. viviparus* on the density of the other mollusc species; a – low density or lack of *D. polymorpha* and *V viviparus*, b – high density of *V. viviparus* (>200 indiv. m⁻²), c – high density of *D. polymorpha* (>500 indiv. m⁻²), d – high density of *D. polymorpha* and *V. viviparus*

morpha. This was reflected in the changes in proportions of the two dominants in the structure of the malacocoenoses of the reservoir (see previous chapter, changes of dominance structure).

2. ROLE OF MOLLUSCS IN HEAVY METALS AND PHOSPHORUS ACCUMULATION IN THE RESERVOIR ECOSYSTEM

2.1. Concentration of phosphorus and heavy metals in molluscs and their accumulation in the reservoir malacocoenoses

Phosphorus concentration in soft tissues of the studied mollusc species ranged from below 10 to over 20 mg g⁻¹ dry weight (from 0.63% to 2.42% dry weight). The highest values were noted for unionids. Concentrations of analysed essential metals in tissues of molluscs from the Zegrzyński, Sulejów, Siemianówka and Włocławek Reservoirs were most often within the range from tens to hundreds µg g⁻¹ dry weight, only the level of Cu in bivalves was usually below 10 µg g⁻¹ dry weight, while concentration of Mn and Fe in unionids and sphaeriids (except Mn in Sphaerium corneum) was of an order of thousands $\mu g g^{-1}$ dry weight (Table 11). Lower values were noted for non-essential metals (from over 1 to over $10 \ \mu g \ g^{-1}$ dry weight for Pb, and below 1 µg g⁻¹ dry weight for Cd). Concentration of phosphorus and the studied metals in the shells was usually much lower, most often by an order of magnitude, compared to soft tissues (Table 12).

The level of the studied elements in mollusc tissues varied rather much between species, while their concentration in the shells varied much less (Table 13). Instances of statistically significant differences in the concentration in tissues in the studied reservoirs

Table 11. Concentrations of phosphorus and heavy metals (μg g⁻¹ dry wt ±SD) in soft tissues of the studied molluscs from four reservoirs (Zegrzyński, Sulejów, Siemianówka, Włocławek); * – *Sphaerium rivicola*, ** – *S. corneum* (data on metal concentrations in molluscs from the Zegrzyński Reservoir based on JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA & KRÓLAK 2000, supplemented and modified)

Reservoir	Р	Cu	Zn	Mn	Fe	Pb	Cd			
			Viviparus	viviparus						
Zegrzyński	$6,250\pm1,490$	54.0 ± 32.3	$193.0{\pm}51.9$	80.7 ± 39.1	232.2 ± 203.6	10.8 ± 5.6	0.05 ± 0.03			
Włocławek	$6,200{\pm}1,920$	174.6 ± 24.3	377.2 ± 53.6	206.1±36.9	965.5 ± 617.0	1.1 ± 0.2	0.11±0.06			
Lymnaea sp.										
Zegrzyński	$7,440\pm1,020$	$27.4{\pm}18.1$	70.3 ± 20.1	240.1±103.6	507.5 ± 230.6	15.6 ± 25.0	0.29 ± 0.21			
Siemianówka	$3,970{\pm}580$	20.7 ± 2.5	87.7±23.6	468.7 ± 63.2	$1,082 \pm 355.8$	1.7 ± 0.9	0.48 ± 0.07			
			Dreissena p	olymorpha						
Zegrzyński	$9,390{\pm}2,480$	8.1±3.4	95.1 ± 35.6	93.0 ± 59.2	279.6 ± 136.9	14.4 ± 5.5	0.20 ± 0.18			
Sulejów	$9,860{\pm}340$	20.5 ± 5.0	133.1 ± 20.2	579.6 ± 97.5	912.2 ± 364.3	1.5 ± 0.8	0.71 ± 0.36			
Włocławek	$11,400\pm1,000$	7.3 ± 1.0	177.1 ± 2.8	316.4±21.3	$534.0{\pm}11.6$	$1.0{\pm}0.1$	0.29 ± 0.01			
			Anodor	<i>nta</i> sp.						
Zegrzyński	$25,900\pm25,230$	7.2 ± 3.0	226.3 ± 125.1	$5,850\pm 2,790$	$1,615 \pm 928.1$	13.2 ± 14.4	0.21 ± 0.16			
Siemianówka	$18,800\pm 5,840$	9.6 ± 4.0	131.8 ± 24.8	$3,840 \pm 1,034$	$2,210\pm1,060$	7.0 ± 6.2	0.42 ± 0.05			
Sulejów	$11,330{\pm}4,070$	9.3 ± 4.3	247.0 ± 64.0	$3,981{\pm}46.6$	$1,590{\pm}742.1$	1.4 ± 0.04	0.71 ± 0.40			
Włocławek	$14,\!980\pm\!3,\!930$	10.7 ± 1.1	318.7 ± 45.5	$4,770\pm51.3$	$1,170\pm1,240$	0.7 ± 0.3	0.73 ± 0.30			
			Unio	sp.						
Zegrzyński	$19,740{\pm}4,480$	7.1 ± 3.6	282.8 ± 120.4	$4,830\pm1,090$	$2,580\pm1,810$	6.8 ± 9.0	0.30 ± 0.13			
Sulejów	$18,300\pm1,020$	8.5 ± 3.0	233.6 ± 117.8	$3,230\pm1,950$	$4,070\pm 2,900$	1.2 ± 0.1	0.49 ± 0.28			
			Unior	nidae						
Zegrzyński	$22,250 \pm 7.410$	7.2 ± 3.0	238.2 ± 123.1	$5,635\pm2,530$	$1,880\pm1,160$	11.6 ± 13.3	0.23±0.16			
Siemianówka	$1,880\pm 5,840$	9.6 ± 3.7	129.2 ± 24.3	$3,670\pm1,130$	$2,240\pm1,010$	7.0 ± 6.2	0.42 ± 0.04			
Sulejów	$15,150\pm 3,680$	8.9 ± 3.6	240.9 ± 87.4	$3,640 \pm 1,290$	$2,410\pm 2,000$	1.3 ± 0.3	0.68 ± 0.29			
Włocławek	$13,450{\pm}4,880$	8.5 ± 3.4	278.9 ± 69.8	$3,620\pm1,660$	888.0 ± 432.8	0.7 ± 0.3	0.56 ± 0.35			
			Sphaer	riidae						
Zegrzyński*	$8,600 \pm 5,940$	39.8 ± 17.2	112.8 ± 34.3	104.2 ± 63.0	547.8 ± 401.2	$6.7{\pm}6.3$	0.21±0.13			
Włocławek**	$5,170\pm3,060$	73.5±17.6	139.6±10.7	218.0±32.4	1,380±317.4	4.1±0.1	0.56±0.21			

were much more numerous in the case of P, Cu, Zn, Mn and Fe compared to Pb and Cd. The differences in phosphorus concentration in tissues of conspecific molluscs from two to four reservoirs were fewer (ANOVA, p<0.05) than inter-specific differences within the same reservoir, while the phosphorus level in the shells usually did not differ significantly between conspecific molluscs from different reservoirs, or between different species within the same reservoir. Contrary to phosphorus, differences between conspecific molluscs from two to four reservoris were more numerous for the analysed metals (ANOVA, p<0.05) than inter-specific differences, especially for non-essential metals. For shells, most intra- and interspecific diferences in the concentration of the elements were insignificant.

The differences in the level of phosphorus and heavy metals in molluscs, and different values of biomass and dominance structure of the malacocoenoses of the studied reservoirs had an effect on the possibilities of accumulation of the analysed elements by the malacofauna in particular reservoirs (Fig. 14). The quantities of accumulated elements were negligible in the Siemianówka because of the low values of mollusc biomass in that reservoir. In the Zegrzyński, Sulejów and Włocławek Reservoirs the quantities were significantly higher (most often by two orders of magnitude), but not in direct proportion to the biomass values. In spite of lower mollusc biomass in the studied habitats of the last two reservoirs, compared to the Zegrzyński Reservoir, quantities of some elements (P, Cu, Zn, Mn, Cd) accumulated by the molluscs were relatively high which resulted from the high proportion of unionids in the biomass of the malacocoenoses. Fairly high concentrations of Cu and Cd in small bivalves Sphaerium corneum, dominant in the Włocławek Reservoir (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA & ŻBIKOWSKI in press), may significantly increase the value of accumulation of these elements in the malacofauna.

Table 12. Concentrations of phosphorus and heavy metals (μg/g dry wt ±SD) in shells of the studied molluscs from four reservoirs (Zegrzyński, Sulejów, Siemianówka, Włocławek); * – *Sphaerium rivicola,* ** – *Sphaerium corneum* (data on metal concentrations in molluscs from the Zegrzyński Reservoir according to JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA & KRÓLAK 2000, supplemented and modified)

Reservoir	Р	Cu	Zn	Mn	Fe	Pb	Cd		
			Viviparus	viviparus					
Zegrzyński	353±159	$3.8{\pm}1.6$	8.8±3.1	342.8 ± 336.4	899.5 ± 755.1	2.9 ± 3.5	0.03 ± 0.04		
Włocławek	437±32	4.7 ± 0.1	7.8 ± 0.5	274.8 ± 25.9	1164.7 ± 43.7	0.6 ± 0.5	0.02 ± 0.01		
Lymnaea sp.									
Zegrzyński	183±90	2.4 ± 2.2	5.5 ± 3.4	$369.4{\pm}178.8$	134.8±112.9	5.2 ± 6.8	0.02 ± 0.02		
Siemianówka	317 ± 150	2.1 ± 0.6	4.6 ± 4.2	179.1 ± 52.4	198.3±134.1	0.3 ± 0.3	0.02 ± 0.01		
			Dreissena j	bolymorpha					
Zegrzyński	297±161	$3.4{\pm}1.8$	6.2±2.4	177.1 ± 142.2	347.0 ± 276.6	$2.0{\pm}1.7$	0.02 ± 0.01		
Sulejów	383±129	$1.9{\pm}0.8$	5.3±1.3	244.9 ± 84.4	627.6 ± 2291.5	$0.4{\pm}0.1$	0.02 ± 0.01		
Włocławek	400 ± 98	3.3 ± 0.5	$7.4{\pm}0.9$	257.5 ± 33.5	560.7 ± 72.4	0.3 ± 0.2	0.04 ± 0.03		
			Anodo	<i>nta</i> sp.					
Zegrzyński	239±153	5.6 ± 2.5	5.5 ± 3.3	334.6 ± 175.1	696.3 ± 747.9	$3.0{\pm}3.3$	0.03 ± 0.04		
Siemianówka	300 ± 107	4.3±2.4	7.1 ± 4.6	308.7 ± 20.1	259.7 ± 53.9	0.6 ± 0.7	0.08 ± 0.10		
Sulejów	397 ± 158	4.4 ± 0.2	3.4±0.6	320.6 ± 17.3	406.4 ± 84.7	0.3 ± 0.1	0.02 ± 0.01		
Włocławek	310 ± 117	5.8 ± 0.3	10.1 ± 7.2	480.2 ± 106.4	136.4 ± 2.0	0.3 ± 0.2	0.03 ± 0.03		
			Uni	ø sp.					
Zegrzyński	320 ± 186	2.4±1.1	5.5 ± 3.3	230.5 ± 96.2	187.1 ± 184.6	0.3 ± 0.2	0.01 ± 0.01		
Sulejów	300 ± 115	$3.7{\pm}0.8$	4.4 ± 0.8	244.1 ± 79.4	378.3 ± 136.8	0.4 ± 0.2	0.02 ± 0.01		
			Unio	nidae					
Zegrzyński	247 ± 148	4.8 ± 2.6	5.3 ± 3.5	310.1±163.7	576.6 ± 689.5	2.4 ± 3.1	0.02 ± 0.01		
Siemianówka	300 ± 107	4.3±2.3	6.9 ± 4.5	296.2 ± 45.7	315.6 ± 192.3	0.6 ± 0.6	0.07 ± 0.09		
Sulejów	333±58	$4.0{\pm}0.7$	4.0 ± 0.9	276.9 ± 71.1	390.4±114.2	0.3 ± 0.1	0.02 ± 0.01		
Włocławek	302±102	5.3 ± 0.8	11.3±6.0	391.8 ± 157.0	125.5 ± 30.1	0.3 ± 0.2	0.03 ± 0.02		
			Sphae	eriidae					
Zegrzyński*	203±126	$3.0{\pm}2.6$	3.8±1.8	80.0 ± 102.3	$263.0{\pm}168.7$	1.3 ± 0.9	0.01 ± 0.01		
Włocławek**	333±129	8.3 ± 0.5	26.0 ± 0.6	$69.0{\pm}18.1$	574.1 ± 22.4	0.2 ± 0.1	0.07 ± 0.03		

2.2. Role of molluscs in accumulation of phosphorus and heavy metals in the Zegrzyński Reservoir

Though the concentration of the studied elements in mollusc tissues is usually by an order of magnitude higher compared to the shells, due to the high proportion of shell in mollusc dry weight (Table 14), elements contained in it may constitute a considerable portion of the entire pool accumulated in the animals. Especially great significance of shell was noted for accumulation of manganese and iron, it was also considerable for copper, lead and cadmium, while phosphorus and zinc were accumulated mainly in tissues.

Mean quantities of particular elements accumulated in molluscs inhabiting 1 m^2 bottom in different parts of the reservoir, and significance of shell and tissues in accumulation of particular elements varied considerably (Fig. 15). The greatest quantities of the studied elements were accumulated by molluscs in the lower part of the reservoir, where the animals reached the highest biomass values. Large differences with respect to accumulation of phosphorus and metals by molluscs were observed also within each of the three parts of the reservoir. Comparison of accumulation of some elements, especially phosphorus and manganese, by molluscs of the mouth sections of the Bug and Narew Rivers, indicates the effect of dominance structure on the quantities of elements accumulated by the malacocoenoses. In spite of much lower mean biomass in the first habitat (only ca. 40%biomass compared to the second), the quantities of phosphorus and manganese accumulated in molluscs were similar. The dominance of unionid bivalves in the biomass of the malacofauna determined the great capacity for accumulating phosphorus and manganese in the malacocoenosis of the mouth section of the Bug River. The unionids were characterised by an exceptionally high level of manganese and phospho-

Table 13. Inter-specific differences in concentration of the studied elements in soft tissues and shells of molluscs from the Zegrzyński Reservoir (symbols of elements denote significant inter-specific differences, shading denotes high number of inter-specific differences; ANOVA, p<0.05); V.v. – Viviparus viviparus, L.s. – Lymnaea stagnalis, L.p. – L. peregra, D.p. – Dreissena polymorpha, A.a. – Anodonta anatina, A.c. – A. cygnea, U.t. – Unio tumidus, U.p. – U. pictorum, S.r. – Sphaerium rivicola

									Soft tissues
	<i>V.v</i> .	<i>L.s.</i>	<i>L.p</i> .	D. <i>p</i> .	<i>A.a.</i>	<i>A.c.</i>	<i>U.t.</i>	<i>U.p</i> .	<i>S.r</i> .
V.v.		Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, Cd	Zn, Mn, Fe, Cd, P	Cu, Zn, Cd, P	Cu, Mn, Fe, Cd, P	Cu, Mn, Fe, Cd, P	Cu, Mn, Fe, Cd, P	Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, Pb, Cd, P	Zn, Mn, Fe, Pb, Cd
<i>L.s.</i>	Cu, Zn, Fe, P		Cu	Cu, Mn, Fe, Pb, P	Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, P	Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, P	Zn, Mn, Fe, P	Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, P	Cu, Zn
L.p.	Fe, Pb			Cu, Mn Fe, Cd	Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, Cd, P	Cu, Zn, Mn,Fe, P	Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, P	Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, Pb, P	
D.p.	Zn, Fe, Mn	Cu, Mn, Fe, P	Mn, Pb		Zn, Mn, Fe, P	Zn, Mn, Fe, P	Zn, Mn, Fe, P	Zn, Mn, Fe, Pb, P	Cu, Fe
<i>A.a.</i>	Zn, Fe, P	Cu	Mn, Pb	Р			Cd	Zn, P	Cu, Zn, Mn, P
<i>A.c.</i>	Zn	Cu, Fe	Fe	Mn, Fe	Mn, Fe			Р	Cu, Zn, Mn, P
U.t.	Zn		Pb						Cu, P
U.p.	Fe, Zn, Pb		Pb	Pb		Fe, Pb			Cu, Zn, Mn, P
S.r.	Cu, Zn, Mn,Fe	Mn, Fe	Zn, Mn	Zn	Mn	Mn, Fe	Mn	Mn	

Shells

rus in their tissues, compared to other molluscs. A similar situation follows from a comparison of accumulation of the studied elements in molluscs from two habitats located on opposite sides of the mid part of the reservoir. Participation of tissues and shell in accumulation of particular elements by malacocoenoses varied within the reservoir, which was associated with the diverse dominance structure. Especially wide ranges of values were observed for manganese and zinc. For the remaining metals and phosphorus the differences in participation of tissues and shell in accumulation in various habitats ranged from a few to over 10%.

Heavy metals contained in molluscs living on the bottom of the Zegrzyński Reservoir constituted only a small fraction of annual retention of these elements



Zegrzyński Sulejów Siemianówka Włocławek



Table 14. Significance of mollusc shells in accumulation of phosphorus and heavy metals in the Zegrzyński Reservoir

	07	Participation of shells in metal accumulation (%)							
	% of monuse dry mass –	Р	Cu	Zn	Mn	Fe	Pb	Cd	
Viviparus viviparus	85	24	30	20	96	96	60	77	
Lymnaea sp.	67	5	15	14	76	35	40	11	
Dreissena polymorpha	91	24	81	40	95	93	58	50	
Unionidae	85	5	78	13	22	57	52	36	
Sphaeriidae	88	35	37	20	17	48	57	25	



Fig. 15. Accumulation of the investigated elements in soft tissues and shells of molluscs inhabiting 1 m^2 bottom in the upper (u), mid (m) and lower (l) parts of the Zegrzyński Reservoir

in the reservoir (most often below 1%, only for Mn over 2%); the corresponding value for phosphorus was ca. 6%. Compared to the content of the analysed elements in water (whole volume of the reservoir), quantities of metals accumulated in molluscs constituted from over 4% (Pb) to ca. 48% (Mn) and over 90% for phosphorus (Table 15). In the case of phosphorus, molluscs were a significant trap. The mollusc-accumulated pool of the studied elements formed a small part of the quantity accumulated in

Table 15. Amounts of the investigated elements accumulated in molluscs inhabiting the Zegrzyński Reservoir against the pools contained in bottom sediments deposited during one year (1 cm thick), water column (the volume of the reservoir) and yearly retention, 1998–1999

Flomont	Accumulation	The share (%) of molluscs in pools of elements				
Liement	(kg)	Bottom sediments	Water	Reten- tion		
Р	14,777.4	4.0	92.4	5.7		
Cu	59.7	1.9	17.2	0.4		
Zn	240.2	1.3	14.5	0.8		
Mn	3,269.3	1.8	47.7	2.6		
Fe	5,243.7	0.2	18.0	0.6		
Pb	34.3	0.6	4.1	0.6		
Cd	0.38	0.5	22.4	0.3		

Table 16. Concentrations of phosphorus and heavy metals ($\mu g g^{-1} dry wt$) in shells of *Dreissena polymorpha* and *Viviparus viviparus* from the Zegrzyński Reservoir – comparison of living individuals and shells found in sediments deposited at least a few years ago; significant differences (t-test, p<0.05) marked with an asterisk

Element	Living individuals Old she	
	Dreissena p	oolymorpha
P*	297±161	170±11
Cu*	$3.4{\pm}1.8$	2.5 ± 0.4
Zn*	6.2 ± 2.4	15.1±2.0
Mn	177.1±14.2	112.1±39.7
Fe*	347.0 ± 276.6	689.9 ± 420.5
Pb	$2.0{\pm}1.7$	1.2 ± 0.8
Cd*	0.02 ± 0.01	0.048 ± 0.001
	Viviparus	viviparus
P*	$350{\pm}119$	160 ± 10
Cu*	3.8±1.6	2.2±0.2
Zn*	8.8±3.1	13.1±3.0
Mn	342.8±336.4	133.1±39.7
Fe*	899.5 ± 755.1	1,354.5±152.0
Pb*	2.9 ± 3.5	$9.9{\pm}1.0$
Cd	0.03 ± 0.04	0.01 ± 0.002

bottom deposits, the highest values were noted for phosphorus, copper and manganese (4%, 1.9% and 1.8%, respectively). However, considering the great significance of shell in heavy metal accumulation (except Zn) by molluscs, ranging from over 46% to nearly 90%, the animals may, when abundant, exclude considerable quantities of these elements from circulation. Shells, especially more massive, remain in the bottom deposits during many years, preserving considerable fraction of their content of phosphorus and heavy metals (Table 16). Comparison of the level of the studied elements in shells of live molluscs (D. polymorpha, V. viviparus) and empty shells of these species from a few to about a dozen years ago, indicates in most cases a significant decrease in their concentration with time, but the concentrations were still of a similar order of magnitude. In the case of Zn and Fe, the concentrations in old shells were even higher compared to shells of live molluscs.

3. SELECTED ASPECTS OF THE ROLE OF MOLLUSCS IN MATTER CIRCULATION, BASED ON THE ZEGRZYŃSKI RESERVOIR

3.1. Effect of filtration activity on the circulation of phosphorus and heavy metals

Filtratory activity of bivalves and filtrationist snails (prosobranchs, in the Zegrzyński Reservoir especially V. viviparus) is limited to the vegetation season (200 days were assumed here). The quantity of water (4,052 mln m³) which could be filtered during that time by bivalves at a mean density observed in the reservoir, exceeds the reservoir's capacity many times and reaches values which are comparable to the amount of water contributed by the Bug and Narew Rivers (in 1999 the mean 4,769.3 mln m³) (Fig. 16A). The quantity of water equal to the volume of the reservoir could be filtered by molluscs within a few days. Considering filtration activity of the abundant snail V. viviparus, the volume of mollusc-filtered water would be comparable to the water discharge during the vegetation season. It follows from the calculations that during the vegetation season (1998 and 1999) bivalves could potentially clear the quantity of suspension equal to about half of total suspension introduced during that period by the Bug and Narew Rivers (Fig. 16B). It should be noted that suspension content in the water during the vegetation season was much higher than in winter.

A similar situation to that described for suspension, could be observed for suspended fraction of phosphorus and heavy metals (Fig. 17) which indicates that bivalves could clear a considerable part of these elements introduced in the reservoir during the vegetation season (in the case of P and most analysed metals over 50% maximum value, for manganese – over 80%).



Fig. 16. Filtration activity of bivalves in the Zegrzyński Reservoir: A – volume of water filtered during season compared with seasonal water discharge of the Bug and Narew rivers and the reservoir's capacity, B – the amount of seston cleared by bivalves during season compared with seston load assessed for the same period and mean amount of seston contained in the reservoir



Fig. 17. Amounts of the analysed elements potentially cleared with seston by bivalves during season on the background of seasonal inputs through rivers and the pool contained in the water column in the Zegrzyński Reservoir

Table 17. Quantities of faeces (and pseudofaeces) estimated for the investigated molluscs from the Zegrzyński Reservoir; all inter-specific differences statistically significant (ANOVA, p<0.05)

Taxon	Faeces (and pseudofaeces) mg dry wt indiv ⁻¹ day ⁻¹
Viviparus viviparus	20.2 ± 1.7
Lymnaea sp.	10.4 ± 2.8
Dreissena polymorpha	3.7 ± 0.3
Unionidae	31.4±3.2

Biodeposition of elements (faeces and pseudofaeces) by molluscs depends on the abundance of the animals, but also on the dominance structure of the malacocoenoses. The dominant snail, V. viviparus, produced more faeces per individual compared to the dominant bivalve, *D. polymorpha* (Table 17). On the average, in the pool of faeces and pseudofaeces (biodeposits) deposited on 1 m² bottom inhabited by molluscs, snail faeces constituted at least a half, while the whole of biodeposits formed ca. 10% of the annual layer of bottom deposits (according to WIĘCKOWSKI 1979; layer ca. 1 cm thick). The quantity of the studied heavy metals and phosphorus in faeces of molluscs inhabiting 1 m² bottom constituted from over 13% (Fe) to over 62% (Zn) quantity of these elements contained in a 1 cm layer of bottom deposits. In many cases (Cu, Zn, Mn, Pb, Cd), the values were clearly higher in faeces produced by bivalves, compared to the faeces of the dominant snail V. viviparus (Mann-Whitney U-test, p<0.05). Concentration of phosphorus and heavy metals reached higher values in mollusc faeces compared to the level of these elements in bottom deposits (Fig. 18) (t test, p<0.05); mollusc faeces enrich bottom deposits with both phosphorus and heavy metals. As a result of bivalve biodeposition, a considerable part of suspension, with metals and phosphorus contained in it, is transferred from the water column to the bottom deposits. Phosphorus contained in bivalve biodeposits formed ca. 12% load of suspension fraction of the element introduced into the reservoir during the vegetation season; corresponding values for heavy metals were usually much higher (from over 15% for Mn to over 90% for Cu and Zn). Detritus-feeding snails participate





Fig. 18. Concentrations of the analysed elements in mollusc faeces (A) and bottom sediments (B); *D.p. – D. polymorpha*, U. – Unionidae, *V.v. – V. viviparus*, *L.* sp. – *Lymnaea* sp.

Table 18. Role of molluscs in accumulation and circulation of the studied elements in the Zegrzyński Reservoir ecosystem

	Р	Cu	Zn	Mn	Fe	Pb	Cd
			:	mg m ⁻² season	1		
Biodeposition:							
bivalves	600	30.9	250	1,800	7,810	29.6	0.336
gastropods	1,900	9.8	113	730	3,680	13.3	0.240
together	2,500	40.7	363	2,530	11,490	42.9	0.576
Filtration – bivalves	2,448	19.0	106.3	2,160	14,650	31.1	0.446
Consumption - gastropods	2,840	11.4	40.5	2,290	2,246	31.2	0.305
Load during season	21,197	649	2,389	11,548	240,069	1,200	3.26
Retention during season	1,927	212.4	229.5	1,599	7,275	104.8	0.47
Bottom sediments*	12,240	97.1	582	5,400	87,936	171.7	2.16
Accumulation:							
bivalves	335.3	0.97	3.3	27.3	71.4	0.4	0.003
gastropods	112.5	0.84	4.0	71.8	87.5	0.7	0.008
together	447.8	1.81	7.3	99.1	158.9	1.1	0.011

* - yearly layer of bottom sediments (1 cm, according to WIECKOWSKI 1969)

mainly in deposit processing, while consuming plant material results in a certain quantity of matter, contained in macrophytes and periphyton, being transferred to the detritus pool in bottom deposits.

The flow of phosphorus and heavy metals through malacocoenoses was many times higher compared to the quantity of these elements accumulated in mollusc tissues and shells (Table 18). This indicates a considerable effect of the malacofauna on cycling of the discussed elements in the reservoir ecosystem. The quantity of phosphorus cleared with suspension by bivalves during the vegetation season was many times (ca. 9 times) higher than its quantity accumulated in the animals. Corresponding differences for heavy metals were much greater (from ca. 20 to ca. 200 times), especially for Fe and non-essential metals (Pb and Cd). This indicates a more intense flow of metals, compared to phosphorus, through bivalve populations. Intense flow of the studied elements, compared to their accumulation values, was found also for snails. The quantities of phosphorus and heavy metals potentially taken up with food by the animals during the vegetation season were from over 10 to over 40 times higher than the quantities accumulated in tissues and shells (Table 18).

3.2. Phosphorus and heavy metals in short food chains

The studies focused on four short food chains with molluscs as one of the links: periphyton – *V. viviparus* – *Rutilus rutilus* – *Esox lucius*;

macrophytes – Lymnaea stagnalis – R. rutilus – E. lucius; floc – D. polymorpha – R. rutilus – E. lucius;

mollusc faeces – chironomid larvae – R. rutilus – E. lucius.

Food spectrum of molluscs is extensive, and particular species, especially snails, often utilise several different food sources. Periphyton and macrophytes were assumed as potential food of snails (*V. viviparus* and *Lymnaea* spp.), floc – as food of bivalves (*D. polymorpha*). Besides, detritus as food for snails and *Anodonta* spp. as filtrationist were taken into account.

Phosphorus concentration in mollusc tissues was significantly higher than in their food or faeces (t test, p<0.05), only differences between the level of this element in snail tissues and snail faeces were insignificant. In the analysed food chains, the highest phosphorus concentration was found in the second link – molluscs and chironomid larvae (Fig. 19). Within the studied mollusc species (consumers I) there were significant differences in P concentration in tissues (see chapter 2.1), in spite of the lack of significant differences in P concentration in most cases (ANOVA, p>0.05). Relatively high phosphorus concentrations (contrary to heavy metals) were found at higher trophic levels (fish).

Concentration of the studied metals in potential food of molluscs varied, but in most cases the differences were statistically insignificant (ANOVA, p>0.05). The level of P in bivalve tissues was usually lower than or similar to that found in their potential food, only Mn and Fe concentration in *Anodonta* sp. was higher than in the floc (Table 19). Significantly lower concentration of Mn and Fe, and partly Pb and Cd (most differencs for Cd were insignificant) was noted also in snail tissues compared to their level in

food, while Cu and Zn concentration (in case of *V. viviparus* – detritus) was higher than in the food.

Phosphorus concentration in mollusc faeces did not differ significantly from corresponding values in their potential food. The level of essential metals in the faeces was (in over half of the cases) higher than (t test, p<0.05) or similar to the concentration in potential food of molluscs which could be associated, among others, with a fairly weak assimilation of the studied metals and with selective uptake of food particles, especially suspension and detritus (fine particles contain more adsorbed metals). Lower metal concentrations in mollusc tissues, compared to the level in faeces (t test, p<0.05), may confirm poor assimilation of metals or a capability of regulation of their concentration in the organism.

Metal concentration in chironomid larvae was lower than in the mollusc faeces which constituted their potential food; statistically significant differences were noted for Zn, Mn, Fe, Pb and Cd (t test, p<0.05). The level of analysed metals in fish tissues (*R. rutilus*) was significantly lower than in molluscs and chironomid larvae (except the insignificant difference in Pb concentration between mollusc tissues and fish muscles).

Transfer of microelements, such as heavy metals, in food chains, differed from the fate of phosphorus.

Table 19. Significance of differences between phosphorus and heavy metal concentrations in consecutive links of the studied food chains (t-test); (p – probability level; ns – not significant). In the case of fish metal concentrations in muscles were compared

				p – values			
	Р	Cu	Zn	Mn	Fe	Pb	Cd
Chain: detritus/periphyton -	· Viviparus vivi	parus – Rutilı	us rutilus – Es	ox lucius			
detritus – V. viviparus	0.003145	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	ns	0.000000
periphyton – V. viviparus	0.001074	0.000000	ns	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000
V. viviparus – R. rutilus	ns	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	ns	0.000462
R. rutilus – E. lucius	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	0.042019
Chain: detritus/periphyton/n	macrophytes -	- <i>Lymnaea</i> sp.	– Rutilus ruti	lus			
detritus – <i>Lymnaea</i> sp.	0.002102	0.002405	ns	0.000002	0.001291	ns	ns
periphyton – <i>Lymnaea</i> sp.	0.021541	ns	ns	0.001886	0.000000	0.000264	ns
macrophytes – Lymnaea sp.	0.000018	0.000287	0.000131	0.000002	0.000335	ns	0.000177
Lymnaea sp. – R. rutilus	ns	0.000001	0.000028	0.000000	0.000000	ns	0.000001
Chain: floc – Dreissena polymo	rpha/Anodonta	ı sp. – <i>Rutilus</i>	rutilus				
floc – D. polymorpha	0.000004	0.012927	ns	0.000000	0.000000	ns	ns
floc – Anodonta sp.	0.000017	0.018689	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	ns	ns
D. polymorpha – R. rutilus	0.003920	0.000668	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	ns	0.000000
Anodonta sp. – R. rutilus	0.000004	0.010431	0.000000	0.000000	0.000000	ns	0.000000
Chain: mollusc faeces – chiro	onomid larvae	– Rutilus ruti	ilus				
faeces – Chironomidae	0.000689	ns	0.000000	0.000003	0.000015	0.007978	0.001499
Chironomidae – R. rutilus	0.000186	0.000002	0.011840	0.000014	0.000000	0.049228	0.000035



Fig. 19. Changes in concentrations of the analysed elements in consecutive links of four food chains including molluscs (data concerning heavy metal concentrations after JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2001c, modified and supplemented)

Generally, there was a decrease in concentration of heavy metals at higher levels of the food chains (fish). Differences between the level of these elements in particular links of the food chains were mostly statistically significant (Table 19), only comparison of metal concentration in tissues of zoobenthos-feeding fish

DISCUSSION

- 1. MALACOCOENOSES OF LOWLAND DAM RESERVOIRS – OCCURRENCE, TEMPORAL AND SPATIAL CHANGES
- 1.1. Significance of molluscs in the structure of bottom macrofauna

In many lowland dam reservoirs, molluscs may constitute a significant component of bottom macrofauna. The proportion of these animals in the total abundance of macrobenthos of the Zegrzyński, Koronowo and Włocławek Reservoirs was generally of an order of a few per cent (in the last reservoir in the second half of the 1980s on an average about a dozen per cent) (GIZIŃSKI & WOLNOMIEJSKI 1966, DUSOGE et al. 1990, 1999, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA & ŻBIKOWSKI in press), in the Rybinsk and Siemianówka Reservoirs temporarily even higher (up to a few dozen per cent), however benthos of these reservoirs was quantitatively poor, especially in the last case (SHCHERBINA 1998, and own, unpublished data). A much greater proportion of molluscs was noted in the total benthos biomass, often of an order of a few dozen per cent or even over 90%, when large molluscs dominated (e.g. SOKOLOVA 1959, TSEEB & DENISOVA 1973, DUSOGE et al. 1990, 1999, SHCHERBINA 1998). In some Volga reservoirs authors reporting biomass disregarded large molluscs, and then the proportion of molluscs was lower. In the Włocławek Reservoir, in spite of the dominance of relatively small molluscs (Sphaerium corneum) in its malacocoenoses, their proportion in the benthos biomass was often of an order of a few dozen per cent (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA & ŻBIKOWSKI in press). It can be supposed that the proportion of molluscs in the total biomass of the Sulejów Reservoir benthos is also high, especially because of abundant occurrence of D. polymorpha (ABRASZEWSKA--KOWALCZYK et al. 1999, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2002a). In such cases, considering the zebra mussel biomass, the proportion of molluscs in the total biomass of benthos increases from a few or a few dozen per cent to over 90% (e.g. TIMM et al. 1996). Excluding biomass of large molluscs when analysing dominance structure may be justified because of great differences in the biomass of individuals of such species and representatives of other zoobenthos components, but it should be considered in studies on the role of molluscs in the functioning of ecosystems.

and predatory fish showed no significant differences except Cd – its content in the tissues of predatory fish was higher (but because of the low concentrations of the element, the measurements were burdened with a relatively great error).

1.2. Qualitative occurrence of molluscs

The malacofauna of the studied reservoirs was relatively species-rich, like in an array of other dam reservoirs of the temperate zone: e.g. Gorky, Rybinsk (MITROPOLSKIY & BISEROV 1982, PEROVA 1998, SHCHERBINA 1998, 2000), Ivankovo (BUTORIN 1978b, ABAKUMOV et al. 2000), Uchinsk (SOKOLOVA 1959, SOKOLOVA et al. 1980), Kuybyshev (BUTORIN 1978a), Goczałkowice (KRZYŻANEK 1970, 1976, 1994, KRZYŻANEK et al. 1986, KRZYŻANEK & KASZA 1995), and Koronowo (GIZIŃSKI & WOLNOMIEJSKI 1966, 1982).

Low frequency of occurrence of individual mollusc species is characteristic not only of the initial succession stages, when the organisms have not managed to spread on the flooded land. It may also be favoured by instability of habitats, e.g. uncovering of large bottom fragments for a longer period. This is the case in the Siemianówka Reservoir (especially since 2000), the situation is common in the Volga (GERASIMOV & PODDUBNYI 1999) and Dnepr reservoirs (ZIMBALEVSKAYA et al. 1984). In the period of rapid development of malacocoenoses many species may reach rather high frequencies (e.g. JURKIEWICZ--KARNKOWSKA 1998a, GRUŻEWSKI 2000), while in older ecosystems of dam reservoirs, in conditions of increasing habitat homogeneity (bottom deposits) and high trophy, the number of species of higher frequency is low (1-4), but %F values in such cases are much higher than in the earlier period (e.g. JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1998a, 2001a, PEROVA & SHCHERBINA 1998). Usually species of higher frequency are also dominants or subdominants in the malacocoenoses.

1.3. Dominance structure of malacoenoses

In many lowland dam reservoirs, at least during some periods, small sphaeriid bivalves form a considerable proportion of the malacofauna, e.g. in many reservoirs on the Volga and Dnepr (MORDUKHAY-BOLTOVSKOY 1961, PODDUBNAYA 1966, BUTORIN 1978a, MITROPOLSKIY & BISEROV 1982, BORODICH & LYAKHOV 1983), in the Zegrzyński (JURKIEWICZ-KARN-KOWSKA 1989a, GRUŻEWSKI 2000) and Goczałkowice Reservoirs (KRZYŻANEK 1970, 1973, 1976). At later stages of succession, they are most often replaced by large bivalves - D. polymorpha, e.g. in the reservoirs Kuybyshev (BORODICH & LYAKHOV 1983), Rybinsk (MITROPOLSKIY & LUFEROV 1966, PEROVA & SHCHERBINA 1998), Zegrzyński and Sulejów (JUR-KIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1998a, 2001a, 2002a), or unionids, e.g. in the Goczałkowice Reservoir (KRZYŻANEK 1976, 1994), but in some cases the sphaeriid dominance persists for a long time of biocoenosis stabilisation, e.g. in the Włocławek Reservoir (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA & ZBIKOWSKI in press). D. polymorpha is often dominant in malacocoenoses of lowland dam reservoirs of the temperate zone, in many cases already at early stages (during the first few years) of their development it plays a considerable part, e.g. in the reservoirs Uchinsk (SOKOLOVA 1959), Gorky, Saratov, Volgograd (BUTORIN 1978a), Kiev (GAK et al. 1972, TSEEB & DENISOVA 1973), Koronowo (WOLNOMIEJSKI & GIZIŃSKI 1976, GIZIŃSKI & WOLNOMIEJSKI 1982).

Among snails, prosobranchs, e.g. V. viviparus (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1989a, 1998a, 2001a, LEWANDOWSKI et al. 1989, LEVINA 1993), or Valvata spp. (e.g. PEROVA & SHCHERBINA 2001) may play an important part in the dominance structure of the malacofauna. High proportion of fluviatile species, e.g. Lithoglyphus naticoides or Theodoxus fluviatilis was also observed in habitats closely associated with the former river bed, especially at early stages of reservoir development or following rejuvenation of biocoenosis as a result of particularly great flows (e.g. GAK et al. 1972, TSEEB & DENISOVA 1973, JURKIEWICZ-KARN-KOWSKA 1986, 1989a, GRUŻEWSKI 2000). Pulmonate snails play a certain part in shallow habitats, especially in the littoral zone. At the beginning of succession in flooded land areas they are pioneer species, especially lymnaeids (e.g. ZAĆWILICHOWSKA 1965a, b, PATER-SON & FERNANDO 1969, KRZYŻANEK 1970, GIZIŃSKI & WOLNOMIEJSKI 1966). They dominate also in habitats with unstable physical conditions, e.g. when large areas of bottom are exposed for a longer period (e.g. GIZIŃSKI & WOLNOMIEJSKI 1982). In the Siemianówka Reservoir in 2001-2002 the proportion of Lymnaea spp. increased when the water level significantly decreased during a greater part of the vegetation season (own, unpublished data).

Generally, with progressing succession the dominance structure, after a period of rapid development, becomes simplified, with a pronounced dominance of single species which already in the period preceding stabilisation played an important part in the dominance structure of the malacocoenoses.

1.4. Density and biomass

The malacofauna of the Zegrzyński and Sulejów Reservoirs shows a fairly high abundance, compared to molluscs of other lowland dam reservoirs and also lakes. Comparable abundance and biomass of molluscs were noted e.g. in the Włocławek (GIZIŃSKI et al. 1989) and Koronowo (GIZIŃSKI & WOLNOMIEJSKI 1982) Reservoirs, and in the Goczałkowice Reservoir during a period of intense development of unionids (KRZYŻANEK 1976, 1977, 1986), as well as in an array of Volga and Dnepr reservoirs (SOKOLOVA 1959, BUTORIN 1978a, TSEEB & DENISOVA 1973, SHCHERBINA 1998). The Siemianówka Reservoir harbours a qualitatively poor malacofauna and generally poor macrobenthos (own, unpublished data) which results from its environmental specificity, associated with numerous limiting factors (JURKIEWICZ--KARNKOWSKA 1999a). A similar poverty has been observed e.g. in parts of some large dam reservoirs of sandy bottom, subject to strong wave action (e.g. BUTORIN 1978a, SOKOLOVA 1988) or with peat bottom (e.g. PODDUBNAYA 1988) and in reservoirs of high humus content in the water (e.g. SOROKIN 1972, ARMITAGE 1977).

1.5. Changes in malacocoenoses on the background of macrozoobenthos succession

Many studies on the bottom macrofauna report incomplete information on the occurrence of molluscs; it often pertains only to species of small size while large molluscs, even those reaching high abundance, are disregarded. However, in many cases estimates of quantitative occurrence of all molluscs, even based on fragmentary literature data, indicate high values, comparable to those for the reservoirs described in this paper and other water bodies with a high mollusc abundance. Malacofauna of lowland reservoirs may be richer compared to lakes of a similar trophic level, because of a positive effect of moderate flow (more favourable oxygen conditions). Data on quantitative occurrence of molluscs and its temporal and spatial variation may be important for the estimate of the role of these animals in the functioning of the reservoir ecosystem.

Generally, malacofauna of lowland dam reservoirs undergoes changes similar to those experienced by the whole bottom macrofauna. When the trophic level is low, at first stages of the reservoir's existence the increase in mollusc abundance is less obvious than that of soft benthos which develops faster, utilising increased food resources which result from decomposition of flooded terrestrial vegetation. In such reservoirs, a clear increase in mollusc abundance was observed after 10 years or later, e.g. sphaeriids in the Ivankovo Reservoir (BUTORIN 1978b) or unionids in the Goczałkowice Reservoir (KRZYŻANEK 1994). The ecosystem development is quicker when the river feeding the reservoir is large, and the proportion of the river bed in the reservoir's total area is considerable. The effect of the river on the processes that take place in the reservoir may also be associated with the water quality, and especially its trophy. A moderate trophy of the reservoir favours qualitative and quanti-

tative richness of the malacofauna, while excessive fertility of the water causes a decrease in species diversity (e.g. species of the genus Pisidium recede), and then mollusc abundance and mollusc proportion in the macrobenthos structure decrease. At that time abundance of soft macrobenthos remains at a high level. Improvement in water quality causes increase in species diversity and abundance of molluscs, while abundance of soft benthos decreases. More sphaeriids appear (e.g. PEROVA 1998, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2001a). Rejuvenation of biocoenoses resulting e.g. from sudden changes in hydrological regime or exposure of large areas of the bottom for longer periods and then flooding them again, is marked in the case of malacocoenoses. On bottom areas re-flooded after a longer period of exposure, pioneer species appear (often in great numbers), such as e.g. lymnaeids in the Koronowo (e.g. GIZIŃSKI & WOLNOMIEJSKI 1982) and Siemianówka Reservoirs (own, unpublished data). After the 1980 flood and next year, exceptionally high mollusc species richness was observed in the Zegrzyński Reservoir (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1986, 1989a). The fauna included rheophilic species, and some reached high densities, e.g. Lithoglyphus naticoides, Theodoxus fluviatilis or Sphaerium solidum. The species were found in many habitats, including some of slow flow or stagnant.

Lowland dam reservoirs, shallow, extensive and rather varied with respect to habitats, may favour development of malacofauna, but these possibilities are to a large extent modified by the complex of factors characteristic for a given water body; this is confirmed by the situation in the studied reservoirs.

The Zegrzyński Reservoir harbours a rich and diverse malacofauna. The direction of development of its malacocoenoses seems to depend mainly on the trophic level and changes associated with the ageing of the ecosystem (kind and thickness of bottom deposits, their increased homogeneity) and stabilisation of biocoenoses, but great disturbances of hydrological regime may change it, resulting in a reversal to earlier succession stages (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1998a, 2001a). A limiting effect on the species composition and abundance of molluscs was exerted by excessive eutrophication and consequent deterioration of environment quality (among others periodical oxygen deficits above the bottom, receding of submerged macrophytes); the results were visible in the first half of the 1990s, while the decrease in the trophic level in subsequent years seems to be the main reason for a certain increase in the richness and species diversity of molluscs, though the number of species was still lower than in the 1980s. The abundant occurrence of D. polymorpha, and to a lesser extent V. viviparus, also seems to limit the mollusc species richness.

The malacofauna of the Sulejów Reservoir is also rather rich, but poorer in species compared to the Zegrzyński Reservoir. Important factors for the development of mollusc communities in this reservoir are, among others, the kind of bottom deposits, wave action, changes in water level over considerable areas, and also the limiting effect of the zebra mussel on the occurrence of an array of species, especially filtrationists (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2002a).

The mollusc density and biomass in the Siemianówka Reservoir are low in spite of the high trophy level; the situation results probably from many limiting factors. The kind of bottom deposits (poorly advanced development of proper deposits in flooded areas and loose, muddy deposits within the river bed) and their constant resuspension over large areas, as well as instability resulting from small depths and strong wave action, seem to be the most important among them. High humus content in the water and deposits, limited availability of calcium ions, poor development of macrophytes and algal blooms may also affect mollusc abundance (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1999a). A considerable species richness and at the same time a highly random character of the occurrence of molluscs in the reservoir may be associated on the one hand with habitat diversity of the reservoir and the presence of numerous small water bodies and courses (especially on polders) which may be sources of colonisers, on the other - instability of the habitats in the reservoir, especially in the littoral where large areas are often exposed and dried during decreased water level.

1.6. Effect of *D. polymorpha* on other molluscs and the whole macrozoobenthos

Invasion of D. polymorpha may cause an array of structural and functional changes in freshwater ecosystems. Especially clear effects of its invasion were observed in lakes and rivers of N America, where the zebra mussel reached very high abundance. They included, among others, changes in trophic structure, in pathways of energy flow in the system, increased water transparency and changes in its chemistry, as well as decrease in chlorophyll concentration resulting from decreased phytoplankton density, changes in the structure of bacterio-, phyto- and zooplankton, increased abundance of bottom algae and changes in their communities, macrophyte development, and also some changes in fish and bottom macrofauna communities (among others GRIFFITHS 1993, HOL-LAND et al. 1995, JOHENGEN et al. 1995, LOWE & PILLS-BURY 1995, NALEPA et al. 1996, KURBATOVA 1998, STEVART et al. 1998, JOHANSSON et al. 2000, IDRISI et al. 2001, MAYER et al. 2001).

Generally, *D. polymorpha* was observed to have a positive effect on bottom invertebrates, especially soft benthos, which was expressed as increased abundance and in some cases also species richness (DERMOTT et al. 1993, GRIFFITHS 1993, STEWART & HAYNES 1994, PEROVA & SHCHERBINA 1998, STEWART

et al. 1998, 1999, HORVATH et al. 1999, GONZÁLEZ & DOWNING 1999, BIALLY & MACISAAC 2000, GREEN-WOOD et al. 2001, COBB & WATZIN 2002). According to the authors just named, the positive effect of the zebra mussel could result from creating new microhabitats - bivalve colonies - providing substratum, shelter and food (faeces and pseudofaeces, mussel-covering algae, detritus accumulated in spaces between shells). The increase in abundance and species richness of the bottom macrofauna in the presence of D. polymorpha was observed both in habitats of hard bottom (e.g. HORVATH et al. 1999) and soft bottom (e.g. BIALLY & MACISAAC 2000). Less often negative effects were noted, on the soft benthos, especially filter-feeders or species utilising freshly settled detritus (e.g. NALEPA et al. 1998, STRAYER & SMITH 2001).

The effect of *D. polymorpha* on other molluscs is less clear. In the case of other bivalve species it is, as a rule, negative. Especially much attention was paid to disappearance of large unionid bivalves in the waters of N America, where densities of the zebra mussel were extremely high. In many lakes and river systems an array of unionid species were observed to recede rapidly, their density decreased and their communities changed (GILLIS & MACKIE 1994, NALEPA 1994, HAAG et al. 1993, HOWELL et al. 1996, NALEPA et al. 1996, RICCIARDI et al. 1996, 1998, SCHLOESSER 1998, MARTEL et al. 2001). Usually the process continued for only a few years (4-8), and the main mechanism of depleting populations of the native bivalves was the zebra mussel attaching to their shells, thus disturbing functioning, causing stress, starvation symptoms and energy losses (e.g. RICCIARDI et al. 1996, BAKER & HORNBACH 1997, HALLAC & MARSDEN 2000). As demonstrated by TOCHYLOWSKI's et al. (1999) study, settling of D. polymorpha on unionid shells is not associated with any particular preference, and in habitats with much hard substratum densities of the zebra mussel on large bivalve shells and on other substrata are similar. LEWANDOWSKI (1976) observed a certain preference of the zebra mussel for live unionids and conspecific colonies in experimental conditions. The mortality of unionids depends on the intensity of overgrowing with the zebra mussel. RICCIARDI et al. (1995) reported an over 90% mortality of unionids with more than 100 individuals of Dreissena attached to their shells. KHARCHENKO & ZORINA-SAKHAROVA (2000) found that unionids could survive when the mass of attached zebra mussels did not exceed their individual mass, and the number of zebra mussels per individual unionid ranged from 100 to 160; comparable values follow from observations of LEWANDOWSKI (1976). Mortality of unionids depends also on the biology of the species, and especially its shell morphology (e.g. HAAG et al. 1993, NALEPA 1994), species of very delicate shells are the first to recede. This leads to changes in the community composition. Most European unionids have rather massive shells, while shells of many of the several dozen of N American species are very delicate. ABRASZEWSKA-KOWALCZYK (2002) showed a negative effect of the zebra mussel on the growth and body size of unionids from the Sulejów Reservoir, even when the coverage of their shells by the mussel was lower than critical values reported in the literature. In conditions of moderate overgrowing of unionids by D. polymorpha KHARCHEN-KO & ZORINA-SAKHAROVA (2000) observed a symbiotic relation (commensalism) between these bivalves, which made it possible for the zebra mussel to expand to areas of temporarily exposed shallows. It was possible due to migration, with unionids which constituted the substratum, from temporarily dry habitats to deeper places, and back again to the shallows when the water level increased.

It appears that also small sphaeriid bivalves can be affected by *D. polymorpha*. It was observed, among others, by SHCHERBINA (2001) based on experiments; also results of other authors (e.g. HOWELL et al. 1996, DERMOTT & KEREC 1997, PEROVA & SHCHERBINA 1998, STRAYER & SMITH 2001) indirectly point to competition. In lake Michigan, LAUER & MCCORNISH (2001) observed overgrowing of sphaeriids by the zebra mussel, and a drastic decrease in sphaeriid density within a few years.

Some studies show a positive effect of *D. polymorpha* on the occurrence of snails (e.g. STEWART et al. 1998, 1999, GREENWOOD et al. 2001), among others through improvement of food and habitat conditions. Results of other authors indicate a limiting effect of the zebra mussel, associated with e.g. competition for space or overgrowing snail shells by the bivalve (e.g. DUSOGE 1966, GIZIŃSKI & WOLNOMIEJSKI 1982, TUCKER 1994, WISENDEN & BAILEY 1995, HOWELL et al. 1996, RICCIARDI et al. 1997, GREENWOOD et al. 2001).

In the Sulejów Reservoir only negative correlations between the abundant *D. polymorpha* and the abundance of the remaining bivalves, and also the prosobranch snail *Valvata piscinalis*, were noted; they might suggest competition. No such dependence was found for pulmonate snails (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOW-SKA 2002a).

Some studies suggest a possibility of negative influence of other mollusc species, e.g. invasive *Potamopyrgus antipodarum* (Gray), on malacocoenoses (KROD-KIEWSKA et al. 1998, STRZELEC 1992, 2000), contributing to disappearance of native snail species. STAŃCZYKOWSKA (1963) observed, in the Vistula shoal Konfederatka, migration of large molluscs (unionids, *Lymnaea* spp., *Planorbarius corneus*) from the bottom, where dense aggregations of *V. viviparus* were formed, which might indicate a competition for space. In this study the limiting effect of *V. viviparus* on other molluscs was observed only to a small extent and pertained mainly to the number of species, but was not visible in the case of abundance.

2. SELECTED ASPECTS OF MOLLUSC EFFECT ON THE FUNCTIONING OF THE RESERVOIR ECOSYSTEM

2.1. Filtration activity of molluscs

2.1.1. Conditions and consequencies

Malacocoenoses of dam reservoirs are dominated by filter-feeding species. The main filtrationists are bivalves; some prosobranch snails may also use this feeding mode but its proportion in meeting the energy requirements of these organisms is little known. Filtration rate and efficiency, as well as the quantity of produced faeces and pseudofaeces, depend on many factors, associated with the environment, the size of the organisms, species-specific factors, population density and age structure.

Generally, the clearance rate increases with individual size (e.g. ALIMOV 1965, HINZ & SCHEIL 1972, LEI et al. 1996, YOUNG et al. 1996, HÖCKELMANN & PUSCH 2000), but when it is converted to unit gill area, the resulting values are rather constant within species (LEI et al. 1996).

One of important external factors affecting filtration activity is temperature. For freshwater bivalves of the temperate zone the range of temperatures permitting filtration is 5–30°C, but optimum values reported by various authors are within a much narrower range (MIKHEYEV 1966a, b, MORTON 1971, STAŃCZYKOWSKA et al. 1976, WALZ 1978, ALIMOV 1981, REEDERS et al. 1989, FANSLOW et al. 1995, LEI et al. 1996).

Mollusc filtration activity depends on many qualitative and quantitative properties of suspension - its concentration in water, proportion of inorganic particles, size structure, quality of particulate organic matter, species composition of plankton (especially dominant species). Filtration rate is the highest in conditions of low concentration of suspension and decreases clearly with increasing quantity of seston in the water, after values close to natural have been exceeded (CIKHON-LUKANINA 1961a, b, ALIMOV & BULON 1972, FOSTER-SMITH 1975, WALZ 1978, ALIMOV 1981, SPRUNG & ROSE 1988, REEDERS & BIJ DE VAATE 1990, FANSLOW et al. 1995, HÖCKELMANN & PUSCH 2000). In spite of the decrease in the volume of water filtered per unit time, the quantity of cleared suspension, and also its unassimilated fraction, increases. The excess of filtered suspension is removed as pseudofaeces. Values of suspension concentration above which bivalves produce pseudofaeces, reported in the literature, vary from a few to 10 mg dm⁻³ (WALZ 1978, STAŃCZYKOWSKA & PLANTER 1985, MADON et al. 1998) or 17–27 mg dm⁻³ (HORNBACH 1984, LEI et al. 1996, YU & CULVER 1999). In conditions of high water turbidity pseudofaeces may constitute a very large proportion, even 90% filtered suspension (REEDERS & BIJ DE VAATE 1992, MACISAAC & ROCHA 1995, MADON et al. 1998).

Limiting filtration and production of large quantities of pseudofaeces make it possible to regulate consumption in conditions of high suspension level. Mechanisms of this regulation vary with suspension composition. When proportion of inorganic particles in the seston is high, a high rate of filtration is maintained and at the same time large quantities of pseudofaeces are produced (KRYGER & RIISGARD 1988, WIŚNIEWSKI 1990, REEDERS & BIJ DE VAATE 1992, MACISAAC & ROCHA 1995, KLERKS et al. 1996, RODITI et al. 1996, YU & CULVER 1999), which results from the necessity of uptake of an adequate quantity of food. An alternative mechanism is selective uptake of particles which is of more advantage in habitats with constant, high proportion of bottom deposits (mineral fraction of seston) in the suspension (PAYNE et al. 1995). Limited filtration and increased production of pseudofaeces are very good strategies in habitats where the increased content of deposits in the water is only temporary (FOSTER-SMITH 1975, REEDERS & BIJ DE VAATE 1990). In conditions of high content of organic matter in the suspension, regulation of cunsumption is effected mainly due to limited filtration (WALZ 1978, SPRUNG & ROSE 1988, REEDERS et al. 1989).

At a given suspension concentration, filtration rate may depend on particle size (e.g. MIKHEYEV 1967, ALIMOV 1981, TEN WINKEL & DAVIDS 1982, LEI et al. 1996, RODITI et al. 1996, HORGAN & MILLS 1997, WELKER & WALZ 1998). An effect of food quality on filtration rate, consumption and assimilation was also observed (STAŃCZYKOWSKA et al. 1975, BIRGER et al.1978, DORGELO 1993, GARDNER et al. 1995).

Hydrodynamic conditions are also a very important, though rarely analysed factor; they affect both rate and efficiency of filtration, as well as growth and development of filter-feeding molluscs. Studies in inland rivers showed that relatively small flow velocity (below 10 m s⁻¹) caused increase in the quantity of cleared suspension, while greater flow had an inhibitory effect (for review see ACKERMAN 1999). Strong mixing causing increased resuspension has a limiting effect on filtration (ALDRIDGE et al. 1987, WIŚNIEWSKI 1990, MADON et al. 1998). SCHAFER's (1953) studies indicate that the prosobranch V. viviparus filters at a flow speed of 3 m s⁻¹. The favourable effect of slight water flow consists in mixing, due to which food resources are replenished in the thin layer of water (a few cm) above the bottom which is available to bivalves and filtrationist snails. As a result of filtration activity within this layer food deficits occur, causing intensified filtration of water already filtered by other individuals (FRECHETTE et al. 1989, MONISMITH et al. 1990, O'RIORDAN et al. 1995). In such situations the actual effect of filtration on suspension concentration in the water column may be considerably smaller than that suggested by calculations based on the reservoir volume and quantity of suspension cleared by organisms from unit bottom area (calculated as product of volume of bivalve-filtered water and suspension concentration in the water). Such an estimate is the most exact in shallow, well mixed habitats, while it may considerably depart from the actual values in poorly mixed waters, especially at high densities of bottom filtrationists and increased food competition. YU & CULVER (1999) introduced the so called effective clearance rate (ECR) which makes it possible to eliminate the error resulting from water refiltration.

2.1.2. Filtration activity of molluscs in the Zegrzyński Reservoir

In the Zegrzyński Reservoir suspension concentration, especially during the vegetation season, remains at a rather high level which is characteristic of eutrophic waters, however, except some (short) periods and some parts of the reservoir (especially the part under the effect of the Bug waters), these values should not have a limitng effect on filtration. Seston concentrations in the Włocławek Reservoir (16.8-30 mg dm⁻³) did not limit filtration activity of D. polymorpha (WIŚNIEWSKI 1990). Suspension of the Zegrzyński Reservoir contains a large proportion of organic matter (own, unpublished data) which, in the light of the earlier considerations, should rather favour the mechanism of regulation of the quantity of cleared suspension through limited filtration, instead of increased production of pseudofaeces. During strong winds which cause deposit resuspension over large areas of the reservoir bottom, bivalves could be expected to produce more pseudofaeces. Flow velocity in the littoral and stagnant zones of the reservoir ranges from 1 to a few cm s⁻¹, and in parts closer to the current it is even higher by an order of magnitude (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1986); it is generally within the range of values which is favourable for bivalves (ACKERMAN 1999), favouring inflow of new supplies of seston and oxygen from higher water layers to the thin boundary layer over the filtering animals. Assuming filtration values from the literature (i.e. water volume filtered in unit time), for bivalves living in the Zegrzyński Reservoir, the effect of the above factors on filtration was considered, as well as methods applied by different authors to estimate its values. In the case of D. polymorpha for which there are many literature data, results of studies conducted in natural or close to natural conditions were taken into account. The reported values vary widely (Table 3). It was assumed that water refiltration in conditions of the Zegrzyński Reservoir is rather small, and trophic conditions good, which is indirectly supported by the good fitness of D. polymorpha (DUSOGE et al. 1990). Thus the assumed filtration values were close to the so called effective values (ECR, according to YU & CULVER 1999). Clearance rate in V. viviparus may reach 140 ml per hour for large specimens (SCHAFER 1953, HÖCKELMANN & PUSCH 2000). As shown by

HÖCKELMANN & PUSCH (2000) in their studies on *V. viviparus* from the Spree River, in summer, at suspension concentration of 7 to 15 mg dm⁻³, at least large specimens can balance their energy expenditure through filter-feeding. The proportion of filter feeding in the total consumption by the snails in the Zegrzyński Reservoir is not known, but calculations based on filtration rate data (HÖCKELMANN & PUSCH 2000) and the mean concentration of suspension in the reservoir indicate that filter-feeding could completely meet the energy requirements (reported by many authors). SCHAFER (1953) found that *Bithynia tentaculata* could completely satisfy its energy requirements through filtration when suspension content is ca. 20 mg dm⁻³.

A great effect of bivalve filtration activity in lotic conditions was found e.g. in the Spree River below the productive lake Neuendorfer (WELKER & WALZ 1998), in the Hudson River estuary (RODITI et al. 1996) and canalised section of the Mosel River (BACHMANN & USSEGLIO-POLATERA 1999). Filtration potential of unionids, which are rather abundant in the Goczałkowice Reservoir (KRZYŻANEK 1989), was many times smaller than this of bivalves from the Zegrzyński Reservoir. Volume of water filtered by D. *polymorpha* in one to a few days in many lakes, especially N American, equalled the volume of these water bodies (HEBERT et al. 1991, MACISAAC et al. 1992, KLERKS et al. 1996). A lower filtration potential of these bivalves was reported from European lakes, which is associated with the lower density (STAŃCZY-KOWSKA 1968, LEWANDOWSKI & STAŃCZYKOWSKA 1975, STAŃCZYKOWSKA et al. 1975, KASPRZAK 1986, REEDERS et al. 1989).

It can be supposed that water, contributed during the vegetation season by the rivers feeding the Zegrzyński Reservoir, could be mostly filtered by molluscs, especially assuming that V. viviparus at least partly utilises this way of feeding. Filtration efficiency, however, may vary depending, among others, on the rate of water exchange in the habitat and on mollusc density. It should be stressed that the flow (Q) of the main rivers feeding the reservoir, and the water exchange rate, are generally much lower in the vegetation season, compared to the remaining months (water budget of the Zegrzyński Reservoir in 1998/1999 - Regional Water Management, Dębe, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2001b). It appears that molluscs could significantly control suspension content in water during the vegetation season, but a high increase in seston concentration in some periods (up to ca. 40 mg dry weight dm⁻³ and more, like e.g. in June/July 1999) may have a limiting effect on their filtration activity. REEDERS & BIJ DE VAATE (1990) found that to stop the process of phytoplankton increment in lake Wolderwijd in summer, filtration of its whole volume every three days would be enough. According to estimates, molluscs of the Zegrzyński Reservoir can

filter its volume during ca. 5 days. It seems that, considering sedimentation of a large part of phytoplankton introduced by the rivers (BUBIEŃ 1989, SIMM 1990), the possibility of control of its part that remains in the water column by filtrationists, including molluscs, should be considerable.

The above considerations and chapter 1.2 suggest that the balance between the reservoir's food resources and mollusc abundance has been adjusted to changes in the dominance structure of malacocoenoses which are associated with recession of many sphaeriid species and spreading of D. polymorpha. A certain decrease in the reservoir trophy is also observed (TP concentration, suspension) which may limit quantitative increase of filtrationists. In the second half of the 1980s the malacofauna was more abundant compared to the present situation, but the suspension load (and load introduced by the rivers) was also higher (DUSOGE et al. 1990, 1999, KAJAK 1990, 1991). At that time the proportion of the most active filtrationist - D. polymorpha - among bivalves was less pronounced, probably the effect of some bivalves on suspension concentration was smaller, and due to this maintaining a higher biomass of less efficient filtrationists was possible. Perhaps V. viviparus at least partly utilised suspension, and certainly freshly sedimented fine detritus, which would be indicated by high densities of the species and the condition of the specimens (LEWANDOWSKI et al. 1989, JAKUBIK 1998) in the upper part of the reservoir where there is an intense seston sedimentation (SIMM 1990).

With cleared suspension, among others, nutrients and heavy metals are removed from water. Analyses in this paper are consitent with the results obtained by other authors (e.g. REEDERS & BIJ DE VAATE 1992, REEDERS et al. 1993, LA VALLE et al. 1999) indicating that bivalve biodeposits contain more toxic substances than the suspension, which might be associated, among others, with clearing relatively fine and more polluted organic particles. The considerable load of metals in bivalve faeces may also result from uptake of certain quantities of these elements directly from water, in their ionic form (BAUDO 1985), and also poor assimilation. Different metals are to a different degree assimilated from food by consumers, e.g. Pb and Cd are poorer assimilated than Fe, Cu, Mn and Zn (BURRELL 1974 after BAUDO 1985, REIN-FELDER & FISHER 1994).

The quantity of phosphorus that could be cleared by bivalves during the season in the Zegrzyński Reservoir was probably a part of a phorphorus pool contained in the ecosystem, of a similar size as that for *D. polymorpha* in Lake Mikołajskie (STAŃCZYKOWSKA & LEWANDOWSKI 1993). In relation to P contained in 1 cm (annual) layer of bottom deposits of the Zegrzyński Reservoir, the quantity of this nutrient cleared by bivalves during the season was of an order of 10%. Quantities of metals cleared by bivalves, compared to the quantity of these elements contained in 1 cm deposit layer, were much higher, which may indicate a great effect of filtration activity of bivalves on sedimentation of heavy metals compared to phosphorus.

Suspended fraction of metals studied here forms a high proportion of their total pool in the water (WOJTKOWSKA 1997, 2000); for this reason both natural sedimentation and its acceleration as a result of mollusc filtration activity may cause a fairly intense flow of heavy metals and phosphorus from water column to bottom deposits. Filtration activity of bivalves is conducive to a shift of dynamic equilibrium between element deposition and release towards deposition in bottom sediments. Increase in deposition of heavy metals during the vegetation season increases the chances of their transfer to detritus food chains. Return of P and heavy metals to the water column, as a result of deposit resuspension, is also possible, especially with strong resuspension in shallow habitats, or release of ionic forms during decomposition of organic matter on the bottom, oxidation of sulphides and desorption during oxygen deficits above the bottom and in superficial layers of deposits (especially P), which may occur periodically in the reservoir (KAJAK 1991). Release of phorphorus from bottom deposits is rather intense (KAJAK 1991), while return of ionic forms of metals to the reservoir water is fairly limited because of high proportion of more durable fractions (WOJTKOWSKA 1997, 2000) and generally low intensity of metal release from deposits in both aerobic and anaerobic conditions (CHAPMAN et al. 1998). Poor internal feeding of the Goczałkowice Reservoir by interstitial waters was observed, for copper, by WIECHUŁA et al. (1997), though mixing of bottom deposits increased the intensity of the process. Small possibilities of mobilisation of ionic forms of metals from bottom deposits were also shown in studies on the Meuse River (VAN DEN BERG et al. 1999). On the other hand, experiments of RODITI et al. (1997) indicate that biodeposits of *D. polymorpha* are more liable to resuspension compared to bottom deposits. This may cause their decomposition in the water column and release of ionic forms. Bottom deposit resuspension increases not only as a result of stronger mixing of water, but also due to increased deposit erosion by burrowing organisms, including freshwater molluscs, especially unionid and sphaeriid bivalves (e.g. CHAPMAN et al. 1998, VAUGHN & HAKENKAMP 2001). WILLOWS et al. (1998) demonstrated that a population of a rather small marine bivalve Macoma *balthica* living in a tidal zone contributed to increase in resuspension by 420 g m⁻² per tide. Bioturbation, especially in case of depositivores, concentrates mainly in the topmost 10 cm layer of bottom deposits (e.g. BOUDREAU 1998), causing their disturbance and consequent loosening of their structure which makes them more liable to resuspension, and also inflow of

dissolved forms of elements from interstitial waters characterised by increased concentrations of both phosphorus and metals (e.g. WIECHUŁA et al. 1997, LINNIK 1999).

2.2. Role of biodeposition in circulation of phosphorus and heavy metals

Importance of biodeposition in circulation of phosphorus and heavy metals depends on the quantity of produced faeces and concentration of the studied elements in the faeces. The dominant snail of the Zegrzyński Reservoir, V. viviparus, produced more faeces than the dominant bivalve *D. polymorpha*; concentrations of the analysed metals were higher in bivalve faeces or similar to those found in snail faeces; phosphorus concentration was higher in snail faeces. Producing high quantities of faeces by snails may result from their high food rations, especially in the case of pulmonates, which may be associated with their rather high activity and metabolic rate (MONAKOV 1974, KOŁODZIEJCZYK 1983, BRENDELBERGER 1997). Estimated faeces production for specimens of the studied snails from the Zegrzyński Reservoir is comparable to values reported in other papers (Table 4).

Higher concentration of some heavy metals in bivalve faeces, compared to corresponding values for snails, observed in this study (despite the similar level in food in most cases) might be associated with uptake of considerable quantities of metals in ionic form by bivalves (e.g. PENTREATH 1973, ABBE & SANDERS 1990, LUOMA et al. 1992, KLERKS & FRALEIGH 1997) which is also confirmed by significant correlations between metal concentration in the water and in tissues of molluscs from the Zegrzyński Reservoir, especially D. polymorpha (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2000). Some authors regard the pool of ionic forms of these elements dissolved in the water as their main source for bivalves (e.g. ABBE & SANDERS 1990), and also for snails (e.g. REED-JUDKINS et al. 1998). Bivalves may be more capable of regulating metal concentration compared to snails (e.g. GRUNDACKER 2000), which could explain higher concentrations of these elements in their faeces. Some authors (among others JARMILLO et al. 1992, REEDERS & BIJ DE VAATE 1992, REEDERS et al. 1993, HOWELL et al. 1996) found higher concentrations of heavy metals and other toxic substances in bivalve biodeposits compared to their level in bottom deposits. No increased levels of toxicants were found in biodeposits of D. polymorpha from Lake Erie (DOBSON & MACKIE 1998) which might result from a high proportion of pseudofaeces and small differences in their composition, compared to passively sedimenting suspension particles. However, bottom sediments were significantly enriched with heavy metals and other toxic substances due to their increased sedimentation. In the light of earlier considerations (chapter 2.1) the diluting effect of pseudofaeces on the concentration of metals in bivalve biodeposits in the Zegrzyński Reservoir could be rather small in conditions of moderate suspension concentrations observed in this reservoir.

The effect of mollusc faeces on the pool of phosphorus and heavy metals in bottom deposits is rather little known. It follows from papers by STAŃCZYKOW-SKA et al. (1976), STAŃCZYKOWSKA (1968, 1978), STAŃCZYKOWSKA & LEWANDOWSKI (1993) and KOŁODZIEJCZYK (1983, 1984) that they can significantly enrich detritus pool in bottom deposits. Phosphorus contained in faeces produced by D. polymorpha at high density (2,000 indiv. m⁻²) constituted 1% total quantity of the element in Mikołajskie Lake (STAŃCZYKOWSKA & LEWANDOWSKI 1993). Proportion of mollusc faeces in sedimentation in the Zegrzyński Reservoir (estimated based on quantity of sediments deposited during a year, according to WIĘCKOWSKI 1969) was comparable with respective data for Mikołajskie Lake studied by the above authors, and also with participation of D. polymorpha in sedimentation in the estuary of the Hudson River (RODITI et al. 1996). Most studies on organic matter biodeposition by *D. polymorpha* contain no data which would make it possible to ascertain the proportion of faeces and elements contained in the faeces in the deposits or their sedimentation. DOBSON & MACKIE (1998) found 8-10 times higher values of biodeposition of organic matter, cadmium and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) by D. polymorpha in the eastern part of Lake Erie, compared to natural sedimentation. Increase in the content of nutrients, heavy metals and various toxic substances in bottom deposits as a result of biodeposition was indirectly found also by other authors (e.g. NALEPA et al. 1991, REEDERS & BIJ DE VAATE 1992, MACKIE & WRIGHT 1994, KLERKS & FRALEIGH 1997, LA VALLE et al. 1999). In the Zegrzyński Reservoir enriching deposits with phosphorus and heavy metals (except Fe) was from twice to several times higher compared to enrichment with particulate matter.

Phosphorus excretion by molluscs also plays a certain role in element cycling in aquatic ecosystems. Nutrients are excreted in dissolved forms and thus directly available to phytoplankton and periphyton. Daily phosphorus excretion by molluscs from 1 m² bottom surface in the Zegrzyński Reservoir, estimated based on literature data (KUENZLER 1961, LAURITSEN & MOZLEY 1989, NALEPA et al. 1991, ARNOTT & VANNI 1996, JAMES et al. 1997, 2000, 2001, RYBAK 2002) on the studied species (or species of similar life style and size) was about 3-4 mg m⁻² day⁻¹. The value is comparable with the mean values reported for excretion of *D*. polymorpha in Lake Pepin (JAMES et al. 2000). Converted to 1 l water it constitutes a value below 2 µg P per day, i.e. from ca. 2 to about a dozen per cent of the value of regeneration of this nutrient by zooplankton of the reservoir, noted by EJSMONT-KARABIN &

WEGLEŃSKA (1989). In habitats with higher mollusc densities, e.g. in the region of the dam, the values would be higher (over $3 \ \mu g \ P \ dm^{-3} \ day^{-1}$ and from 3 to 25%, respectively). However, the role of phosphorus regeneration by molluscs is slight (by two orders of magnitude smaller) compared to the total amount of PO₄-P released from bottom deposits of the reservoir (KAJAK 1991), but it should be emphasised that phosphorus release from the deposits in the reservoir is very intense.

Phosphorus excretion by molluscs may be of a similar order as quantities of P released from bottom deposits in high trophy lakes (e.g. ANDERSEN & RING 1999, SONDERGAARD et al. 1999, the lowest values reported by ANDERSEN 1974). Results of experiments of JAMES et al. (1997) showed that the zebra mussel at a density of ca. 1,300 indiv. m⁻² may excrete phosphorus quantities comparable to those released from bottom deposits of a eutrophic lake in anaerobic conditions (ca. 2.5 mg m^{-2}). The value is comparable to the one resulting from the calculation made for bivalves of the Zegrzyński Reservoir. Phosphorus (and nitrogen) regeneration may be of greater significance in ecosystems with very high densities of molluscs. The studies focused on the role of D. polymorpha, because of its extremely high densities. EFFLER et al. (1996) demonstrated the effect of zebra mussel on the changes of water chemistry in a river. Phosphorus excretion by *D*. polymorpha in the eastern part of Lake Erie exceeded both regeneration by zooplankton, and release from macrophytes and bottom deposits (ARNOTT & VANNI 1996). As demonstrated in the studies of these authors, and also JAMES et al. (2000) N:P ratio in excretions of D. polymorpha was low which might significantly affect changes in the proportion of these nutrients in the water, so that nitrogen (and not phosphorus) became a limiting factor for phytoplankton. Such a situation is conducive to dominance of blue-green algae (Cyanophyta). In the Sulejów Reservoir in places the zebra mussel reached densities of ca. 30 thousand indiv. m⁻² (ABRASZEWSKA-KOWALCZYK et al. 1999), and in such habitats it could regenerate nutrients at least 10 times quicker, compared e.g. to the mean value for the Zegrzyński Reservoir. Considering that in the Sulejów Reservoir blue-green algal blooms occurred before the zebra mussel invasion (TARCZYŃSKA et al. 1997), the bivalve may contribute to an increase in blue-green algae dominance.

Certain quantities of phosphorus and heavy metals may be secreted from mollusc organism with mucus, and in the case of *D. polymorpha* also with byssus (e.g. KUENZLER 1961, DAVIES & HATCHER 1999). Because of the similar composition of byssus and shell periostracum, quantities of phosphorus in the byssus should be rather small (KUENZLER 1961), contrary to heavy metals which may accumulate more intensely in byssus compared to tissues (e.g. SZEFER et al. 1997). Metal concentration in mucus may be much higher than in mollusc tissues which might indicate a detoxicating function of mucus with respect to metals. Metals secreted with mucus are bound in mineral granules. DAVIES & HATCHER (1999) found that during one day snails removed from their organisms quantities of lead comparable to those accumulated in tissues.

- 2.3. Role of molluscs in accumulation of phosphorus and heavy metals in the reservoir
- 2.3.1. Concentrations of phosphorus and heavy metals in molluscs – intra- and inter-specific differences

Comparison of phosphorus level in the studied molluscs with the rather scanty literature information (e.g. STAŃCZYKOWSKA & PLANTER 1985, JURKIE-WICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1986, 2002b, KRÓLAK 1997, MAR-KOWSKA 2000) indicates that the concentration of this element in tissues of particular species is relatively independent from the trophic status of the water body. Significant inter-specific differences in phosphorus concentration in mollusc tissues may reflect speciesspecificity of its accumulation, associated with phosphorus requirements.

Concentrations of the studied heavy metals in molluscs from the Zegrzyński, Sulejów, Siemianówka and Włocławek Reservoirs were usually comparable with corresponding values for habitats unpolluted or only slightly polluted with heavy metals (among others MANLY & GEOGRE 1977, TESSIER et al. 1984, BIAS & KARBE 1985, BUSCH 1991, VAN HATTUM et al. 1991, SMITH et al. 1996). Inter-specific differences in the content of essential metals in mollusc tissues were more frequent, compared to non-essential elements (Pb, Cd). They might result, among others, from species-specificity of requirements for essential elements, their selective uptake and different degree of development of mechanisms regulating their content in the organism (BROOKS & RUMSBY 1965, PARSONS et al. 1973, CHAPMAN et al. 1996), as well as the lack of capability to regulate, and the consequent passive uptake of non-essentials, e.g. Pb and Cd (e.g. SUNILA 1981, SIMKISS et al. 1982, SIMKISS & MASON 1983, AMIARD et al. 1987, KRAAK 1992), which are isolated in mineral granules or vacuoles and bound by low-molecule proteins, e.g. tioneine (for review see JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1994, 1998b).

2.3.2. Role of molluscs in accumulation of

phosphorus and heavy metals in the reservoir Molluscs of the Zegrzyński Reservoir can accumulate relatively high quantities of phopshorus, e.g. ca. 3 times more than unionids in the Goczałkowice Reservoir of comparable size during the period of their highest density of ca. several dozen indiv. m⁻² (KRZYŻA-NEK 1989). Converted to unit bottom area, their phosphorus accumulation values are by an order of magnitude higher compared to unionids (density about a dozen indiv. m^2) in Lake Zbęchy in Wielkopolska (KASPRZAK 1986). Compared to data for *D. polymorpha* from mesotrophic Lake Mikołajskie (STAŃCZYKOWSKA & PLANTER 1985), the content of this element in molluscs from 1 m^2 bottom of the Zegrzyński Reservoir was from over two to several times higher, and in the zebra mussel alone it was comparable. The quantity of phosphorus contained in molluscs from the studied habitats in the Zegrzyński Reservoir was comparable to or even higher than that in the water column (see Table 15), and thus molluscs were a significant trap for this element. Similar results on *D. polymorpha* from Lake Huron were presented by JOHENGEN et al. (1995).

The role of molluscs in phosphorus and heavy metal accumulation depends not only on their abundance, and especially biomass, but also on the dominance structure. This is associated with species-specificity of concentration of essential elements in tissues, and different proportion of soft tissues and shell in accumulation of particular elements. Population size (age) structure is also of some importance, since both phosphorus and heavy metal concentration vary with individual age (size) (KUENZLER 1961, BOYDEN 1974, 1977, MANLY & GEORGE 1977, BOUQUEGNEAN et al. 1979, WILLIAMSON 1979, STAŃCZYKOWSKA & PLANTER 1985, SZEFER et al. 1999, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2002b). Pool of phosphorus and heavy metals contained in mollusc tissues is excluded from circulation for the period of mollusc life, while elements contained in the shell become immobilised for a much longer time. Shells can be rather well preserved in bottom deposits (SKOMPSKI & SŁOWAŃSKI 1961, SKOMPSKI 1983, JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA 1986), implying unavailability of a considerable part of elements contained in them. Such a situation was observed in these studies, for both phosphorus and heavy metals. On the other hand, a high proportion of tissues in accumulation of most of the studied elements, except manganese and iron, by malacocoenoses (see Table 14) is conducive to transfer of these elements via food chains in the reservoir ecosystem, and including them in circulation as a result of quick mineralisation of dead mollusc bodies, lasting only a few days (e.g. KOŁODZIEJCZYK 1983, RYBAK 2002).

2.4. Role of molluscs in trophic transfer of phosphorus and heavy metals

Because of high abundance of molluscs in the Zegrzyński Reservoir they may be expected to play a significant part in the food web of the ecosystem. Many authors regard food as a very important source of heavy metals for aquatic organisms, including molluscs, but the role of trophic pathways in pollution with these elements varies and depends on many factors associated with organism (e.g. feeding mode, food preferences), and with environment (e.g. food composition, its availability, size of food ration, concentration of bio-available metal fractions in food and water, interaction between metals) (PENTREATH 1973, YOUNG 1977, BRYAN 1979, PHILLIPS 1979, GEORGE 1980, LUOMA et al. 1992, REINFELDER & FISHER 1994, ABSIL et al. 1996, SMITH et al. 1996). Some authors maintain that the main source of metals for molluscs is their uptake from water solution (e.g. ABBE & SANDERS 1990, REED-JUDKINS et al. 1998). Phosphorus is assimilated by molluscs mainly from food, but some studies indicate a possibility of its uptake in ionic form (e.g. SOLOMATINA 1981).

The higher level of phosphorus in mollusc tissues, compared to its concentration in potential food observed in this study, as well as high (but lower than in molluscs) phosphorus content in mollusc- and fish-feeding fish may indicate species-specificity of phosphorus requirements and accumulation. This is confirmed by significant differences in phosphorus concentration between the studied mollusc species.

Lower (or similar) concentrations of the analysed metals in bivalve tissues, compared to their level in floc might have a variety of reasons, among others small proportion of food in accumulation of heavy metals in spite of high proportion of plankton in the suspension (up to 60% according to KAJAK 1990). According to some authors metals passively taken up by algae may be bound by them in inactive form, unavailable to bivalves (e.g. AMIARD 1988, CONELL et al. 1991, PAWLIK-SKO-WROŃSKA 2002). The factor limiting assimilation of metals from seston in the Zegrzyński Reservoir might be high concentrations of suspension during summer (up to 48 mg dm⁻³, own data) and consequent greater food ration and shorter gut passage (e.g. RODITI & FISHER 1999). Limited assimilaton of metals from food seems to be confirmed by significantly lower or comparable levels of these elements in freshly sedimented suspension (and seston), compared to mollusc faeces (t test, p<0.05). Author's own earlier studies (JURKIEWICZ--KARNKOWSKA 2000) indicate a relatively strong correlation between the level of metals in bivalves, especially D. polymorpha, and in water. The dependences may suggest a significant assimilation of dissolved forms of metals. Exceptionally high concentrations of Mn and Fe in unionid tissues seem to be characteristic of these bivalves, as indicated also by the author's earlier studies (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA & KRÓLAK 1999, 2000, 2003).

Significantly higher (in most cases) Cu concentrations (in some cases Zn level) in tissues of the studied snails, compared to plant material they consume, may result, among others, from active accumulation of these elements according to metabolic requirements. They may be also associated with the inability to regulate their level in organism or with sources of these metals other than food. Studies of some authors (e.g. AMIARD-TRIQUET et al. 1987, DALLINGER 1993, GRUNDACKER 2000) indicate more limited possibilities of regulation of metal level in snail tissues, compared to bivalves, though e.g. LANGSTON et al. (1998 and references contained therein) advocate an opposite view. Clearly higher Cu concentration in snail tissues, compared to bivalves, observed in this study, confirms the results of GRUNDACKER (2000) and may testify to inter-specific differences in regulation capability. Correlation between the level of heavy metals in snails and in their potential food, especially clear in the case of non-essential metals (JURKIEWICZ--KARNKOWSKA 2000), seems to confirm the significance of the trophic pathway in accumulation of these elements. However, values of metal concentration in snail faeces, in most cases higher than in plant material, may indicate a limited assimilation of these elements from food. Limitation of metal uptake through alimentary tract may result from e.g. their binding by glycoproteins (e.g. CONRAD et al. 1991, ELANGOVAN et al. 1997), shorter passage time associated with high food rations (e.g. RODITI & FISHER 1999, MUNGER & HARE 2000) or interaction between metals (VIARENGO & NOTT 1993).

As demonstrated in some studies (among others LANGSTON et al. 1998), metal load in species from higher trophic levels is mainly of trophic origin, and most metals are deposited in the digestive gland. Relatively high metal concentrations in fish liver, compared to the level in muscles (JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOW-SKA 2001c), may indicate a significant proportion of trophic pathway in accumulation of these elements, though on the other hand high concentrations in the liver are also associated with the role of this organ in organism detoxication, irrespective from the source of metal. In spite of participation of soluble forms of metals in fish contamination, food – characterised by higher metal concentration compared to water - is always an important metal source (DALLINGER & KAUTZKY 1985). In fish both ways of metal accumulation are regarded as significant (KUMADA et al. 1973, DALLINGER et al. 1987), but metal content in food must exceed a certain threshold value before the metal is absorbed (JACOBS 1978, MURAI et al. 1981). Accumulation of metals from food by fish may be influenced by feeding frequency, food rations, food quality, interactions with metals taken up from water etc.

Decrease in metal concentration at higher trophic levels, observed in the studied food chains, in most cases confirms results of numerous other studies, namely that metals are concentrated to the greatest extent by primary producers or by the first two links of short food chains, but never in small or large fish (BRYAN 1979, HODSON 1980, BAUDO 1985, PRAHALAD & SEENAYYA 1986, DALLINGER et al. 1987, DEVI et al. 1996, NOTT 1998, BLANCHARD et al. 1999, MASON et al. 2000, CHEN et al. 2000). The reason is a limited availability of metals resulting from ligand binding and compartmentalisation. Only metals associated with soluble fraction of the prey are available to higher trophic levels (e.g. WALLACE & LOPEZ 1996). Forms bound as insoluble phosphates and sulphur compounds are unavailable to predators, since they are not absorbed by alimentary tract, and thus not transferred along food chains. Molluscs may bind excess of heavy metals in mineral granules which are a result of detoxication (HODSON 1980, NOTT & LANGSTON 1989, NOTT & NICOLAIDOU 1990, 1993, BURBRIDGE et al. 1996, NOTT 1998). Thus inactivated metals are, after a certain time, excreted with faeces and enrich bottom deposits. Limiting of trophic transfer of metals may be effected also through binding metals, released from digested food, by indigestible matter and excretion with faeces (HODSON 1980). Due to the mentioned processes, availability of metals contained in mollusc faeces to detritivores may be considerably limited, which would be confirmed by relatively low concentrations of these elements in tissues of chironomid larvae compared to their level in mollusc faeces.

Molluscs constitute an attractive food for many species of fish, benthophagous birds and an array of other animals (see: Introduction). In the Zegrzyński Reservoir they are the main food of roach; they constitute up to 100% food of individuals over 15 cm long (TERLECKI et al. 1990). Remains of shells of *V. viviparus, Valvata piscinalis, Bithynia tentaculata, Sphaerium* sp., *D. polymorpha* and also unionids were found in alimentary tracts of roach (own, unpublished data). Other fish species dominant in the reservoir (bream, white bream) also feed on molluscs, though to a lesser extent (TADAJEWSKA 1993).

Metals contained in granules consumed with mollusc tissues and in shells are unavailable to fish, which may be an important reason for the lower metal concentrations in fish muscles (often also in liver; JURKIE-WICZ-KARNKOWSKA 2001c), compared to the level found in prey. Besides, fish were shown (e.g. SMITH et al. 1996) to control the uptake and elimination of heavy metals more effectively, compared to invertebrates. Probably, they reject considerable quantities of consumed metals (HAMDY & PRABHU 1979, TARIFE-NO-SILVA et al. 1982).

The role of molluscs in the transfer of heavy metals is complex. As a rule, they exploit more than one food source (especially snails), and the composition of their diet is varied. Molluscs may also assimilate heavy metals directly from water solution and transfer them to food chains. Because of limited bio-availability of metals contained in mollusc tissues, caused by ligand binding and compartmentalisation, a considerable part of these elements is unavailable to either molluscs or predators. A similar phenomenon is observed in e.g. detritus chain, where the food source is mollusc faeces. In ecosystems of rather slight heavy metal pollution molluscs, in spite of a certain accumu-



lation of these elements in their tissues and increased concentrations in the faeces, constitute no threat to

mollusc-feeding predators, detritus-feeders or higher trophic levels.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The studied reservoirs have a rich malacofauna, like an array of other lowland eutrophic dam lakes of the temperate zone. Higher mollusc species richness is observed in conditions of higher proportion of the former river bed in the total area of the reservoir, and quicker water exchange, though always more numerous species are found in the zone of flooded land. In the zone of former river beds, where the effect of the river on the reservoir is greater, the proportion of widespread species is higher. There is a certain distinctness in the dominance structure of the malacofauna in the former river bed and the flooded land, which persists even in mature reservoirs. This may be associated mainly with the effect of hydrological regime and changes in the structure of bottom deposits and distribution of various kinds of sediments. Mean values of mollusc densities in the studied reservoirs are the highest in conditions of the greatest effect of the river on the reservoir. Differences in abundance of malacofauna of the studied reservoirs become clearer when the zones of former river beds are compared. This may be associated with the favourable effect of flow, among others, improved oxygen conditions above the bottom and continuous food supply, especially for filtrationists and detritus-feeders.

Long-term changes in the malacocoenoses are more distinct in the zone of flooded land, compared to the former river beds. In reservoirs of advanced development (middle-aged), malacocoenoses are subject to factors associated mainly with the reservoir's ageing and eutrophication, whose effects are more obvious in flooded land areas, especially in habitats of the slowest water exchange. However, even at that development stage there may occur considerable changes resulting from large disturbance by physical (especially hydrological) factors which cause reversal of malacocoenoses to earlier stages of succession. Significant changes in the structure of malacocoenoses may take place also as a result of invasion by *D. polymorpha*.

Distribution and temporal changes in malacocoenoses affect their significance in the functioning of the reservoir ecosystem. Filtration potential and intensity of production of faeces which enrich bottom deposits (and excretion) depend not only on the density of molluscs but also on the dominance structure. An efficient filtrationist -D. *polymorpha* - tends to be more abundant outside the zone of former river beds. The bivalve may have a great effect on the water quality in the shallows, especially that water exchange there is much slower. A much smaller effect can be expected from e.g. abundant occurrence of small sphaeriids in the former river bed, both because of their low filtration efficiency and the fast water exchange in the current. In older reservoirs, especially of higher trophic status, often more efficient filtrationists dominate, when their occurrence is not limited by other factors. Snails produce more faeces than bivalves, but their food is derived from the water column to a lesser extent than bivalve food, and thus their significance is more local.

As a result of inter-specific differences in concentration of phosphorus and heavy metals in molluscs, not only biomass but also structure of malacocoenoses influence the quantity of accumulated elements. These quantities in the Zegrzyński Reservoir constitute only from 1 to several per cent compared to their retention in the reservoir or their content in bottom deposits. A large part of these elements is, however, accumulated in shells because of their high proportion in the total mollusc mass, and thus excluded from circulation. Phosphorus cycling, and to an even greater extent metal circulation through malacocoenoses many times exceed the quantity of these elements accumulated in mollusc tissues and shells.

Phosphorus and heavy metals assimilated by molluscs are subject to trophic transfer. A part of metals, as a result of detoxication and isolation mechanisms, are excluded from circulation due to which there is a decrease tendency in their concentration at higher trophic levels. Phosphorus does not conform to these regularities. It appears that participation of trophic pathway in transfer of heavy metals is rather small (greater for phosphorus), much lower than quantities of these elements contained in molluscs, since the part of them contained in shells and mineral granules in tissues is biologically unavailable to potential consumers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to the following persons: my colleagues from the Department of Ecology and Environmental Protection, University of Podlasie in Siedlce, for their comments and advice during preparation of this work, to ELIGIUSZ PIECZYŃSKI, associate professor, for his valuable editorial remarks and to BEATA M. POKRYSZKO, associate professor, for editorial work.

REFERENCES

- ABAKUMOV V. A., BRECHOVSKICH V. F., VISNEVSKAYA G. H., OBRIDKO S. V. 2000. Mnogoletniye izmeneniya kharakteristik biocenoza Ivankovskogo vodokhranilishcha. Vodnye Resursy 27: 344–356.
- ABBE G. R., SANDERS J. G. 1990. Pathways of silver uptake and accumulation by the American oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*) in Chesapeake Bay. Estuarine and Coastal Shelf Science 31: 113–123.
- ABRASZEWSKA-KOWALCZYK A. 2002. Unionid bivalves of the Pilica River catchment area. Folia Malacol. 10: 99–173.
- ABRASZEWSKA-KOWALCZYK A., JOBCZYK I., PAZERA E. 1999. Inwazja racicznicy zmiennej *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pallas, 1771) w Zbiorniku Sulejowskim i w dolnym biegu Pilicy. XV Krajowe Seminarium Malakologiczne Łódź 23–25 IX 1999, Łódź: 3–5.
- ABSIL M. C. P., BERNTSSEN M., GERRINGA L. J. A. 1996. The influence of sediment, food and organic ligands on the uptake of copper by sediment-dwelling bivalves. Aquat. Toxicol. 34: 13–29.
- ACKERMAN J. D. 1999. Effect of velocity on the filter feeding of dreissenid mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha* and *Dreissena bugensis*): implications for trophic dynamics. Can J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56: 1551–1561.
- ALDRIDGE D. W. 1983. Physiological ecology of freshwater prosobranchs. In: The Mollusca. Vol. 6. Ecology. (RUS-SEL-HUNTER W. D., ed.), pp. 329–358, Academic Press, New York.
- ALDRIDGE D. W., PAYNE B. S., MILLER A. C. 1987. The effects of intermittent exposure to suspended solids and turbulence on three species of freshwater mussels. Environ. Pollut. 45: 17–28.
- ALIMOV A. F. 1965. Filtratsionnaya sposobnost mollyuskov roda *Sphaerium* (Scopoli). Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 164: 195–197.
- ALIMOV A. F. 1969. Nekotorye obshchye zakonomyernosti processa filtratsiy u dvustvorchatykh mollyuskov. Zh. Obshch. Biol. 30: 621–631.
- ALIMOV A. F. 1981. Functional ecology of freshwater bivalve molluscs. Tr. Zool. Inst. AN SSSR 96: 1–248.
- ALIMOV A. F., BULON 1972. Filtratsyonnaya aktivnost mollyuskov Sphaerium suecicum Clessin pri raznykh kontsentratsyakh vzveshennykh veshchestv. Zh. Obshch. Biol. 33: 1: 97–104.
- AMIARD J. C. 1988. Les mécanismes de transfert des éléments métaliques dans les chaines alimentaires aboutissant a l'huitre et a la moule, mollusques filteurs; formes chimiques de stockage, conséquences écotoxicologiques. Océanis 14: 283–287.
- AMIARD-TRIQUET C., METAYER C., AMIARD J. C., BERTHET B. 1987. L'Ecotoxicologie de quatre metaux (Cd, Pb, Cu, Zn) chez des algues et des mollusques gastéropodes brouteurs. Water Soil Air Pollut. 34: 11–30.
- ANDERSEN J. M. 1974. Nitrogen and phosphorus budgets and the role of sediments in six shallow Danish lakes. Arch. Hydrobiol. 74: 528–550.
- ANDERSEN F. O., RING P. 1999. Comparison of phosphorus release from littoral and profundal sediments in a shallow, eutrophic lake. Hydrobiologia 408/409: 175–183.

- ARMITAGE P. D. 1977. Development of the macroinvertebrate fauna of Cow Green Reservoir (Upper Teesdale) in the first five years of its existence. Freshwater Biol. 7: 441–454.
- ARNOTT D. L., VANNI M. J. 1996. Nitrogen and phosphorus recycling by the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in the western basin of Lake Erie. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53: 646–659.
- BACHMANN V., USSEGLIO-POLATERA 1999. Contribution of the macrobenthic compartment to the oxygen budget of a large regulated river: the Mosel. Hydrobiologia 410: 39–46.
- BAKANOV A. I., MITROPOLSKIY V. I. 1982. Kolichestvyennaya kharakteristika bentosa Rybinskogo vodokhranilishcha za 1941–1978 gg. In: Ekologicheskiye isslyedovania vodoyomov Volgo-Baltiyskoy i Severo-Dvinskoy vodnykh sistem, Leningrad.
- BAKER S. M., HORNBACH D. J. 1997. Acute physiological effects of zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) infestation on two unionid mussels, *Actinonaias ligamentina* and *Amblema plicata*. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 54: 512–519.
- BALDWIN B. S., MAYER M. S., DAYTON J., PAU N., MENDILLA J., SULLIVAN M., MOORE A., MA A., MILLS E. L. 2002. Comparative growth and feeding in zebra and quagga mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha* and *Dreissena bugensis*): implications for North American lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 59: 680–694.
- BALOGH K. 1988. Comparison of mussels and crustacean plankton to monitor heavy metal pollution. Water Air Soil Pollut. 37: 281–292.
- BAUDO R. 1985. Transfer of trace elements along the aquatic food chain. Mem. Ist. Ital. Idrobiol. 43: 281–309.
- BAXTER R. M. 1977. Environmental effects of dams and impoundments. Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 8: 255–283.
- BEDULLI D., FRANCHINI D. 1978. *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pallas): primi rinvenimenti nel fiume Po e predazione su di essa da parte di *Rattus norvegicus* (Berk.). Quad. Civ. Staz. Idrobiol. Milano 6: 85–92.
- BIALLY A., MACISAAC H. J. 2000. Fouling mussels (*Dreissena spp.*) colonize soft sediments in Lake Erie and facilitate benthic invertebrates. Freshwater Biol. 43: 85–97.
- BIAS R., KARBE L. 1985. Bioaccumulation and partitioning of cadmium within the freshwater mussel *Dreissena polymorpha* Pallas. Int. Rev. Ges. Hydrobiol. 70: 113–125.
- BIJOK P. 1984. Feeding and detritus formation by *Lymnaea* stagnalis (L.) under laboratory conditions. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 31: 55–68.
- BIRGER T. I., MALAREVSKAYA A. Y., ARSAN O. M., SOLOMATI-NA V. D., GUPALO Y. M. 1978. Physiological aspects of adaptations of mollusks to abiotic and biotic factors due to blue-green algae. Malacol. Rev. 11: 100–101.
- BLANCHARD M., TEIL M. J., CARRU A. M., GARBAN B., OL-LIVON D., CHESTERIKOFF A., CHEVREUIL M. 1999. Biota contamination by PCBs and trace metals in the freshwater estuary of the River Seine (France). Hydrobiologia 400: 149–154.
- BORODICH N. D., LYAKHOV S. M. 1983. Zoobentos. In: Kuybyshevskoe vodochranilishche (MONAKOV A. V., ed.), Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 51: 131–148.

- BOUDREAU B. P. 1998. Mean mixed depth of sediments: The wherefore and why. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43: 524–526.
- BOUQUEGNEAN J. M., NOEL-LAMBOT F., DISTECHE A. 1979. Fate of heavy metals in experimental aquatic food chains. Uptake and release of Hg and Cd by some marine organisms. Role of metallothioneins. Int. Counc. Explor. Sea, Ser. E 58: 1–9.
- BOYDEN C. R. 1974. Trace element content and body size in molluscs. Nature 251: 311–314.
- BOYDEN C. R. 1977. Effect of size upon metal content of shell fish. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U. K. 57: 675–714.
- BREKHOVSKIKH V. F., KOCHARYAN A. G., SAFRONOVA K. I. 2002. Vliyaniye izmeneniya antropogennoy nagruzki na gidrokhimicheskiy i gidrobiologicheskiy rezhimy Ivankovskogo Vodokhranilishcha. Vodnye Resursy 29: 85–91.
- BRENDELBERGER H. 1997. Contrasting feeding strategies of two freshwater gastropods, *Radix peregra* (Lymnaeidae) and *Bithynia tentaculata* (Bithyniidae). Arch. Hydrobiol. 140: 1–21.
- BROOKS R. R., RUMSBY M. G. 1965. The biogeochemistry of trace elemental uptake by some New Zealand bivalves. Limnol. Oceanogr. 10: 521–528.
- BRUNER K. A., FISHER S. W., LANDRUM P. F. 1994. The role of the zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha*, in contaminant cycling: II. Zebra mussel contaminant accumulation from algae and suspended particles, and transfer to the benthic invertebrate, *Gammarus fasciatus*. J. Great Lakes Res. 20: 735–750.
- BRYAN G. W. 1979. Bioaccumulation of marine pollutants. Phil. Trans. Royal Soc. London. B 286: 483–505.
- BUBIEŃ M. 1989. Changes of the Bug and Narew phytoplankton in the Zegrzyński Reservoir. Ekol. Pol. 37: 235–250.
- BUDZYŃSKA H., ROMANISZYN W., ROMAŃSKI I., RUBISZ A., STANGENBERG K. 1956. The growth and summer food of the economically most inportant fishes of the Gopło Lake. Zool. Polon. 1: 63–120.
- BURBRIDGE F. J., MACEY D. J., WEBB J. 1996. Structure and composition of metal-containing granules in the kidney of the mussel, *Mytilus edulis*. Bull. Inst. Oceanogr. Monaco, spécial, 14: 215–223.
- BUSCH D. 1991. Entwicklung und Erprobung von Methoden für einen Einsatz der Süßwassermuschel *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pallas) für ein Biomonitoring von Schwermetallen im Ökosystem Weser. Ph. D. Dissertation, Universität Bremen.
- BUTORIN N. V. (ed.) 1978a. Volga i eyo zhizn. Nauka, Leningrad.
- BUTORIN N. V. (ed.) 1978b. Ivankovskoye vodokhranilishche i ego zhizn. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 34: 1–304.
- CHAPMAN P. M., ALLEN H. E., GODTFREDSEN K., Z'GRAGGEN M. N. 1996. Evaluation of bioaccumulation factors in regulating metals. Environ. Sci. Technol. 30: 448A–452A.
- CHAPMAN P. M., WANG F., JANSSEN C., PERSOONE G., ALLEN H. E. 1998. Ecotoxicology of metals in aquatic sediments: binding and release, bioavailability, risk assessment, and remediation. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 55: 2221–2243.

- CHEN C. Y., STEMBERGER R. S., KLAUE B., BLUM J. D., PICKHARDT P. C., FOLT C. I. 2000. Accumulation of heavy metals in food web components across a gradient of lakes. Limnol. Oceanogr. 45: 1525–1536.
- CIKHON-LUKANINA E. A. 1961a. K voprosu o filtratsyonnom sposobye pitaniya u *Bithynia tentaculata* (L.) i *Valvata piscinalis* (Müller) (Gastropoda, Prosobranchia). Biul. Inst. Biol. Vodokhr. AN SSSR 10: 28–30.
- CIKHON-LUKANINA E. A. 1961b. Zavisimost skorostiey pitaniya i filtratsyi u nekotorykh presnovodnykh bryukhonogikh mollyuskov ot kontsentratsyi pishchevykh chastits v sryede. Biul. Inst. Biol. Vodokhr. AN SSSR 10: 31–34.
- CLEVEN E. J., FRENZEL P. 1993. Population dynamics of *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pallas) in River Seerhein, the outlet of Lake Constance (Obersee). Arch. Hydrobiol. 127: 395–407.
- CONNELL D. B., SANDERS J. G., RIEDEL G. F., ABBE G. R. 1991. Pathways of silver uptake and trophic transfer in estuarine organisms. Environ. Sci. Technol. 25: 921–924.
- COBB S. E., WATZIN M. C. 2002. Zebra mussel colonies and yellow perch foraging: spatial complexity, refuges, and resource enhancement. J. Great Lakes Res. 28: 256–263.
- CONRAD M. E., UMBREIT J. N., MOORE E. G. 1991. A role for mucin in the absorption of inorganic iron and other metals. Gastroenterology 100: 129–136.
- COOPER CH. M., KNIGHT L. A. 1985. Macrobenthos-sediment relationships in Ross Barnett Reservoir, Mississippi. Hydrobiologia 126: 193–197.
- DALLINGER R. 1993. Strategies of metal detoxification in terrestrial invertebrates. In: Ecotoxicology of Metals in Invertebrates (SETAC Special Publications) (DALLINGER R., RAINBOW P., eds), pp. 245–289, Lewis, Chelsea.
- DALLINGER R., KAUTZKY H. 1985. The importance of contaminated food for the uptake of heavy metals by rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*): A field study. Oecologia (Berlin) 67: 82–89.
- DALLINGER R., PROSI F., SEGNER H., BACK H. 1987. Contaminated food and uptake of heavy metals by fish: a review and a proposal for further research. Oecologia 73: 91–98.
- DAUBA F., LEK S., MASTRORILLO S., COPP G. H. 1997. Long-term recovery of macrobenthos and fish assemblages after water pollution abatement measures in the river Petite Baise (France). Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 33: 277–285.
- DAVIES M. S., HATCHER A. M. 1999. Limpet mucus as a depuration route and potential biomonitor. Ecotoxicology 8: 177–187.
- DENISOVA A. I., LEVITSKAYA N. V., SIDORENKO V. M. 1985. Sravnitelnaya kharakteristika gidrokhimicheskogo rezhima myelkovodiy i glubokovodnykh zon dneprovskikh vodokhranilishch. Gidrobiol. Zh. 21: 57–64.
- DERMOTT R., MITCHELL J., MURRAY I., FEAR E. 1993. Biomass and production zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in shallow waters of northeastern Lake Erie. In: Zebra Mussels. Biology, impacts, and control (NALEPA T. F., SCHLOESSER D. W., eds), pp. 399–413, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Ann Arbor, London, Tokyo.

- DERMOTT R., KEREC D. 1997. Changes to the deepwater benthos of eastern Lake Erie since the invasion of *Dreissena*: 1979–1993. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 54: 922–930.
- DEVI M., THOMAS D. A., BARBER J. T., FINGERMAN M. 1996. Accumulation and physiological and biochemical effects of cadmium in a simple aquatic food chain. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety 33: 38–43.
- DOBSON E. P., MACKIE G. L. 1998. Increased deposition of organic matter, polichlorinated biphenyls, and cadmium by zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in western Lake Erie. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 55: 1131–1139.
- DORGELO J. 1993. Growth and population structure of the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in Dutch lakes differing in trophic state. In: Zebra Mussels: Biology, Impacts, and Control (NALEPA T. F., SCHLOESSER D. W., eds), pp. 79–94, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Ann Arbor, London, Tokyo.
- DUBNYAK S. S. 1997. Issledovaniye techeniy na melkovodyakh dneprovskikh vodokhranilishch. Gidrobiol. Zh. 33: 101–105.
- DURAS J., HEJZLAR J. 2001. The effect of outflow depth on phosphorus retention in a small, hypertrophic temperate reservoir with short hydraulic residence time. Internat. Rev. Hydrobiol. 86: 585–601.
- DUSOGE K. 1966. Composition and interrelations between macrofauna living on stones in the littoral of Mikołajskie Lake. Ekol. Pol. 39: 755–762.
- DUSOGE K. 1989. Distribution and structure of benthos in the lowland Zegrzyński Reservoir. Ekol. Pol. 37: 281–298.
- DUSOGE K., BOWNIK-DYLIŃSKA L., EJSMONT-KARABIN J., SPODNIEWSKA I., WĘGLEŃSKA T. 1985. Plankton and benthos of man-made Lake Zegrzyński. Ekol. Pol. 33: 455–479.
- DUSOGE K., LEWANDOWSKI K., STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1990. Liczebność i biomasa fauny dennej w różnych środowiskach Zbiornika Zegrzyńskiego. In: Funkcjonowanie ekosystemów wodnych, ich ochrona i rekultywacja. I. Ekologia zbiorników zaporowych i rzek (KAJAK Z., ed.), pp. 57–85, SGGW-AR, Warszawa.
- DUSOGE K., LEWANDOWSKI K., STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1999. Benthos of various habitats in the Zegrzyński Reservoir (central Poland). Acta Hydrobiol. 41: 103–116.
- DUSSART B. H., LAGLER K. F., LARKIN P. A., SCUDDER T., SZE-STAY K., WHITE G. F. 1972. Man-made lakes as modified ecosystems. SCOPE Report 2, International Council of Scientific Unions, Paris.
- EFFLER S. W., BROOKS C. M., WHITEHEAD K., WAGNER B., DOERR S. M., PERKINS M. G., SIEFRIED C. A., WOLRATH L., CANOLE R. P. 1996. Impact of zebra mussel invasion on water quality. Water Environ. Res. 68: 205–214.
- EFFORD I. E., TSUMURA K. 1973. Uptake of dissolved glucose and glycine by *Pisidium*, a freshwater bivalve. Can. J. Zool. 51: 825–832.
- EJSMONT-KARABIN J., WĘGLEŃSKA T. 1989. Densities, structure and the role of zooplankton in phosphorus cycling in limnetic and lotic parts of Zegrzyński Reservoir. Ekol. Pol. 37: 251–280.
- ELANGOVAN R., WHITE K. N., MCCROHAN C. R. 1997. Bioaccumulation of aluminium in the freshwater snail *Lymnaea stagnalis* at neutral pH. Environ. Pollut. 96: 29–33.

- FANSLOW D. L., NALEPA T. F., LANG G. A. 1995. Filtration rates of the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) on natural seston from Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron. J. Great Lakes Res. 21: 489–500.
- FERRARIS C., WILHM J. 1977. Distribution of benthic macroinvertebrates in an artificially destratified reservoir. Hydrobiologia 54: 169–176.
- FISHER S. W., GOSSIAUX D. C., BRUNER K. A., LANDRUM P. F. 1993. Preliminary investigations of the toxicokinetics of hydrophobic contaminants in the zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha* Pallas. In: Zebra Mussels. Biology, impacts, and control (T. F. NALEPA, D. W. SCHLOESSER, eds), pp. 465–490, Lewis, Boca Raton, Ann Arbor, London, Tokyo.
- FOSTER-SMITH R. L. 1975. The effect of concentration of suspension on the filtration rates and pseudofecal production for *Mytilus edulis* L., *Cerastoderma edule* (L.) and *Venerupis pullastra* (Montagu). J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 17: 1–22.
- FRECHETTE M., BUTMAN C. A., GEYER W. G. 1989. The importance of boundary-layer flows in supplying phytoplankton to the benthic suspension feeder, *Mytilus edulis* L. Limnol. Oceanogr. 34: 19–36.
- FRENCH J. R. P III, MORGAN M. N. 1995. Preference of redear sunfish on zebra mussels and rams-horn snails. J. Freshwater Ecol. 10: 49–55.
- FRENCH J. R. P. III, BUR M. T. 1996. The effect of zebra mussel consumption on growth of freshwater drum in Lake Erie. J. Freshwater Ecol. 11: 283–289.
- FRETTER V., GRAHAM A. 1962. British Prosobranch Molluscs. Ray Society, London.
- FRETTER V., PEAKE J. 1978. Pulmonates. 2A. Systematics, Evolution and Ecology. Academic Press, New York.
- GAK D. Z., GURVICH V. V., KORELYAKOVA L. E., KOSTIKOVA L.
 E., KONSTANTINOVA N. A., OLIVARI G. A., PRIMACHENKO
 A. D., TSEEB Y. YA., VLADIMIROVA K. S., ZIMBALEVSKAYA L.
 N. 1972. Productivity of aquatic organism communities of different trophic levels in Kiev Reservoir. In: Productivity problems of freshwaters. Preceedings of the IBP UNESCO Symposium, Kazimierz Dolny, Poland, (HILL-BRICHT-ILKOWSKA A., KAJAK Z., eds), pp. 447–455, PWN, Warszawa–Kraków.
- GALICKA W. 1990. Bilans azotu i fosforu całkowitego Zbiornika Sulejowskiego w latach 1981–1987. In: Funkcjonowanie ekosystemów wodnych, ich ochrona i rekultywacja. I. Ekologia zbiorników zaporowych i rzek (KAJAK Z., ed.), pp. 238–245, SGGW-AR, Warszawa.
- GALICKA W. 1999. Present and prospective feeding of the Sulejów Reservoir (central Poland) with nutrients. Acta Hydrobiol. 41, Suppl. 6: 83–90.
- GALICKA W., PENCZAK T. 1989. Total nitrogen and phosphorus budgets in the lowland Sulejów Reservoir. Arch. Hydrobiol. 117: 177–190.
- GALICKA W., DROŻDŻYK A. 1996. Estimates of water quality in the Sulejów Reservoir and its affluents. Acta Univ. Lodz., Folia limnol. 6: 33–45.
- GARDNER W. S., CAVALETTO J. F., JOHENGEN T. H., JOHNSON J. R., HEATH R. T., COTNER J. B. 1995. Effects of the zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha*, on community nitrogen dynamics in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron. J. Great Lakes Res. 21: 529–544.

- GEORGE S. G. 1980. Correlation of metal accumulation in mussels with the mechanisms of uptake, metabolism and detoxification: a review. Thalassia Jugoslavica 16: 347–365.
- GERASIMOV YU. V., PODDUBNYI S. A. 1999. Rol gidrologicheskogo rezhima v formirovanii skopleniy ryb na myelkovodyakh ravninnykh vodochranilishch. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod RAN, Jaroslavl, 171 pp.
- GIERCUSZKIEWICZ-BAJTLIK M. 1992. Program ochrony Zbiornika Sulejowskiego. Gospodarka Wodna 9: 208–213.
- GILLIS P. L., MACKIE G. L. 1994. Impact of the zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha*, on populations of Unionidae (Bivalvia) in Lake St. Clair. Can. J. Zool. 72: 1260–1271.
- GIZIŃSKI A., WOLNOMIEJSKI N. 1966. Bottom fauna of the dam reservoir near Koronowo during the first years after its flooding up. Zesz. Nauk. UMK w Toruniu, Nauki Mat.-Przyr. 13: 117–128.
- GIZIŃSKI A., WOLNOMIEJSKI N. 1982. Zoobenthos of Koronowo Dam Reservoir in its 10th and 15th year of existence. AUNC, Limnol. Papers 13: 35–50.
- GIZIŃSKI A., BŁĘDZKI L. A., KENTZER A., WIŚNIEWSKI R., ŻYT-KOWICZ R. 1989. Hydrobiological characteristics of the lowland, rheolimnic Włocławek Reservoir on the Vistula River. Ekol. Pol. 37: 359–403.
- GLAZIK R. 1976. Niektóre cechy hydrologiczne zbiornika włocławskiego i jego wpływ na reżim wód Wisły. Gospodarka Wodna 6: 170–175.
- GŁODEK J. 1985. Jeziora zaporowe świata. PWN, Warszawa.
- GONG Z., XIE P. 2001. Impact of eutrophication on biodiversity of the macrozoobenthos community in a Chinese shallow lake. J. Freshwater Ecol. 16: 171–178.
- GONZÁLEZ M. J., DOWNING A. 1999. Mechanisms underlying amphipod responses to zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) invasion and implications for fish-amphipod interactions. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56: 679–685.
- GÓRNIAKA. 1996. Substancje humusowe i ich rola w funkcjonowaniu ekosystemów słodkowodnych. Rozprawy Filii Uniwersytetu Warszawskiego w Białymstoku, Białystok.
- GÓRNIAK A., GRABOWSKA M. 1996. Limnology of the Siemianówka Dam Reservoir (Eastern Poland). 3. Formation of phytoplankton communities in the first years after filling. Acta Hydrobiol. 38: 99–108.
- GÓRNIAK A., JEKATIERYNCZUK-RUDCZYK E. 1995a. Limnology of the Siemianówka dam reservoir (eastern Poland). 1. Environmental conditions. Acta Hydrobiol. 37: 1–9.
- GÓRNIAK A., JEKATIERYNCZUK-RUDCZYK E. 1995b. Limnology of the Siemianówka dam reservoir (eastern Poland).
 2. Seasonal and horizontal differentiation of water chemistry. Acta Hydrobiol. 37: 11–20.
- GÓRNIAK A., PIEKARSKI M. K. 1999. Hydrologiczne aspekty funkcjonowania zbiornika Siemianówka na górnej Narwi. Gospodarka Wodna 2: 52–55.
- GÓRNIAK A., ZIELIŃSKI P., GRABOWSKA M., JEKATIERYN-CZUK-RUDCZYK E. 1999. Jakość wód zbiornika Siemianówka na górnej Narwi w siódmym roku funkcjonowania. Gospodarka Wodna 7: 258–261.
- GREENWOOD K. S., THORP J. H., SUMMERS R. B., GUELDA D. L. 2001. Effects of the exotic bivalve mollusc on benthic

invertebrates and food quality in the Ohio River. Hydrobiologia 462: 169–172.

- GRIFFITHS R. W. 1993. Effects of zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) on benthic fauna of Lake St. Clair In: Zebra Mussels. Biology, impacts, and control (NALEPA T. F., SCHLOESSER D. W., eds), pp. 415–437, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Ann Arbor, London, Tokyo.
- GRUNDACKER C. 2000. Comparison of heavy metal bioaccumulation in freshwater molluscs of urban river habitats in Vienna. Environ. Pollut. 110: 61–71.
- GRUŻEWSKI M. 1988. Jakościowa i ilościowa charakterystyka występowania mięczaków dennych w Zbiorniku Zegrzyńskim. Msc Thesis, WSR-P Siedlce.
- GRUŻEWSKI M. 2000. The occurrence of molluscs in the Zegrzyński Reservoir in the years 1986–1987. Acta Univ. Lodz., Folia limnol. 7: 143–161.
- HAAG W. R., BERG D. J., GARTON D. W., FARRIS J. L. 1993. Reduced survival and fitness in native bivalves in response to fouling by the introduced zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in western Lake Erie. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 50: 13–19.
- HALLAC D. M., MARSDEN J. E. 2000. Differences in tolerance to and recovery from zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) fouling by *Elliptio complanata* and *Lampsilis radiata*. Can. J. Zool. 78: 161–166.
- HAMDY M. K., PRABHU N. V. 1979. Behaviour of mercury in biosystems. III. Biotransference of mercury through food chains. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 21: 170–178.
- HAMILTON D. J., ANKNEY C. D., BAILEY R. C. 1994. Predation of zebra mussels by diving ducks: an exclosure study. Ecology 75: 521–531.
- HARMAN W. N. 1997. Otsego Lake macrobenthos communities between 1968 and 1993: Indicators of decreasing water quality. J. Freshwater Ecol. 12: 465–476.
- HARMAN W. N., FORNEY J. L. 1970. Fifty years of change in the molluscan fauna of Oneida Lake, New York. Limnol. Oceanogr. 15: 454–460.
- HEBERT P. D. N., WILSON C. C., MURDOCH M. H., LAZAR R. 1991. Demography and ecological impacts of the invading mollusc *Dreissena polymorpha*. Can. J. Zool. 69: 405–409.
- HINZ W., SCHEIL H. G. 1972. Zur Filtrationsleistung von *Dreissena, Sphaerium* und *Pisidium* (Eulamellibranchiata). Oecologia (Berlin) 11: 45–54.
- HÖCKELMANN C., PUSCH M. 2000. The respiration and filterfeeding rates of the snail *Viviparus viviparus* (Gastropoda) under simulated stream conditions. Arch. Hydrobiol. 149: 553–568.
- HODSON P. V. 1980. Why inorganic metals do not increase in concentration up to the food chain. Thalassia Jugoslavica 16: 327.
- HOLLAND R. E., JOHENGEN T. H., BEETON A. M. 1995. Trends in nutrient concentrations in Hatchery Bay, western Lake Erie, before and after *Dreissena polymorpha*. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52: 1202–1209.
- HORGAN M. J., MILLS E. L. 1997. Clearance rates and filtering activity of zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*): implications for freshwater lakes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 54: 249–255.

- HORNBACH D. J., WAY C. M., WISSING T. E., BURKY A. J. 1983. Effects of particle concentration and season on the filtration rates of the freshwater clam, *Sphaerium striatinum* Lamarck (Bivalvia: Pisidiidae). Hydrobiologia 108: 83–96.
- HORVATH T. G., MARTIN K. M., LAMBERTI G. M. 1999. Effect of zebra mussels, *Dreissena polymorpha*, on macroinvertebrates in a lake-outlet stream. Am. Midl. Nat. 142: 340–347.
- HOWELL E. T., MARVIN C. H., BAILYEA R. W., KAUSS P. B., SO-MERS K. 1996. Changes in environmental conditions during *Dreissena* colonization of a monitoring station in eastern Lake Erie. J. Great Lakes Res. 22: 744–756.
- HRUŠKA V. 1973. The changes of benthos in Slapy Reservoir in the years 1960–1961. Hydrobiol. Studies 2: 213–247.
- IDRISI N., MILLS E. L., RUDSTAM L. G., STEWART D. J. 2001. Impact of zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) on the pelagic lower trophic levels of Oneida Lake, New York. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58: 1430–1441.
- IMLAY M. J. 1982. Use of shells of freshwater mussels in monitoring heavy metals and environmental stresses: A review. Malacol. Rev. 15: 1–14.
- IZVEKOVA E. I., LVOVA-KATCHANOVA A. A. 1972. Sedimentation of suspended matter by *Dreissena polymorpha* Pallas and its subsequent utilisation by Chironomidae larvae. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 19: 203–210.
- JACOBS G. 1978. Über Aufnahme und Anreicherung von Schwermetallsalzen (Hg, Cd) aus Futtermitteln in Regenbogenforellen. I. Mitteilung. Z Tierphysiol., Tierernähr, Futtermittelkd. 40: 274–284.
- JAKUBIK B. 1998. Występowanie i znaczenie żyworódki rzecznej Viviparus viviparus (L.) w bentosie Zbiornika Zegrzyńskiego oraz dolnego biegu Narwi. Ph. D. Thesis, A. Mickiewicz University, Poznań.
- JAMES W. F., BARKO J. W., EAKIN H. L. 1997. Nutrient regeneration by the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*). J. Freshwater Ecol. 12: 209–216.
- JAMES W. F., BARKO J. W., DAVIS M., EAKIN H. L., ROGALA J. T., MILLER A. C. 2000. Filtration and excretion by zebra mussels: implications for water quality impacts in Lake Pepin, upper Mississipi River. J. Freshwater Ecol. 15: 429–437.
- JAMES W. F., BARKO J. W., EAKIN H. L. 2001. Phosphorus recycling by zebra mussels in relation to density and food resource availability. Hydrobiologia 455: 55–60.
- JAMIL A., LAJTHA K., RADAN S., RUZSA G., CRISTOFOR S., PO-STOLACHE C. 1999. Mussels as bioindicators of trace metal pollution in the Danube Delta of Romania. Hydrobiologia 392: 143–158.
- JARMILLO E., BERTRAN C., BRAVO A. 1992. Mussel biodeposition in an estuary in southern Chile. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 82: 85–94.
- JEKATIERYNCZUK-RUDCZYK E., GÓRNIAK A., ZIELIŃSKI P., DZIEMIAN J. 2002. Daily dynamics of water chemistry in a lowland polyhumic dam reservoir. Pol. J. Environ. Stud. 11: 521–526.
- JOHANSSON O. E., DERMOTT R., GRAHAM D. M., DAHL J. A., MILLARD E. S., MYLES D. D., LE BLANC J. 2000. Benthic and pelagic secondary production in Lake Erie after the invasion of *Dreissena* spp. with implications for fish production. J. Great Lakes Res. 26: 31–54.

- JOHENGEN T. H., NALEPA T. F., FAHNENSTIEL G. L., GOUDY G. 1995. Nutrient changes in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron, after the establishment of the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*). J. Great Lakes Res. 21: 449–464.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 1986. Występowanie i rola mięczaków w wybranych rzekach i zbiornikach zaporowych Niziny Mazowieckiej. Ph.D. Thesis., IE PAN, Dziekanów Leśny.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 1989a. Occurrence of molluscs in the littoral zone of the Zegrzyński Reservoir and in the pre-mouth and mouth zones of supplying rivers. Ekol. Pol. 37: 319–336.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 1989b. Accumulation of zinc and copper in molluscs from the Zegrzyński Reservoir and the Narew River. Ekol. Pol. 37: 347–357.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 1994. Mięczaki a metale ciężkie w środowiskach słodkowodnych i lądowych. Wiad. Ekol. 40: 127–141.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 1998a. Long-term changes in mollusc communities in shallow biotopes of a lowland reservoir (Zegrzyński Reservoir, central Poland). Pol. J. Ecol. 46: 43–63.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 1998b. Reakcje mięczaków na zanieczyszczenie środowisk wodnych metalami ciężkimi i możliwości ich wykorzystania w bioindykacji. Wiad. Ekol. 44: 217–234.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 1999a. Mollusc communities in a humic dam reservoir (Siemianówka, eastern Poland): diversity and abundance. Pol. J. Ecol. 47: 307–322.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 1999b. Możliwości wykorzystania wybranych gatunków mięczaków w bioindykacji skażenia metalami ciężkimi wód Zbiornika Zegrzyńskiego. Chemia Inż. Ekol. 6: 477–483.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 2000. Can molluscs be bioindicators of heavy metal contamination of the Zegrzyński Reservoir (Central Poland)? Chemia Inż. Ekol. 7: 1067–1076.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 2001a. Long-term changes and spatial variability of mollusc communities in a lowland reservoir (Zegrzyński Reservoir, Central Poland). Folia Malacol. 9: 137–147.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 2001b. Is the Zegrzyński Reservoir a trap for phosphorus and heavy metals? In: Obieg pierwiastków w przyrodzie, T. I, (GWOREK B., MOCEK A., eds.), pp. 144–150, IOŚ, Warszawa.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 2001c. Heavy metals in some short food chains in the lowland dam reservoir (Zegrzyński Reservoir, Central Poland). Ecohydrology & Hydrobiology 1: 449–456.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 2002a. Occurrence of mollusc communities in a lowland dam reservoir colonized by *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pallas) (Sulejów Reservoir, Central Poland). Pol. J. Ecol. 50: 5–16.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 2002b. Differentiation of phosphorus concentration in selected mollusc species from the Zegrzyński Reservoir (Central Poland): Implications for P accumulation in mollusc communities. Pol. J. Environ. Stud. 11: 355–359.

- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 2003. Application possibilities of snails from the genus *Lymnaea* as bioindicators of heavy metals. Ekologija (Vilnius) 2: 28–32.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E., KRÓLAK E. 1996. Heavy metal concentrations in molluscs from the Zegrzyński Reservoir and the rivers supplying it. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 43: 335–346.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E., KRÓLAK E. 1999. Interspecific differentiation of heavy metal concentrations (Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, Pb and Cd) in molluscs from the Zegrzyński Reservoir. Chemia Inż. Ekol. 6: 485–490.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E., KRÓLAK E. 2000. Heavy metal concentrations (Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, Pb, Cd) in molluscs from the Zegrzyński Reservoir (Central Poland) as compared with their levels in other elements of the ecosystem. Chemia Inż. Ekol. 7: 1189–1198.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E., KRÓLAK E. 2003. Comparative study of heavy metal concentrations in some species from the genus *Anodonta*. Ekologija (Vilnius) 2: 23–27.
- JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E., ŻBIKOWSKI J. Long-term changes and spatial variability of mollusc communities in selected habitats within dam reservoir (Włocławek Reservoir, Vistula River, Central Poland). Pol. J. Ecol. (in press).
- KAJAK Z. 1962. Przegląd piśmiennictwa dotyczącego bentosu zbiorników zaporowych w związku z budową zbiornika Dębe na Bugu i Narwi. Ekol. Pol. Ser. B 8: 3–27.
- KAJAK Z. 1990. Zegrzyński zbiornik zaporowy. Warunki środowiskowe. In: Funkcjonowanie ekosystemów wodnych, ich ochrona i rekultywacja (KAJAK Z., ed.), pp. 7–20, SGGW AR, Warszawa.
- KAJAK Z. 1991. Limnology of lowland shallow impoundment near Warsaw, Poland. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol. 24: 1344–1348.
- KAJAK Z. 1995. Hydrobiologia. Ekosystemy wód śródlądowych. Filia UW w Białymstoku, Białystok.
- KAJAK Z., DUSOGE K. 1989. Temporal and spatial diversity of trophy-indicators in a lowland dam reservoir. Ekol. Pol. 37: 211–233.
- KAJAK Z., PRUS P. 2001.What makes *Chironomus* more abundant above the bottom? Field experiments in mesocosms. Ecohydrology & Hydrobiology 1: 423–434.
- KAKAREKO T., GIZIŃSKI A. 2001. Perspektywy poprawy gospodarki rybackiej w silnie reolimnicznym, bogatym w faunę denną Zbiorniku Włocławskim. Acta Hydrobiol., Suppl. 1: 55–66.
- KANGUR K., TIMM H., TIMM T., TIMM V. 1998. Long-term changes in the macrozoobenthos of Lake Vortsjärv. Limnologica 28: 75–83.
- KASPRZAK K. 1986. Role of the Unionidae and Sphaeriidae (Mollusca, Bivalvia) in the eutrophic Lake Zbęchy and its outflow. Int. Rev. Ges. Hydrobiol. 71: 315–334.
- KENNEDY R. H. 1999. Basin-wide considerations for water quality management: importance of phosphorus retention by reservoirs. Internat. Rev. Hydrobiol. 84: 557–566.
- KENTZER A. 2000. Hydrobiology of Lower Vistula River between Wyszogród and Toruń. An assessment of the influence of the Włocławek dam on the structure and functions of the river ecosystem. Part IV: Hydrochemistry of

the Vistula between Płock and Toruń. AUNC, Limnol. Papers 21: 33–42.

- KENTZER A., GIZIŃSKI A. 1995. Bilans i dynamika nutrientów w zbiorniku Włocławskim. In: Procesy biologiczne w ochronie i rekultywacji nizinnych zbiorników zaporowych. (ZALEWSKI M., ed.), pp. 85–90, Biblioteka Monitoringu Środowiska, Łódź.
- KENTZER A., GIZIŃSKI A., MIESZCZANKIN T. 1999. Hydrochemistry of the Lower Vistula River in the section Płock-Toruń during the period 1986–1995: The influence of the Włocławek Dam Reservoir on water quality. AUNC, Limnol. Papers 20: 13–24.
- KHARCHENKO T. A., ZORINA-SAKHAROVA E. E. 2000. Konsortsiya dvustvorchatykh mollyuskov litorali ravninnogo vodokhranilishcha kak strukturno-funktsyonalnaya sovokupnost gidrobiontov. Gidrobiol. Zh. 36: 9–18.
- KILGOUR B. W., BAILEY R. C., HOWELL E. T. 2000. Factors influencing changes in the nearshore benthic community on the Canadian side of Lake Ontario. J. Great Lakes Res. 26: 272–286.
- KLERKS P. L., FRALEIGH P. C. 1997. Uptake of nickel and zinc by the zebra mussel *Dreissena polymorpha*. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 32: 191–197.
- KLERKS P. L., FRALEIGH P. C., LAWNICZAK J. E. 1996. Effects of zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) on seston levels and sediment deposition in western Lake Erie. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53: 2284–2291.
- KOŁODZIEJCZYK A. 1983. Występowanie Gastropoda w litoralu jeziornym i ich znaczenie w produkcji i przekształceniach detrytusu. Ph. D. Thesis, Warsaw University.
- KOŁODZIEJCZYK A. 1984. Occurrence of Gastropoda in the lake littoral and their role in the production and transformation of detritus: II. Ecological activity of snails. Ekol. Pol. 32: 469–492.
- KRAAK M. H. S. 1992. Ecotoxicity of metals to the freshwater mussel *Dreissena polymorpha*. Ph. D. Thesis, University of Amsterdam.
- KRAAK M. H. S., SCHOLTEN C. T. H., PEETERS W. H. M., DE KOCK W. CHR. 1991. Biomonitoring of heavy metals in the western European rivers Rhine and Meuse using the freshwater mussel *Dreissena polymorpha*. Environ. Pollut. 74: 101–114.
- KRODKIEWSKA M., STRZELEC M., SERAFIŃSKI W. 1998. Potamopyrgus antipodarum (Gray) (Gastropoda, Prosobranchia) a dangerous newcomer in malacofauna of Poland. Przegl. Zool. 42: 53–60.
- KRÓLAK E. 1997. The content of heavy metals in *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pall.) in lakes Majcz and Inulec, Masurian Lakeland. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 44: 477–486.
- KRYGER J., RIISGARD H. U. 1988. Filtration rate capacities in 6 species of European freshwater bivalves. Oecologia: 77: 34–38.
- KRZYŻANEK E. 1970. Formation of bottom fauna in the Goczałkowice dam reservoir. Acta Hydrobiol. 12: 399–421.
- KRZYŻANEK E. 1973. Bottom macrofauna of the dam reservoir at Goczałkowice in the years 1970–1975. Acta Hydrobiol. 15: 189–196.
- KRZYŻANEK E. 1976. Preliminary investigation on bivalves (Bivalvia) of the dam reservoir at Goczałkowice. Acta Hydrobiol. 18: 61–73.

- KRZYŻANEK E. 1977. Bottom macrofauna of the dam reservoir of Goczałkowice in the years 1970–1975. Acta Hydrobiol. 19: 51–57.
- KRZYŻANEK E. 1986. Development and structure of the Goczałkowice reservoir ecosystem. 14. Zoobenthos. Ekol. Pol. 34: 491–513.
- KRZYŻANEK E. 1989. The role of bivalves of the family Unionidae in the Goczałkowice Reservoir. Wszechświat 90: 57–58.
- KRZYŻANEK E. 1994. Changes in the bivalve groups (Bivalvia – Unionidae) in the Goczałkowice Reservoir (southern Poland) in the period 1983–1992. Acta Hydrobiol. 36: 103–113.
- KRZYŻANEK E., KASZA H. 1995. Formation of bottom macrofauna in the Goczałkowice Reservoir (southern Poland) against the background of changing selected physico-chemical properties of the water. Acta Hydrobiol. 37: 103–111.
- KRZYŻANEK E., KASZA H., KRZANOWSKI W, KUFLIKOWSKI T., PAJĄK G. 1986. Succession of communities in the Goczałkowice Dam Reservoir in the period 1955–1982. Arch. Hydrobiol. 106: 21–43.
- KUĆ D., STAŃCZYKOWSKA-PIOTROWSKA A. 1990. Pokarm ptaków wodnych odżywiających się bentosem na Zalewie Zegrzyńskim. In: Funkcjonowanie ekosystemów wodnych, ich ochrona i rekultywacja (KAJAK Z., ed.), pp. 7–20, SGGW AR, Warszawa.
- KUENZLER E. J. 1961. Phosphorus budget of a mussel population. Limnol. Oceanogr. 6: 400- 415.
- KUMADA H., KIMURA S., YOKOTE M., MATIDA Y. 1973. Acute and chronic toxicity, uptake and retention of cadmium in freshwater organisms. Bull. Freshwater Fish. Res. Lab. 22: 157–165.
- KURBATOVA S. A. 1998. Rol mollyuska Dreissena polymorpha (Pall.) v vodoyomye i ego vliyanye na zooplanktonnoye soobshchestvo. Biol. Vnutr. Vod 1: 39–44.
- KURDIN V. P. 1976. Osobennosti formirovaniya i raspredeleniya donnykh otlozheniy melkovodiy Rybinskogo vodokhranilishcha. In: Gidrologicheskiy rezhim pribrezhnykh melkovodiy verkhnevolzhskikh vodokhranilishch. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR, Yaroslavl, 33(36): 21–41.
- LANGSTON W. J., BEBIANNO M. J., BURT G. R. 1998. Metal handling strategies in molluscs. In: Metal metabolism in aquatic environments (LANGSTON W. J., BEBIANNO M. J., eds), pp. 219–283, Chapman & Hall, London, New York.
- LAUER T. E., MCCORNISH T. S. 2001. Impact of zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) on fingernail clams (Sphaeriidae) in extreme southern Lake Michigan. J. Great Lakes Res. 27: 230–238.
- LAURITSEN D. D., MOZLEY S. C. 1989. Nutrient excretion by the Asiatic clam *Corbicula fluminea*. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 8: 134–139.
- LA VALLE P. D., BROOKS A., LAKHAN V. Ch. 1999. Zebra mussel wastes and concentrations of heavy metals on shipwrecks in western Lake Erie. J. Great Lakes Res. 25: 330–338.
- LEI J., PAYNE B. S., WANG S. Y. 1996. Filtration dynamics of the zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha*. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53: 29–37.

- LEVINA O. V. 1993. Mollyuski iz semii Viviparidae v dneprovskikh vodokhranilishchakh. Gidrobiol. Zh. 28: 60–64.
- LEWANDOWSKI K. 1976. Unionidae as a substratum for *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pall.). Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 23: 409–420.
- LEWANDOWSKI K., GRACZYK T., STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1989. The occurrence of *Viviparus viviparus* (L.) in the Zegrzyński Reservoir. Ekol. Pol. 37: 337–346.
- LEWANDOWSKI K., STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1975. The occurrence and role of bivalves of the family Unionidae in Mikołajskie Lake. Ekol. Pol. 23: 317–334.
- LINNIK P. H. 1999. Tyazholye metalli v poverhnostnykh vodakh Ukrainy: soderzhaniye i formy migracyi. Gidrobiol. Zh. 35: 22–41.
- LOVE J., SAVINO J. F. 1993. Crayfish (Orconectes viridis) predation on zebra mussels (Dreissena polmorpha). J. Freshwater Ecol. 8: 253–258.
- LOWE R. L., PILLSBURY R. W. 1995. Shifts in benthic algal community structure and function following the appearance of zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron. J. Great Lakes Res. 21: 558–566.
- LUOMA S. N., JOHNS C., FISHER N. S., STEINBERG N. A., OREMLAND R. S., REINFELDER J. R. 1992. Determination of selenium bioavailability to a benthic bivalve from particulate and solute pathways. Environ. Sci. Technol. 26: 485–491.
- LVOVA-KATCHANOVA A. A. 1971. O roli dreisseny (Dreissena polymorpha Pall.) v procesakh samoochishcheniya vody Uchinskogo vodokhranilishcha. In: Kompleksnye issledovaniya vodoypmov, 196–203 pp., Izdat. Moskovskogo Univ. Moskva.
- MACISAAC H. J., SPRULES W. G., JOHANNSSON O. E., LEACH J. H. 1992. Filtering impacts of larval and sessile zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in western Lake Erie. Oecologia 92: 30–39.
- MACISAAC H. J., ROCHA R. 1995. Effects of suspended clay on zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) faeces and pseudofaeces production. Arch. Hydrobiol. 135: 53–64.
- MACKIE G. L., WRIGHT C. A. 1994. Ability of zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha* to biodeposit and remove phosphorus and BOD from diluted sewage sludge. Water Resources 28: 1123–1130.
- MADON S. P., SCHNEIDER D. W., STOECKEL J. A., SPARKS R. E. 1998. Effects of inorganic sediment and food concentrations on energetic processes of the zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha*: implications for growth in turbid rivers. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 55: 401–413.
- MANLY R., GEORGE W. O. 1977: The occurrence of some heavy metals in populations of the freshwater mussel *Anodonta anatina* (L.) from the River Thames. Environ. Pollut. 14: 139–154.
- MARCZEWSKI E., STEINHAUS H. 1959. O odległości systematycznej biotopów. Zastosow. matem. 4: 195–203.
- MARGALEF R.1958. Information theory in ecology. Gen. Syst. 3: 31–76.
- MARKOWSKA J. 2000. Rola racicznicy zmiennej i szczeżui pospolitej w kumulacji metali ciężkich i fosforu. Msc Thesis, Akademia Podlaska, Siedlce.

- MARTEL A. L., PATHY D. A., MADILL J. B., RENAUD C. B., DEAN S. L., KERR S. J. 2001. Decline and regional extirpation of freshwater mussels (Unionidae) in a small river system invaded by *Dreissena polymorpha*: the Rideau River, 1993–2000. Can. J. Zool. 79: 2181–2191.
- MARTYNIAK A., JERZYK M. S., ADAMEK Z. 1987. The food of bream (*Abramis brama*) in the Pierzchały Reservoir (Poland). Folia Zool. 36: 273–280.
- MASON R. P., LAPORTE J. M., ANDRES S. 2000. Factors controlling the bioaccumulation of mercury, methylmercury, arsenic, selenium, and cadmium by freshwater invertebrates and fish. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 38: 283–297.
- MAYER C. M., RUDSTAM L. G., MILLS E. L., CARDIFF S. G., BLOOM C. A. 2001. Zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*), habitat alteration, and yellow perch (*Perca flavescens*) foraging: system-wide effects and behavioural mechanisms. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58: 2459–2467.
- MCLAHLAN A. J., MCLAHLAN S. M. 1971. Benthic fauna and sediments in the newly created Lake Kariba (Central Africa). Ecology 52: 801–809.
- MIKHEYEV V. P. 1966a. Pitanye Dreysseny v prudakh i vodokhranilishchakh v zavisimosti ot uslovij sryedy. Tr. VNII prud. Ryb. Khozva 14: 169–178.
- MIKHEYEV V. P.1966b. O skorosti filtratsyi vody Dreyssenoy. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 12(15): 134–138.
- MIKHEYEV V. P. 1967. Filtratsionnoye pitanye Dreysseny. Tr. Vsesojuz. Nauch. Issled. Inst. 15: 117–129.
- MIKULSKI Z. 2001. Wzrost retencji zbiornikowej w Polsce. Gospodarka Wodna 3: 110–113.
- MIKULSKI J., ADAMCZAK B., BITTEL L., BOHR R., BRONISZ W., DONDERSKI A., GIZIŃSKI A., LUŚCIŃSKA M., REJEWSKI M., STRZELCZYK E., WOLNOMIEJSKI N., ZAWIŚLAK W., ŻYTKO-WICZ R. 1975. Basic regularities of productive processes in the Hawa Lakes and Gopło Lake from the point of view of utility values of the water. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 22: 102–122.
- MITROPOLSKIY V. I. 1966a. Zhiznennyi tsikl i pitanye Sphaerium corneum L. (Mollusca, Lamellibranchia). Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 12(15): 125–128.
- MITROPOLSKIY V. I. 1966b. O mekhanizmie filtratsyi i o pitanyi sferiid (Mollusca, Lamellibranchia). Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 12(15): 129–133.
- MITROPOLSKIY V. I., LUFEROV V. P. 1966. Raspredelenye bentosa v volzskom plyese Rybinskogo vodokhranilishcha. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 12(15): 10–15.
- MITROPOLSKIY V. I., BISEROV V. I. 1982. Mnogoletnyaya dinamika zoobentosa v Gorkovskom vodokhranilishche. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 45(48): 145–153.
- MOLLOY D. P., KARATAYEV A. Y., BURLAKOVA L. E., KURANDI-NA D. P., LARUELLE F. 1997. Natural enemies of zebra mussels: predators, parasites, and ecological competitors. Rev. Fish. Sci. 5: 27–97.
- MONAKOV A. V. 1972. Review of studies on feeding of aquatic invertebrates conducted at the Institute of Biology of Inland Waters, Academy of Sciences, USSR. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 29: 363–383.
- MONAKOV A. V. 1974. Osnovnye rezultaty issledovaniy IBVV AN SSSR po pitaniyu vodnykh bespozvonochnykh. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 25(28): 3–36.

- MONISMITH S. G., KOSEFF J. R., THOMPSON J. K., O'RIORDAN C. A., NEPF H. M. 1990. A study of model bivalve siphonal currents. Limnol. Oceanogr. 35: 680–696.
- MORDUKHAY-BOLTOVSKOY F. D. 1961. Process formirovaniya donnoy fauny v Gorkovskom i Kuybyshevskom vodokhranilishchakh.. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vodokhr. 4: 49–77.
- MORDUKHAY-BOLTOVSKOY F. D. 1971. Bentos krupnykh vodokhranilishch na Volge. In: Volga 1 (DZYUBAN N. A., ed.), pp 123-127, Oblast. tipogr. im. Myagi, Kuyjbyshev.
- MORGAN N. C. 1970. Changes in the fauna and flora of a nutrient enriched lake. Hydrobiologia 3: 545–553.
- MORTON B. 1971. Studies on the biology of *Dreissena polymorpha* Pall. V. Some aspects of filter-feeding and the effect of microorganisms upon the rate of filtration. Proc. Malac. Soc. Lond. 39: 289–301.
- MUNGER C., HARE L. 2000. Influence of ingestion rate and food types on cadmium accumulation by the aquatic insect *Chaoborus*. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57: 327–332.
- MURAI T., ANDREWS J. W., SMITH R. G., JR. 1981. Effects of dietary copper on channel catfish. Aquaculture 22: 353–357.
- NAIMO T. J. 1995. A review of the effects of heavy metals on freshwater mussels. Ecotoxicology 4: 341–362.
- NALEPA T. F. 1994. Decline of native unionid bivalves in Lake St. Clair after infestation by the zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha*. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 51: 2227–2233.
- NALEPA T. F., GARDNER W. S., MALCZYK J. M. 1991. Phosphorus cycling by mussels (Unionidae: Bivalvia) in Lake St. Clair. Hydrobiologia 219: 239–250.
- NALEPA T. F., HARTSON D. J., GOSTENIK G. W., FANSLOW D. L., LANG G. A. 1996. Changes in the freshwater mussel community of Lake St. Clair: from Unionidae to *Dreissena polymorpha* in eight years. J. Great Lakes Res. 22: 354–369.
- NALEPA T. F., HARTSON D. J., FANSLOW D. L., LANG G. A., LO-ZANO S. J. 1998. Declines in benthic macroinvertebrate populations in southern Lake Michigan, 1980–1993. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 55: 2402–2413.
- NOGES P., JÄRVET A., TUVIKENE L., NOGES T. 1998. The budgets of nitrogen and phosphorus in shallow eutrophic Lake Vortsjärv (Estonia). Hydrobiologia 363: 219–227.
- NOTT J. A. 1998. Metals and marine food chains. In: Metal metabolism in aquatic environments (LANGSTON W. J., BEBIANNO M. J., eds), pp. 390–414, Chapman & Hall, London, New York.
- NOTT J. A., LANGSTON W. J. 1989. Cadmium and the phosphate granules in *Littorina littorea*. J Mar. Biol. Ass. U. K., 69: 219–227.
- NOTT J. A., NICOLAIDOU A. 1990. Transfer of metal detoxification along marine food chains. J. Mar. Biol. Ass. U. K. 70: 905–912.
- NOTT J. A., NICOLAIDOU A. 1993. Bioreduction of zinc and manganese along a molluscan food chain. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 104A: 235–238.
- OERTEL N. 1998. Molluscs as bioindicators of heavy metals in a side-arm system of the River Danube disturbed by engineering activity. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol. 26: 2120–2124.

- OLSZEWSKI Z. 1978. Reconstruction of the size of mollusk shells in studies on the food of fish. Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci. Ser. Sci. Biol. 26: 87–91.
- OLSZEWSKI Z., MÓWIŃSKA G. 1985. Composition, particle size and organic matter content of the bottom sediments of man-made Lake Zegrzyńskie. Ekol. Pol. 33: 481–497.
- O'RIORDAN C. A., MONISMITH S. G., KOSEFF J. R. 1995. The effect of bivalve excurrent jet dynamics on mass transfer in a benthic boundary layer. Limnol. Oceanogr. 40: 330–344.
- PARDY R. L. 1980. Symbiotic algae and C incorporation in the freshwater clam, *Anodonta*. Biol. Bull. 158: 349–355.
- PARSONS T. R., BAWDEN C. A., HEATH W. A. 1973. Preliminary survey of mercury and other metals contained in animals from the Fraser River mudflats. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 30: 1014–1016.
- PATERSON C. G., FERNANDO C H. 1969. The macroinvertebrate colonisation of a small reservoir in Eastern Canada. Verh. Internat. Verein. Limnol. 17: 126–136.
- PAWLIK-SKOWROŃSKA B. 2002. Tajemnice odporności glonów i sinic na toksyczne metale ciężkie. Kosmos 51: 175–184.
- PAYNE B. S., LEI J., MILLER A. C., HUBERTZ E. D. 1995. Phenotypic variation in palp and gill size of the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) and Asian clam (*Corbicula fluminea*). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52: 1130–1134.
- PENN M. R., AUER M. T., DOERR S. M., DRISCOLL CH. T., BROOKS C. M., EFFLER S. W. 2000. Seasonality in phosphorus release rates from the sediments of a hypereutrophic lake under a matrix of pH and redox conditions. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57: 1033–1041.
- PENTREATH R. J. 1973. The accumulation from water of ⁶⁵Zn, ⁵⁴Mn, ⁵⁸Co and ⁵⁹Fe by the mussel, *Mytilus edulis*. J. Mar. Biol. Ass. U. K. 53: 127–143.
- PEROVA S. N. 1996. Sodyerzhaniye nekotorykh metallov v mollyuskakh i donnykh otlozheniakh Rybinskogo vodochranilishcha. Inf. Byul. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod 99: 35–39.
- PEROVA S. N. 1998. Struktura makrozoobentosa Gorkovskogo vodokhranilishcha. Biol. Vnutr. Vod 1998(3): 29–33.
- PEROVA S. N., SHCHERBINA G. H. 1998. Sravnitelnyi analiz struktury makrozoobentosa Rybinskogo vodokhranilishcha v 1980 i 1990 gg. Biol. Vnutr. Vod 1998(2): 52–60.
- PEROVA S. N., SHCHERBINA G. H. 2001. Struktura makrozoobentosa razlichnykh uchastkov Gorkovskogo vodokhranilishcha. Biol. Vnutr. Vod 2001(2): 93–100.
- PETR T. 1972. Benthic fauna of a tropical man-made lake Volta Lake, Ghana 1965–1968. Arch. Hydrobiol. 70: 484–533.
- PHILLIPS D. J. H. 1977. The use of biological indicator organisms to monitor trace metal pollution in marine and estuarine environments – a review. Environ. Pollut. 13: 281–317.
- PHILLIPS D. J. H. 1979. Trace metals in the common mussel *Mytilus edulis* (L.) and in the alga *Fucus vesiculosus* (L.) from the region of the Sound (Oresund). Environ. Pollut. 18: 31–43.
- PIECHOCKI A. 1979. Mięczaki (Mollusca). Ślimaki (Gastropoda). Fauna słodkowodna Polski, 7. PWN, Warszawa– Poznań.

- PIECHOCKI A., DYDUCH-FALNIOWSKA A. 1993. Mięczaki (Mollusca). Małże (Bivalvia). Fauna słodkowodna Polski, 7A. PWN, Warszawa.
- PIECZYŃSKA E. (ed). 1976. Selected problems of lake littoral ecology. Warsaw University Press, Warsaw.
- PIECZYŃSKA E., KOŁODZIEJCZYK A., RYBAK J. I. 1999. The responses of littoral invertebrates to eutrophication-linked changes in plant communities. Hydrobiologia 391: 9–21.
- PIESIK Z. 1974. The role of the crayfish *Orconectes limosus* (Raf.) in extinction of *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pall.) subsisting on steelon-net. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 21: 401–410.
- PIP E. 1987. Species richness of freshwater gastropod communities in central North America. J. Moll. Stud. 53: 163–170.
- PLISZKA F. 1956. Znaczenie organizmów wodnych jako pokarmu ryb w świetle badań polskich. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 3: 429–458.
- PODDUBNAYA T. L. 1966. O donnoy faunie Cherepoveckogo vodokhranilishcha v pervye dva goda ego sushchestvovaniya. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 12(15): 21–33.
- PODDUBNAYA T. L. 1988. Mnogoletniaya dinamika struktury i produktivnost donnykh soobshchestv Rybinskogo vodokhranilishcha. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 55(58): 112–141.
- PRAHALAD A. K., SEENAYYA G. 1986. In situ compartmentation and biomagnification of copper and cadmium in industrially polluted Husainsager Lake, Hyderabad, India. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 15: 417–425.
- PREJS A. 1973. Experimentally increased fish stock in the pond type Lake Warniak. Feeding of introduced and autochtonous non-predatory fish. Ekol. Pol. 21:465–505.
- PREJS A. 1976. Fishes and their feeding habits. In: Selected problems of lake littoral ecology (PIECZYŃSKA E., ed.). University of Warsaw Press, Warsaw.
- PREJS A., LEWANDOWSKI K., STAŃCZYKOWSKA-PIOTROWSKA A. 1990. Size-selective predation by roach (*Rutilus rutilus*) on zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*): field studies. Oecologia 83: 378–384.
- RAMM K. 1997. Phosphorus balance of a polytrophic shallow lake with the consideration of phosphorus release. Hydrobiologia 342–343: 43–53.
- REED-JUDKINS D. K., FARRIS J. L., CHERRY D. S., CAIRNS J. Jr. 1998. Foodborne uptake and sublethal effects of copper and zinc to freshwater snails. Hydrobiologia 364: 105–118.
- REEDERS H. H., BIJ DE VAATE A. 1990. Zebra mussels (*Dreisse-na polymorpha*): a new perspective for water quality management. Hydrobiologia 200/201: 437–450.
- REEDERS H. H., BIJ DE VAATE 1992. Bioprocessing of polluted suspended matter from the water column by the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha* Pallas). Hydrobiologia 239: 53–63.
- REEDERS H. H., BIJ DE VAATE A., NOORDHUIS R. 1993. Potential of the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) for water quality management. In: Zebra mussel: biology, impacts, and control (NALEPA T. F., SCHLOESSER D. W., eds), pp. 439–451, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Ann Arbor, London, Tokyo.

- REEDERS H. H., BIJ DE VAATE A., SLIM F. J. 1989. The filtration rate of *Dreissena polymorpha* (Bivalvia) in three Dutch lakes with reference to biological water quality management. Freshwater Biol. 22: 133–141.
- REINFELDER J. R., FISHER N. S. 1994. Retention of elements absorbed by juvenile fish (*Menidia menidia*, *Menidia beryllina*) from zooplankton prey. Limnol. Oceanogr. 39: 1783–1789.
- REPORT 2000a. Raport o stanie środowiska województwa mazowieckiego w 1999 r. Państwowa Inspekcja Ochrony Środowiska, Wojewódzki Inspektorat Ochrony Środowiska w Warszawie, Biblioteka Monitoringu Środowiska, Warszawa.
- REPORT 2000b. Raport o stanie środowiska województwa podlaskiego w 1999 r. Państwowa Inspekcja Ochrony Środowiska, Wojewódzki Inspektorat Ochrony Środowiska w Białymstoku, Biblioteka Monitoringu Środowiska, Białystok.
- REPORT 2000c. Raport o stanie środowiska województwa kujawsko-pomorskiego w 1999 r. Państwowa Inspekcja Ochrony Środowiska, Wojewódzki Inspektorat Ochrony Środowiska w Toruniu, Biblioteka Monitoringu Środowiska, Toruń.
- RICCIARDI A., NEVES R. J., RASMUSSEN J. B. 1998. Impending extinctions of North American freshwater mussels (Unionoida) following the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) invasion. J. Animal Ecol. 67: 613–619.
- RICCIARDI A., WHORISKEY F. G., RASMUSSEN J. B. 1995. Predicting the intensity and impact of *Dreissena* infestation on native unionid bivalves from *Dreissena* field density. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52: 1449–1461.
- RICCIARDI A., WHORISKEY F. G., RASMUSSEN J. B. 1996. Impact of the *Dreissena* invasion on native unionid bivalves in the upper St. Lawrence River. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53: 1434–1444.
- RICCIARDI A., WHORISKEY F. G., RASMUSSEN J. B. 1997. The role of the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in structuring macroinvertebrate communities on hard substrata. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 54: 2596–2608.
- RODITI H. A., CARACO N. F., COLE J. J., STRAYER D. L. 1996. Filtration of Hudson River water by the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*). Estuaries 19: 824–832.
- RODITI H. A., FISHER N. S. 1999. Rates and routes of trace element uptake in zebra mussels. Limnol. Oceanogr. 44: 1730–1749.
- RODITI H. A., STRAYER D. L., FINDLAY S. E. G. 1997. Characteristics of zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) biodeposits in a tidal freshwater estuary. Arch. Hydrobiol. 140: 207–219.
- ROSENBERG D. M., RESH V. H. 1993. Freshwater biomonitoring and benthic macroinvertebrates. Chapman & Hall, N. Y., London.
- RYBAK J. I. 2002. The release of phosphorus and nitrogen by living and decomposing snails. Pol. J. Ecol. 50: 17–24.
- SCHAFER H. 1953. Beiträge zür Ernährungsbiologie einheimischer Süßwasser-Prosobranchier. Z. Morphol. Ökol. Der Tiere 41: 247–264.
- SCHLOESSER D. W. 1998. Impact of zebra and quagga mussels (*Dreissena* spp.) on freshwater unionids (Bivalvia:

Unionidae) in the Detroit River of the Great Lakes. Am. Midl. Nat. 140: 299–313.

- SELIG U., SCHLUNGBAUM G. 2002. Longitudinal patterns of phosphorus and phosphorus binding in sediment of a lowland lake-river system. Hydrobiologia 472: 67–76.
- SHCHERBINA G. H. 1998. Sravnitelnyi analiz struktury donnykh makrobespozvonochnykh otkrytogo myelkovodya Rybinskogo vodokhranilishcha. Biol. Vnutr. Vod 1998(3): 19–28.
- SHCHERBINA G. H. 2000. Makrozoobentos. In: Sovremennaya ekologicheskaya situaciya v Rybinskom i Gorkovskom vodokhranilishchakh: sostoyaniye biologicheskikh soobshchestv i perspektivy ryborazvedeniya. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod, Rossiyskaya Akademiya Nauk, Yaroslavl, 216–231.
- SHCHERBINA G. H. 2001. Vlianiye mollyuska Dreissena polymorpha (Pall.) na strukturu makrozoobentosa eksperimentalnykh mezokosmov. Biol. Vnutr. Vod 2001(1): 63–70.
- SERROUYA R., RICCIARDI A., WHORISKEY F. G. 1995. Predation on zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) by captive-reared map turtles (*Graptemys geographica*). Can. J. Zool. 73: 2238–2243.
- SIEFERT J. 1996. Respirations- und Filtrationsraten zweier in der Spree dominieren den Großmuschelarten (*Anodonta anatina, Unio tumidus*, Unionidae) unter Berücksichtigung der Fließgeschwindigkeit. Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Department of Lowland Rivers and Shallow Lakes. Diploma thesis at the Freie Universität zu Berlin.
- SIMKISS K., TAYLOR M., MASON A. Z. 1982. Metal detoxification and accumulation in molluscs. Mar. Biol. Lett. 3: 187–201.
- SIMKISS K., MASON A. Z. 1983. Metal ions: Metabolic and toxic effects. In: The Mollusca. 2. Environmental biochemistry and physiology (HOCHACHKA P. W., ed.), pp. 101–164, Academic Press, New York.
- SIMM A. 1990. Przestrzenne zróżnicowanie fitoplanktonu w zbiorniku Zegrzyńskim na tle wybranych parametrów fizyczno-chemicznych. In: Funkcjonowanie ekosystemów wodnych, ich ochrona i rekultywacja. I. Ekologia zbiorników zaporowych i rzek (KAJAK Z., ed.), pp. 21–29, SGGW-AR, Warszawa.
- SKOMPSKI S. 1983. Mięczaki z interglacjału eemskiego w Żmigrodzie nad Baryczą. Kwart. Geol. 27: 151–188.
- SKOMPSKI S., SŁOWAŃSKI W. 1961. Nowy przyczynek do znajomości osadów interglacjalnych Żoliborza. Kwart. Geol. 5: 459–465.
- SMERNOY V. P., MITROPOLSKIY 1978. Zoobentos pribrezhnykh melkovodiy Rybinskogo vodokhranilishcha. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 39(42): 74–103.
- SMIT H., BIJ DE VAATE A., REEDERS H. H., VAN NES E. H., NO-ORDHUIS R. 1993. Colonization, ecology, and positive aspects of zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in the Netherlands. In: Zebra mussels: biology, impacts, and control (NALEPA T. F., SCHLOESSER D. W., eds), pp. 55–77, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Ann Arbor, London, Tokyo.
- SMITH S., CHEN M. H., BAILEY R. G., WILLIAMS W. P. 1996. Concentration and distribution of copper and cadmium

in water, sediments, detritus, plants and animals in a hardwater lowland river. Hydrobiologia 341: 71–80.

- SOKOLOVA N. J. 1959. Novye materialy po bentosu Uchinskogo vodokhranilishcha (po issledovaniyam 1950–1951 gg). Tr. vsesoyuz. Gidrobiol. Obshch. 9: 53–73.
- SOKOLOVA N. J. 1971. Donnaya fauna i osobennosti ey formirovaniya v malykh vodokhranilishchakh basseyna verkhney Volgi. Byul. Mosk. Obshch. Ispyt. Prir. 76: 46–58.
- SOKOLOVA N. J. 1988. Mnogoletniaya dinamika struktury i produktivnost donnykh soobshchestv Rybinskogo vodokhranilishcha. Tr. Inst. Biol. Vnutr. Vod AN SSSR 55: 112–141.
- SOKOLOVA N. J., IZVEKOVA E. I., LVOVA A. A., SAKHAROVA M. I. 1980. Sostav, raspredeleniye i sezonnaya dinamika chislennosti i biomassy bentosa. Tr. vsesoyuz. Gidrobiol. Obshch. 23: 24–39.
- SOLOMATINA V. D. 1981. Zavisimost raspredeleniya fosfornykh soedineniy v tkanyakh dvustvorchatykh mollyuskov *Anodonta cygnea* L. ot urovnya fosfora v srede obitanya. Gidrobiol. Zh. 17: 64–69.
- SONDERGAARD M., JENSEN J. P., JEPPESEN E. 1999. Internal phosphorus loading in shallow Danish lakes. Hydrobiologia 408/409: 145–152.
- SOROKIN Y. I. 1972. Biological productivity of of the Rybinsk reservoir In: Productivity problems of freshwaters. Proceedings of the IBP-UNESCO Symposium, Kazimierz Dolny, Poland (HILLBRICHT-ILKOWSKA A., KAJAK Z., eds), pp. 493–503, PWN, Warszawa–Kraków.
- SPRUNG M. 1995. Physiological energetics of zebra mussel Dreissena polymorpha in lakes II. Food uptake and gross growth efficiency. Hydrobiologia 304: 133–146.
- SPRUNG M., ROSE U. 1988. Influence of food size and food quantity on the feeding of the mussel *Dreissena polymorpha*. Oecologia 77: 526–532.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1963. The appearance of *Viviparus fasciatus* Müll. aggregations as the cause of migration of other mollusk species. Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci. Ser. Sci. biol. Cl. II. 11: 120–132.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1968. Możliwości filtracyjne populacji Dreissena polymorpha Pall. w różnych jeziorach jako czynnik wpływający na obieg materii w jeziorze. Ekol. Pol. B 14: 372–379.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1977. Ecology of *Dreissena po*lymorpha (Pall.) in lakes. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 24: 461–530.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1978. Occurrence and dynamics of *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pall.) (Bivalvia). Verh. Int. Verein. Limnol. 20: 2431–2434.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1983. Molluscs and an eutrophication of waters. Wiad. Ekol. 29: 127–129.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1984. Role of bivalves in the phosphorus and nitrogen budget in lakes. Verh. Int. Ver. Limnol. 22: 982–985.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1987. The place of mussel *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pall.) in the food web of lake ecosystems. Haliotis 16: 129–135.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1997. Review of studies on *Dreissena poly*morpha (Pall.). Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 44: 401–415.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A., JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E. 1983. Bentos strefy przybrzeżnej zbiorników zaporowych. In: Eko-

logiczne podstawy zagospodarowania Wisły i jej dorzecza (KAJAK Z., ed.), pp. 489–509, PWN, Warszawa–Łódź.

- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A., JURKIEWICZ-KARNKOWSKA E., LEWAN-DOWSKI K. 1983. Ecological characteristics of lakes in North-Eastern Poland versus their trophic gradient. X. Occurrence of molluscs in 42 lakes. Ekol. Pol. 31: 459–475.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A., LEWANDOWSKI K. 1993. Effect of filtering activity of *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pall.) on the nutrient budget in the littoral of the Lake Mikołajskie. Hydrobiologia 251: 73–79.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A., LEWANDOWSKI K. 1997. The role of mussels (Bivalvia) in freshwater ecosystems. Zesz. Nauk. Komitetu "Człowiek i Środowisko" 18: 81–99.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A., ŁAWACZ W., MATTICE J. 1975. Use of field measurements of consumption and assimilation in evaluation of the role of *Dreissena polymorpha* Pall. in a lake ecosystem. Pol. Arch. Hydrobiol. 22: 509–520.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A., ŁAWACZ W., MATTICE J., LEWANDOWSKI K. 1976. Bivalves as a factor effecting circulation of matter in Lake Mikołajskie (Poland). Limnologica (Berlin) 10: 347–352.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A., PLANTER M. 1985. Factors affecting nutrient budget in lakes of the R. Jorka watershed (Masurian Lakeland, Poland). X. Role of the mussel *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pall.) in N and P cycles in a lake ecosystem. Ekol. Pol. 33: 345–356.
- STAŃCZYKOWSKA A., ŻYSKA P., DOMBROWSKI A., KOT H., ŻY-SKA E. 1990. The distribution of waterfowl in relation to mollusc populations in thr man-made Lake Zegrzyńskie. Hydrobiologia 191: 233–240.
- STEIN R. A., KITCHELL RNEZEVIĆ B. 1975. Selective predation by carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) on benthic mollusks in Skadar Lake, Yugoslavia. J. Fish. Biol. 7: 391–399.
- STEMPNIEWICZ L. 1974. The effect of feeding of the coot (*Fulica atra* L.) on the character of the shoals of *Dreissena polymorpha* Pall. In the Lake Gopło. Acta Univ. N. Copernici, Ser. Mat.-przyr. 34: 84–103.
- STEWART T. W., HAYNES J. M. 1994. Benthic macroinvertebrate communities of southwestern Lake Ontario following invasion of *Dreissena*. J. Great Lakes Res. 20: 479–493.
- STEWART T. W., MINER J. G., LOWE R. L. 1998. Macroinvertebrate communities on hard substrates in western Lake Erie: structuring effects of *Dreissena*. J. Great Lakes Res. 24: 868–879.
- STEWART T. W., MINER J. G., LOWE R. L. 1999. A field experiment to determine *Dreissena* and predator effects on zoobenthos in a nearshore, rocky habitat of western Lake Erie. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 18: 488–498.
- STOCZKOWSKI R., STAŃCZYKOWSKA A. 1995. The diet of the Coot *Fulica atra* in the Zegrzyński Reservoir (Central Poland). Acta Ornithol. 29: 171–176.
- STRAYER D. L., SMITH L. C. 2001. The zoobenthos of the freshwater tidal Hudson River and its response to the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) invasion. Arch. Hydrobiol. Suppl. 139/1, Monogr. Stud.: 1–52.
- STRZELEC M. 1992. Fauna ślimaków słodkowodnych projektowanego rezerwatu ornitologicznego "Żabie Doły" w Bytomiu. Kształt. Środ. Geogr. 4: 44–49.

- STRZELEC M. 2000. The changes in the freshwater snail fauna of dam reservoir Gzel (Upper Silesia) and their causes. Acta Univ. Lodz., Folia limnol. 7: 173–180.
- SUNILA I. 1981. Toxicity of copper and cadmium to *Mytilus edulis* L. (Bivalvia) in brackish water. Ann. Zool. Fenn. 18: 213–223.
- SUTER W. 1982. Der Einfluss von Wasservogeln auf Populationen der Wandermuschel (*Dreissena polymorpha* Pall.) am Untersee/Hochrhein (Bodensee). Schweizerische Zeitschrift für Hydrologie 44: 149–161.
- SZEFER P., IKUTA K., KUSHIYAMA S., SZEFER K., FRELEK K., GELDON J. 1997. Distribution and association of trace metals in soft tissues and byssus of *Mytilus edulis* from the east coast of Kyushu Island, Japan. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 32: 184–190.
- SZEFER P., ALI A. A., BA-HAROON A. A., RAJEH A. A., GEŁDON J., NABRZYSKI M. 1999. Distribution and relationships of selected trace metals in molluscs and associated sediments from the Gulf of Aden, Yemen. Environ. Pollut. 106: 299–314.
- SZLAKOWSKI J., WIŚNIEWOLSKI W. 2001. Biomasa ryb Zbiornika Zegrzyńskiego w aspekcie ich eksploatacji na przykładzie krąpia, *Blicca bjoerkna* (Linnaeus, 1758). Suppl. Acta Hydrobiol. 1: 67–76.
- TADAJEWSKA M. 1993. Food of bream, *Abramis brama* (L.), and white bream, *Blicca bjoerkna* (L.), in Zegrzyński dam reservoir. Acta Ichthyol. Piscatoria 23: 77–101.
- TANG H., XIE P. 2000. Budgets and dynamics of nitrogen and phosphorus in a shallow, hypereutrophic lake in China. J. Freshwater Ecol. 15: 505–514.
- TARCZYŃSKA M., OSIECKA R., KĄTEK R., BŁASZCZYK A., ZA-LEWSKI M. 1997. Przyczyny i konsekwencje powstawania toksycznych zakwitów sinicowych w zbiornikach. Zesz. Nauk. Kom. PAN "Człowiek i Środowisko" 18: 51–72.
- TARIFENO-SILVA E., KAWASAKI L. Y., YUT D. P., GORDON M. S., CHAPMAN D. J. 1982. Aquacultural approaches to recycling of dissolved nutrients in secondarily treated domestic wastewaters – III. Uptake of dissolved heavy metals by artificial food chains. Wat. Res. 16: 59–65.
- TASHIRO J. S., COLMAN S. D. 1982. Filter feeding in the freshwater prosobranch snail *Bithynia tentaculata*: bioenergetic partitioning of ingested carbon and nitrogen. Am. Midl. Nat. 197: 114–132.
- TEN WINKEL E. H., DAVIDS C. 1982. Food selection by *Dreisse-na polymorpha* Pallas (Mollusca: Bivalvia). Freshwater Biol. 12: 553–558.
- TERLECKI J., TADAJEWSKA M., SZCZYGLIŃSKA A. 1990. Odżywianie się ryb gatunków cennych gospodarczo w Zbiorniku Zegrzyńskim oraz ich wewnątrz- i międzygatunkowe zależności. In: Funkcjonowanie ekosystemów wodnych, ich ochrona i rekultywacja (KAJAK Z., ed.), pp. 126–162, SGGW AR, Warszawa.
- TESSIER A., CAMPBELL P. G. C., AUCLAIR J. C., BISSON M. 1984. Relationships between the partitioning of trace metals in sediments and their accumulation in the tissue of the freshwater mollusc *Elliptio complanata* in a mining area. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 41: 1463–1477.
- TIMM T., KANGUR K., TIMM H., TIMM V. 1996. Macrozoobenthos of Lake Peipsi-Pihkva: taxonomical composition,

abundance, biomass, and their relations to some ecological parameters. Hydrobiologia 338: 139–154.

- TOCZYLOWSKI S. A., HUNTER R. D., ARMES L. M. 1999. The role of substratum stability in determining zebra mussel load on unionids. Malacologia 41: 151–162.
- TSEEB YA. YA., DENISOVA A. I. 1973. Produktivnost soobshchestv vodnykh organizmov Kiyevskogo vodokhranilishcha. In: Produkcyonno-biologicheskie issledovaniya ekosistem presnykh vod (WINBERG G. G., ed.), pp. 60–82, Izd. BGU im. Lenina, Minsk.
- TUCKER J. K. 1994. Windrow formation of two snails (families Viviparidae and Pleuroceridae) colonized by the exotic zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha*. J. Freshwater Ecol. 9: 85–86.
- TUCKER J. K., CRONIN F. A., SOERGEL D. W., THEILING Ch. H. 1996. Predation on zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) by common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). J. Freshwater Ecol. 11: 363–372.
- TUDORANCEA C., GREEN R. H., HUEBNER J. 1979. Structure, dynamics and production of the benthic fauna in Lake Manitoba. Hydrobiologia 64: 59–95.
- TURNER R. R., LAWS E. A., HARRISS R. C. 1983. Nutrient retention and transformation in relation to hydraulic flushing rate in a small impoundment. Freshwater Biol. 13: 113–127.
- TUSZKO A. 1967. Gospodarka wodna. Arkady, Warszawa.
- VAN DEN BERG G. A., LOCH J. P. G., VAN DER HEUDT L. M., ZWOLSMAN J. J. G. 1999. Mobilisation of heavy metals in contaminated sediments in the river Meuse, the Netherlands. Water Air Soil Pollut. 116: 567–586.
- VAN HATTUM B., TIMMERMANS K. R., GOVERS H. A. 1991. Abiotic and biotic factors influencing in situ trace metal levels in macroinvertebrates in freshwater ecosystems. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 10: 275–292.
- VAUGHN C. C., HAKENKAMP C. C. 2001. The functional role of burrowing bivalves in freshwater ecosystems. Freshwater Biol. 46: 1431–1446.
- VIARENGO A., NOTT J. A. 1993. Mechanisms of heavy metal cation homeostasis in marine invertebrates. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 103C: 355–372.
- VOROPAYEV V., VENDROV S. L. (eds). 1979. Vodokhranilishcha mira. Izd. Nauka, Moskva.
- VOSHELL J. R., SIMMONS G. M. 1984. Colonisation and succession of benthic macroinvertebrates in a new reservoir. Hydrobiologia 112: 27–39.
- WAJDOWICZ Z. 1964. The development of ichthyofauna in dam reservoirs with small variations in water level. Acta Hydrobiol. 6: 61–79.
- WALLACE W. G., LOPEZ G. R. 1996. Bioavailability of biologically sequestered cadmium and the implications of metal detoxification. Mar. Ecol. Progr. Ser. 147: 149–157.
- WALZ N. 1978. The energy balance of the freshwater mussel Dreissena polymorpha Pallas in laboratory experiments and in Lake Constance. I. Pattern of activity, feeding and assimilation efficiency. Arch. Hydrobiol. Suppl. 55: 83–105.
- WELKER M., WALZ N. 1998. Can mussels control the plankton in rivers? – a planktological approach applying a Lagrangian sampling strategy. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43: 753–762.

- WHITTAKER R. H., FAIRBANKS C. W. 1958. A study of plankton copepod communities in the Columbia Basin, Southeastern Washington. Ecology 39: 46–65.
- WIECHUŁA D., KWAPULIŃSKI J., MAJEWICZ D., LOSKA K. 1997. Occurrence of copper in the Goczałkowice Reservoir (southern Poland). Acta Hydrobiol. 39: 121–131.
- WIECKOWSKI K. 1979. The silting processes of the artificial water reservoirs in the Polish Lowland. Geogr. Polonica 41: 63–71.
- WILLIAMSON P. 1979. Opposite effects of age and weight on cadmium concentrations of a gastropod mollusc. Ambio 8: 30–31.
- WILLOWS R. I., WIDDOWS J., WOOD R. G. 1998. Influence of an infaunal bivalve on the erosion of an intertidal cohesive sediment: A flume and modelling study. Limnol. Oceanogr. 43: 1332–1343.
- WISENDEN P. A., BAILEY R. C. 1995. Development of macroinvertebrate community structure associated with zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) colonization of artificial substrates. Can. J. Zool. 73: 1438–1443.
- WIŚNIEWSKI R. 1990. Schoals of *Dreissena polymorpha* as bio-processor of seston. Hydrobiologia 200/201: 451-458.
- WOJTKOWSKA M. 1997. Migracja i akumulacja metali ciężkich w wodach Jeziora Zegrzyńskiego. Ph. D. Thesis, Warsaw Technical University, Warszawa.
- WOJTKOWSKA M. 2000. Obniżenie zawartości metali ciężkich w procesie sedymentacji dla wód Zbiornika Zegrzyńskiego w aspekcie jakości wód ujmowanych przez Wodociąg Północny. Chemia Inż. Ekol. 7: 283–292.
- WOLNOMIEJSKI N., GIZIŃSKI A. 1976. Bottom fauna of the Koronowo Dam Reservoir in its fifth and sixth year of existence. Acta Universitatis Nicolai Copernici, Limnol. Papers 9: 125–137.
- WOŁK K. 1979. Małże (Bivalvia) pożywieniem piźmaka (Ondatra zibetica L.) w Puszczy Augustowskiej na Jeziorze Wigry. Przegl. Zool. 23: 248–250.
- YOUNG M. L. 1977. The roles of food and direct uptake from water in the accumulation of zinc and iron in the tissues of the dogwhelk, *Nucella lapillus* (L.). J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 30: 315–325.

- YOUNG B. L., PADILLA D. K., SCHNEIDER D. W., HEWETT S. W. 1996. The importance of size-frequency relationships for predicting ecological impact of zebra mussel populations. Hydrobiologia 332: 151–158.
- YU N., CULVER D. A. 1999. Estimating the effective clearance rate and refiltration by zebra mussels, *Dreissena polymorpha*, in a stratified reservoir. Freshwater Biol. 41: 481–492.
- ZAĆWILICHOWSKA K. 1965a. Bentos obrzeża zbiornika Goczałkowice w latach 1958–1959. Acta Hydrobiol. 7: 83–97.
- ZAĆWILICHOWSKA K. 1965b. Bentos obrzeża zbiornika Goczałkowickiego w 1960 r. Acta Hydrobiol. 7: 155–165.
- ZAKONNOV V. V., PODDUBNYI S. A. 2002. Izmeneniye struktury donnykh otlozheniy v Rybinskom vodokhranilishche. Vodnye Resursy 29: 200–209.
- ZIMBALEVSKAYA L. N., DEKHTYAR M. N., LEGEYDA I. S., Pligin J. V., SIDORENKO V. M., KHOROSIKH L. A. 1984. Melkovodya dneprovskikh vodokhranilishch i problemy ispolzovaniya ikh resursov. Vodnye Resursy AN SSSR 2: 14–22.
- ŻBIKOWSKI J. 1995. Struktura populacji pelofilnego makrobentosu Zbiornika Włocławskiego. Ph. D. Thesis, UMK, Toruń.
- ŻBIKOWSKI J. 2000. Hydrobiology of Lower Vistula River between Wyszogród and Toruń. An assessment of the influence of the Włocławek dam on the structure and functions of the river ecosystem. Part VIII: Macrozoobenthos of the Vistula in the section from Wyszogród to Toruń. Acta Universitatis Nicolai Copernici, Limnol. Papers 21: 75–84.
- ŻYTKOWICZ R., BŁĘDZKI L. A., GIZIŃSKI A., KENTZER A., WIŚ-NIEWSKI R., ŻBIKOWSKI J. 1990. Zbiornik Włocławski. Ekologiczna charakterystyka pierwszego zbiornika zaporowego planowanej kaskady dolnej Wisły. In: Funkcjonowanie ekosystemów wodnych, ich ochrona i rekultywacja. I. Ekologia zbiorników zaporowych i rzek (KAJAK Z., ed.), pp. 201–225, SGGW-AR, Warszawa.

Received: December 15th, 2003 Accepted: June 3rd, 2004